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RBC EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT

2023 Business review

During the yearended 31 October2023, RBC Europe Limited’s (the “Company’s”)total operating income increased by 7% or
£32million from the prior year operating income to £498 million, mainly driven by an increase in revenues from Global Markets
activity, offset by increased funding costs.

During the year, theallowance for credit losses onthebalance sheetincreased from£4.3 million to £8.5 million with £4.4 million
debit in the income statement compared to £3.9 million credit in the prior year.

The Balance Sheetofthe Company is shown onpages 34 and 35 of the financial statements. Total assets remain in line with the
prior year, increasing by 1% to £54 billion.

Key performance indicators

The net profit forthe yearended 31 October 2023 was £86 million (2022: £81 million), and net profit before taxwas £97 million
(2022: £90 million). During the year the Company has made total dividend payments of £30 million (2022: £18 million). The
Company’s return on assets ratio forthe year increaseds lightly 0.16% (2022: 0.15%). The Company has a robust framework in
place to monitor its financial resources, including regulatory capital and liquidity. For further details, please refer to the

Company’s Pillar 3 disclosure https://www.rbc.com/regulatory-information/basel-disclosures .html#basel-iii-content
Principal activities
The Company provides a wide range of financialservices including corporate and investment banking, sales and trading, research

and related products and services to corporations, public sector and institutional clients. The Company also provides wealth
management services to high net worth individuals.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Company’s business activities expose it toa variety of financial and non-financial risks. Theprincipal risks and uncertainties
of conducting these businesses include financial risks such as credit, market, and liquidity risk, as well as non-financial rsks
including operational, reputational, regulatory, business and strategic risks.

The Company’s principal financialrisks, risk managementobjectives and policies are discussed in Notes 4to 9 to the financil
statements:

¢ Market Risk- The Company defines Market Riskto be the impact of market prices upon the financial condition of the
firm (Note 5). This includes price, interest rate (Note 6) and foreign exchange (Note 7) risks.

e Liquidity Risk - The Company defines Liquidity Risk as the risk that an institution is unable to generate or obtan
sufficient cash or its equivalents on a cost-effective basis to meet commitments as they fall due (Note 8).

¢ Credit Risk - The Company defines Credit Risk as the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s potential inability
or unwillingness to fulfil its on or off balance sheet payment obligations (Note 9).

How these key risks are managed and mitigated is predominantly discussed in Notes 4 to 9 of the financial statements, along
with details on underlying exposures.

The Company’s other principal non-financialrisks are defined as follows:

¢ Regulatory Risk - the risks associated with financial crimes, privacy, market conduct, consumer protectxon, business
conduct, as well as prudential and other generally applicable non-financial requirements. Specific compliance policies,
procedures and supporting frameworks have been developed to manage regulatory compliance risk.

e Reputational Risk -the risk of anadverse impact on stakeholders’ perception of the bank due to i) the actions or inactions
of the bank, its employees, third-party service providers, or clients, ii) the perceived misalignment of these actions or
inactions with stakeholder expectations ofthe bank, or iii) negative public sentimenttowards a global or industry issue.

o Business and Strategic Risks - the risk that the enterprise or particular business areas will make inappropriate strategic
choices, or will be unable to successfully implement selected strategies or achieve the expected benefits. Busness
strategy is a major driver of ourrisk appetite and consequently the strategic choices we make in terms ofbusiness mix
determine how our risk profile changes.



RBC EUROPE LIMITED -
STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Company’s operations additionally exposeit to otherrisks which may adversely affect the businesses and financial results.
The following list is not exhaustive, as other factors could also adversely affect results:

e Legal & regulatory — The risk of an agreement or arrangement, either establishing or modifying a legally binding
relationship, does not reflect the business activities or commitments or fails to comply with applicable laws. The risk
of failing to comply with laws, rules, regulations, or prescribed practices in any jurisdiction in which the Company
operates. See disclosure in Note 32b relating to a significant legal/ regulatory proceeding the Company is engaged in.

¢ MoneyLaunderingand Terrorist Financing - The risk that products and services are used to facilitate the laundering of
proceeds of crime, including the financing of terrorist activity.

e Operational Resiliency - The risk to the Company of notbeing able to continue to provide business services in the face
ofadverse operational events. The Company focuses on anticipating, preventing, recovering fromand adapting to such
events with a focus on criticality of services, customer and market impacts and end-to-end services.

e Third Party - The risk of failure to effectively manage third parties which may expose the Company to service
disruptions, regulatory action, financial loss, litigation or reputational damage.

¢ Information Technology & Cyber— The risk of intentional unauthorised activities, including cyber attacks, designed to
obtain benefits either from the Company or assets under the Company’s care, or using the Company’s products.
Benefits can be in the form of cash, cash equivalent, or physical assets (including indirect benefit of continued
employment or increased bonus).

e Fraud - The risk of intentional unauthorised activities designed to obtain benefits either from the Company or assets
under the Company’s care, or using the Company’s products.

¢ Datamanagementand Privacy - Data managementis therisk of failing to manage information appropriately throughout
its lifecycle due to inadequate processes and controls, resulting in legal or regulatory consequences, reputational damage
or financial loss. Privacy is the risk of i nnproper creation or collection, use, disclosure, retention or destruction of
personal information.

e Conduct - The risk associated with behaviour that could harm employees, clients/customers or the integrity of the
markets.

¢ Climate Change - Extreme weather events and the global transition to a low carbon economy could result in a broad
range of impacts, including potential strategic, reputational, structural and credit related nsks forthe Company and its
clients. Further details are given on page 6.

Macroeconomic and Geopolitical Volatility

Heightened macroeconomic and geopolitical volatility brought a series of challenges to the markets during the financial year.
Throughout 2023 in particular, high levels of inflation, rising interest rates, and disruption to the US regional banking sector
drove market stress. Geopolitical uncertainty continued in light ofthe persisting Russia-Ukraine conflict, the Isracl-Hamas war,
and other global tensions.

The Company has seen increases to some of its key risks, including credit risk and market risk, due to the heightened
macroeconomic volatility. The Company’s risk profile as a whole was not materially impacted throughout these developments
as it benefitted frombothhaving a diverse business mix as well as maintaining a strongrisk appetite, which is closely monitored
by management through frequentreporting to senior stakeholders and committees. The Company continues to monitorboth the .
situation in the UK as well as the wider global environment closely through its risk management framework. No direct impacts
were seen for the Company due to the macroeconomic and geopolitical uncertainty.

Throughits Recovery Plan, the Company monitors stress in part through early warning indicators (EW Is). During the sustained
periods of market volatility, the main EWIs that the Company saw trigger were those monitoring macroeconomic and market-
based activity. These EW Is are outward-looking rather than inward-looking andreflect that the stress seen was external rather
than specific to the Company. The Company remains well capitalised in excess of all requirements, providing a comfortabk
buffer against volatile market conditions should a need arise.

IBOR and CDOR Transition

In 2017, the Financial Conduct A uthority (FCA), as the UK body that regulates the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR),
declared that after 31 December 2021 it will no longer compel banks to continue making LIBOR submissions and 26 LIBOR
settings ceased publication on 1st Jan 2022.
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Non-USD LIBOR

On 16 November2021, following the consultation on use of Synthetic LIBOR, the FCA confirmed it will allow the temporary
use of ‘synthetic’ Sterling and Yen LIBOR rates for 1, 3 and 6 month settings in all legacy LIBOR contracts, other than cleared

derivatives.

The Company has successfully completedtheregulatory requirement of ceasing LIBOR by December 31,2021 and is no longer
offering non-USD LIBOR based products. Furthermore, allnon-USD transactions, including those leveraging ‘synthetic’ LIBOR
have been transitioned to their Risk Free Rates counterparts. _

USD LIBOR

In March 2021, the FCA announced that USD LIBOR (apart from 1-week and 2-month tenors) would be extended out to June
2023.

The Company has successfully met the regulatory requirement of ceasing USD-LIBOR by June 30, 2023 and is no longer
offering USD LIBOR based products.
AIlIUSD transactions have been transitioned to their RFR counterparts:
- Al USD LIBOR exposure for RBCCM Issued Notes and all products under Wealth Management International have
been transitioned off LIBOR.
- Across UK entities, as of November 2023, all remaining clients leveraging synthetic USD LIBOR have transitioned to
RFR’s. '

CDOR

On May 16, 2022, Refinitiv Benchmark Services (UK) Limited (RBSL), the administrator ofthe Canadian Dollar Offered Rate
(CDOR), announced that the calculationand publication ofalltenors of CDOR will permanently cease immediately following
a final publication on June 28, 2024. )

The focus of the program has shifted to the CDOR transition and, whilst the exposure impact for the Company is low, the
Company is actively involved in transition discussions with impacted clients and continues to remain engaged in industry
discussions on the CDOR LIBOR cessation. The Company is renegotiating and revising legal documentation to support the
transition.

Refer to Note 37 for further details on the Company’s remaining exposures to financial instruments referencing LIBOR and
CDOR.

Credit rating

The Company has a rating of AA-/ A-1+ for long-term and short-term counterparty credit assigned by Standard and Poor’s
Ratings Services (S&P) and is unchanged from the prior year. The ratings on the Company reflect the view that it is a "core"
subsidiary ofits parentand ultimate holding company Royal Bank of Canada (RBC) under S&P’s group rating methodology.

Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement

The Company complies with the Non-Financial and Sustainability Reporting requirements contained in sections 414CA and
414CB ofthe Companies Act2006. The information contained within this section is intended toassist interested parties to gain
a better understanding regarding the Company’s stance in relation to non-financial matters.

Overview of the Company Policies

The Company provides a wide range of financial services including corporate and investment banking, sales and trading, research
and related products and services to corporations, public sector and institutional clients. The Company also provides wealth
management services to highnetworth individuals, which combined with the other services provided by the Company provides
value for its shareholder.
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Risk, conduct, and culture are managed across the Company and its businesses through frameworks and policies. The RBC
Enterprise Culture and Conduct Risks Framework and its UK addendum, along with the RBC Code of Conduct, serve as
foundation to promote a risk-aware culture of ‘doing what’s right’ and guide employee conduct. Other risk frameworks and
policies, such as the Enterprise Risk Management Framework and its addendum for the Company and the Company’s Limited
Risk A ppetite Framework serve to guide and manage s pecific risks across the Company and its businesses. Risk frameworks are
approved annually by the UK Risk Committee and policies are approved at the executive committee level. The Company’s
overall approach to managing risk is detailed in Note 4.

As awholly owned subsidiary of Royal Bank of Canada (“RBC”), the Company adopts RBC’s policies on Environmental, Socil
and Governance (ESG) matters. For more information on RBC’s enterprise-wide ESG policies, programs and annual ESG
performance, please see the RBC ESGReporting website rbc.com/esgreporting.

The RBC Modemn Slavery Act Statement is made on the behalf of a number of subsidiaries of RBC including the Company
pursuant to section 54(1) of the UK. Modem Slavery Act 2015. It can be found on the RBC ESG Reporting website.

The Company adopts the UK Addendumto the RBC Enterprise Policy on Environmental (including Climate) and Social Risk
as a means of effectively monitoring related risks and developing responses and behaviours. In addition, the Company ako
adopts the RBC Procedures on Environmental and Social Risk Management for Capital Markets and Corporate Client Group,
which sets out the minimum environmental and socialriskreview requirements to beused when engaging in corporate lending,
and debtand equity underwriting. This is supplemented by risk management practices described in the climate risk section below.

Environmental Matters

The Company is part of the RBC Group which has a long history of supporting environmental initiatives commencing with the
launch of the first corporate environmental risk management policy in 1991. RBC is committed to transparent disclosure, and
this is shown through our suite of Environmental, Socialand Governance (ESG) related publications which can be found here:

rbe.com/esgreporting
In addition referto the RBC Enterprise 2023 Annual Report, page 107-109, which disclosed additional environmental and s ocial

risk practices for the RBC Group (https://www.rbc.com/investor-relations/_assets-custom/pdf/ar_2023_e.pdf)

Locally, the Company is governed by the UK Addendumto the RBC Enterprise Policy on Environmental (including Climate)
and SocialRisk. The Company considers the potential impact of climate risk, comprising both physicalrisk and transitionrisk,
within its risk universe and its annual Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP). The risk is considered to be
sufficiently monitored, managed, and mitigated through the Company's policies, scenario analysis, and risk appetite amongst
othertools.

Climate change

The Board has taken appropriate steps to address the risks posed by climate change and continues to review the Company’s
integration of climate risk into its risk management framework in accordance with evolving regulatory requirements. The UK
Risk Committee receives a quarterly climate risk dashboard which integrates outputs of climate scenario analysis, top-down
sector-based risk assessments, and progress with financed emissions.

RBC Group, including the Company, is a member ofthe UN-convened Net-Zero Banking A lliance (NZBA ) and committed to
publishing annual climate-related disclosures that consider the recommendations of the Financial Stability Board’s (FSB) Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). RBC Group has providedsuchdisclosures since2017 and they canbe
found on the RBC ESG Reporting site: rbc.com/esgreporting

In the past financial year, the Company remained a member of the Green Bond Principles and has continued to report annually
on its green, socialand sustainable bond underwriting activities. The RBC Green Bond Report can be found on the RBC ESG
Reporting site.
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Environmental risk management

The Environmentaland Social Risk Management (ESRM) processof RBC Group is designed to ensure we apply a suitable level
of due diligence on a transaction. As part ofthe RBC Group, the Company is subject to a suite of ESRM policies designedto
identify, assess and mitigate the environmental and socialrisks associated with financing for our clients. When appropriate, such
risks are escalated to our dedicated ESRM team for additionalrisk review and assessment. The ESRM policies and procedures
are proactively reviewed and updated to seek to address regulatory changes, emerging and evolving is sues, and international best
practices. Please see our Responsible Financing  website  (https://www.rbc.com/community-sociak
impact/environment/environmental-social-risk-management html) for more information on:

e Enterprise-wide ESRM policy
e Financing projects: The Equator Principles
e ESRM approach for Capital Markets

The RBC Climate Blueprint, originally published in 2019 and most recently updated in February 2022, is the RBC Group’s
enterprise climate strategy to accelerate the pace of climate action and support our clients in an orderly and inclusive transition
to a net-zero economy.

RBC’s Climate Blueprint sets out four strategic priorities: help clients as they transition to net-zero (which includes RBC's
commitment to provide C$500 billion in sustainable finance by 2025); hold ourselves accountable (which includes RBC’s
intention to achieve net-zero emissions in our lending by 2050); inform and inspire a sustainable future (which includes
producing research on climate issues and policies, and convening stakeholders, to stimulate and effect meaningful actions and
incentives for progress across all sectors); and advancing net-zero leadership in our own operations (which includes RBC’s goak
ofreducing our greenhouse gas emissions by 70% (the target is inclusive of our global operations, Scope 1,2 and 3 (business
travel) emissions, and uses a baseline of 2018) and of increasing our sourcing of electricity from renewable and non-emitting
sources to 100% by 2025). For further information, including relevant calculation methodologies, please referto RBC’s Climate
Report).

In 2023, the Company has continuedto enhance its approach tomeasuring and reporting climate financialrisks, in line with the
requirements of the' Prudential Regulation Authority’s (PRA) Supervisory Statement 3/19 (SS3/19), “Enhancing banks and
insurers’ approaches to managing the financialrisks from climate change”. The Company continues to align its approach wih
the Financial Stability Board’s Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures’ (TCFD) recommendations and its objective
to improve and increasethereporting of climate-related financial information. See the A ppendixofthe RBC Climate Report for
a summary of the financial impacts of climate change, see the RBC ESG Reporting site.

Governance

. The Company has a robust corporate framework in place to ensure the appropriate oversight and transparency of Climate
Financial Risk. The Board provides oversight of our strategic approach to climate change, which includes how the Company
manages climate-related risks and opportunities. The Chief Risk Officer, holding Senior Management Function (SMF)
designations, is responsible for the oversight of climate risk and is supported by a dedicated Climate Risk Management team
The team develops approaches to identify, assess, monitor and report on climate-related risks, as appropriate. Climate-related
reporting is reviewed in appropriate governance forums including the Boardand Executive Committees. This includes a Climate
Risk quarterly dashboard which reports on the climate risk appetite and the results of financial impacts of climate change from
our scenario analysis. '

Risk Management

Environmental and social risks, including climate risk, are each unique and transverse risks and impact all our principal risk
types in different ways and to varying degrees, including but not limited to strategic, operational, credit, reputation, legal and
regulatory environment, and regulatory compliance The Company continues toadvance its capabilities and approach to climate
riskmanagement, drawing on enterpris e best practice while meeting localregulatory requirements. Key activities to date include:
+ Conducting portfolio, client, and scenario analyses to assess the Company’s exposure to, and the impact of, climate-
related risks.
* Building out climate-related scenario analysis and stress testing capabilities. As part of the Company’s annual stress
testing and analysis, components of climate risk have been incorporated through transition and physical risk stresses
and assessed its impact on key portfolios.
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»  With the potential for climate risk to translate to increased credit risk, the Company has identified sectors within its
wholesale portfolio that are most affected by physical and transition risk, which allows the Company to better focus
ongoing monitoring of climate risk; and

» Analysing the Company’s financed emissions for three key sectors (oil& gas, power generation and automotive) that
are within scope of RBC Group’s interim targets for lending, which will support an understanding of the Company’s
contribution to RBC Group’s total financed emissions.

The Company has adopteda composite climate risk appetite measure with four underlying KRIs as approved by the Company’s
Board. This metric is monitored monthly and reported on a quarterly basis to senior management. The Company’s risk appetite
is refreshed annually and is expectedto evolve as climate factors are furtherembedded into decision making throughout RBC,
throughtheenterprise risk appetiteand stress testing, and the setting of interimtargets for our loan portfolio. A summary ofthe
risk appetite performance, and additional scenario analysis is available within the RBC Climate Report.

Scenario Analysis

Short-termand long-termscenario analysis is performed by the Company forboth the largest sectoral Transition and Physical
risk exposures, predominantly for the Company’s loan portfolio. All scenario analysis exercises are included within the
Company’s ICAAP.

Physical Risk Scenario Analysis
The Company conducted a physicalrisk assessment ofthe Company’s own London premises, considering impact to operations.

Short-term and long-term flood risk scenario analysis was performed on the Company’s most significant physical risk credi
exposure, Real Estate, comprising of corporate and residential properties, to assess credit metrics such as the loan-to-valueratio
and expected credit loss. The Company has also analysed the credit risk exposure of Real Estate to physical risks, such as
subsidence, wildfire, extreme heat, and coastal searise.

In addition, the Company has analysed the loan book exposure to sectors most sensitive to extreme heat risk.
Greenwashing and Transition Scenario Analysis

Greenwashing refers to accusations of false or misleading claims about the environmental benefits of a product, service or
technology. In 2022, the Company conducted an operational risk review of those of its business lines which self-identified as
marketing a product or service as taking into consideration environmental factors, to evaluate hypothetical exposure to
greenwashing in relation tosuch products or services. In 2023, the Company reviewed the inherent risk profile of the businesses.

The Company’s ongoing Market Risk Stress VaR monitoring considers several scenarios, including an Energy Crisis scenario.
The Energy Crisis scenario addresses transition risk to a low-carbon economy incorporating hypothetical climate change themes
brought about by government climate legislation, shareholder resolutions, and reduced interest in potential investors and
moderate loss of confidence from existing investors.

In 2023, transition risk scenario analysis was performed for the Company’s climate s ensitivesectors within the Company’s loan
book, namely Automotive, Energy, Utilities, Industrial Products, Mining & Metals, and Transportation. This employed long-
term scenario analysis (30 years) and aligns with the 2021 Bank of Canada (BoC)/OSFI pilot project model and transition
scenarios. Credit metrics such as scenario adjusted borrower risk ratings and expected credit losses were analysed.

In addition, the Company has analysed the energy efficiency rating for the UK properties in its real estate credit exposure.

Disclosure

The Company is committed to providing annual disclosure updates on its progress toward understanding and assessing the
financial impacts of climate change on its operations and balance sheet. The Company has done so through RBC’s Climate
Report (see Appendixof the RBC Climate Report)and its Pillar 3 disclosures, and in addition its ICA AP whichis submitted to
the PRA.
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The Company continues to monitor legaland regulatory requirements associated with environmental matters which may apply
to it.

Please see additional disclosures relating to climate and environmental risks within the Directors’ Report.
Metrics

RBC tracks andreports onits priority ESGperformance metrics andtargets in the Environmental, Socialand Governance (ESG)
Performance Report, the mostrecent version of which canbe found onthis page: rbc.com/esgreporting. A dditional information
can be found in the annual report https//www.rbc.com/investor-relations/annual-meetings.html and websie
https://www.rbc.com/about-rbc.html. The Company’s Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) is disclosed on pages
19 to 21.

Employees
Details ofthe averagenumber of employees andrelated costs can be found in Note 17to the financial statements.
Employee Engagement

Throughits executive directors, the Board has clearand open channels of communication with employees facilitated througha
number of mechanisms includingtown halls, employee engagement surveys and targeted employee listening sessions. Executive
directors attend and participate at town halls in delivering financialresults and briefing employees on the progress of strategic
targets. The Board als o receives regular management information through the UK Human Resourcés Committee and UK Risk
Committee on culture and conduct metrics which is a large focus forthe Board and has been accompanied by a significant rol
outof conduct relatedtraining to staffto clarify their obligations in this regard. During the fiscalyear, the Board has received
quarterly reporting fromthe Human Resources function, including updates on talent initiatives such as talent reviews, employee
engagement surveys, and succession planning. The Board also receives a quarterly report on diversity & inclusion initiatives,
metrics and how we are delivering against our public commitments of the women in finance charter, race at work charter and
the disability confident charter.

The Company operates a Share Incentive Plan as partofthe ultimate parentcompany Royal Bank of Canada’s Group Plan (RBC
Group Plan) which is eligible to allemployees whohave completed 12 months’ service. Under this plan, participating emp oyees
are awarded one additionalshare forevery share purchased underthe plan. Allemployees are eligible from time to time to be
considered for a discretionary annual bonus. Bonuses will be influenced by business results as well as individual contribution
and performance.

Health & Safety

The Company adheres to Group health and safety policies as approved by the Board and underpins the Group’s focus in ensuring
the safety ofallpersonnelusing its premises and equipment. The policies setoutthe measures in place to prevent an incident of
injury or harm to be causedto an employee, supplier, customer, contractor or member ofthe public whilst attending at an RBC
premise. As part of the review process, the Board assesses the governance framework in place to implement and oversee the
policy on a day to day basis. The wellbeing ofemployees is a key focal point forthe Board and the directors maintain oversight
of the support incentives available to employees in this area through the data presented at the quarterly Human Res ources
Committee reporting as outlined in the paragraphs above.

Disabled Employees

The Company is an equal opportunities employer. It is the Company’s policy not to discriminate against employees or job
applicants on the.grounds of disability. The Company’s Equal Opportunities Policy applies to the advertisement of jobs,
recruitment and appointments, training, conditions of work, pay and to every other aspect of employment. When a disabled
person is recruited and where employees become disabled during the course of their employment, the Company will make
reasonable adjustments as are practicable which may assist themin the performance of their duties. To demonstrate RBC
commitment to supporting persons with disability, in 2022 the employeeres ource group ICare was extendedto cover both carers
and persons with disability; and RBC signed the Disability Confident Charter and are now Level 1 (Committed).
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EmployeeCode of Conduct

RBC and the Company holds itself to the highest standards of integrity. RBC Values and the Code of Conduct (the “Code”)
https://www.rbc.com/our-company/_assets-custom/pdf/Code-Of-Conduct.pdf sets expectations for ethical behaviour and
decision-making. The Code applies to all employees, contract workers and members ofthe board of directors ofthe Company.
The Company accepts accountability for the social and economic effects of business decisions on the communities in which i
operates. The Company has aresponsibility to behave with integrity so that it can continue to serve clients and generate value
forits stakeholders. Employees of the Company are required to undertake mandatory training, and, as a condition of employment,
must commit to and acknowledge the Code of Conductannually. Through the Conduct Risk Report to the UK Risk Committee,
the Board remains apprised of compliance with completion of mandatory training courses.

The RBC Leadership Model, which applies tothe Company andsets outkey behaviours expected of the Company’s workforce,
encourages speaking up forthe goodof RBC, and the Code of Conductrequires all employees toreport misconduct. Employees
are encouraged to speak to their manager, Human Resources manager or Compliance when they identify issues. A number of
otherchannels are available ifthey are not comfortable with these ones, including a global Conduct Hotline. This is a confidential
channel forallemployees toreport misconduct. A third party independent ofthe Company administers the Conduct Hotline, and
employees can use it to report anonymously. Altematively, employees can report misconduct concerns via a UK mailbox or
phone line, or direct to the relevant regulators. The Company is committed to ensuring employees have a fair and transparent
experience in having theirconcerns heard and addressed in accordance with RBC’s Values, and to protecting employees from
retaliation when they raise concems. Potential retaliation events are actively monitored including by following up with
employees after an investigation is closed, and annually reviewing key indicators such as performance ratings, compensation
and employment status, and any retaliation is treated as a breach ofthe Company’s Code of Conduct. Oversight of this area &
conducted through the UK Human Resources Committee which receives regular management information concemig
whistleblowing and retaliation monitoring. The Board and UK Human Resources Committee have beenclosely involved in the
development of the local Whistleblowing Framework including the review of the Whistleblowing Policy and review of the
Whistleblowing Guidelines and Whistleblowing Committee terms ofreference. A senior leadership forummeets on a quarterly
basis to review whether any trends are identifiable with respect to concerns raised by employees, combined with other data
sources such as attrition data and feedback from Employee Engagement surveys.

The UK Human Resources Committee is also kept apprised of any trends identified. In addition, in order to ensure the Board
continues to remain apprised of developments in this area and are fully aware ofits obligations on this matter, annual training
sessions are held forthe Board on whistleblowing and related matters.

Diversity and Inclusion

In July 2023, the British Isles Diversity Leadership Committee was renamed the European Diversity Leadership Committee
(DLC) with the committee being comprised of senior leaders fromacross businesses and functions including RBC BlueBay UK
and RBC Brewin Dolphin agreeingto meet regularly to discuss strategy and action plans and helping ensure RBC across Europe
is making measurable progress in achieving diversity goals, The mandate of DLC members is to drive accountability and action,
and inspire as influential change agents and role models. The committee refres hes thekey actions for Europe onan annual bass
aligned to the revised enterprise D&I strategy which was launched in March 2022. The committee is chaired by the Head of
RBC Europe.

The UK Human Resources Committee receives a quarterly Diversity Report which details the actions puttogether to encourage
diversity and inclusion within the Company and the work of the European Diversity Leadership Committee.

The Human Resource Committee s pends a significant amount of time discussing initiatives to drive and improve diversity across
the organisation. In addition, each year in December, the Board receives an annual report of the progress made towards the
Enterprise and European Diversity & Inclusion D&I key action plan.

The RBC Environmental, Social and Govemance (ESG) Performance Report (the “Report”) (rbc.convesgreporting) includes
information about Royal Bank of Canada (“RBC”, “we”, “our” or “us”) and its operations globally, except where the contex
indicates that “RBC”, “we”, “our” or “us” refers to a particular subsidiary. This Report sets out a comprehensive view of our
diversity and inclusion (“D&I”) priorities, programs and performance, reflecting the importance of improving diversity and
inclusion in areas such as age, gender, ethnicity, national origin, sexual orientation, persons with disabilities, Indigenous peopl,
gender expression/identity, education and religion. The Report provides global information as well as regional insights, as we
recognize that individualregions may have different priorities in driving equitable opportunities for groups thatare historically
underrepresented.
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RBC and the Company’s D&I vision is to be among the most inclusive and successful companies. By putting diversity into
action, we attract, engageand develop strongtalent, and bring RBC’s Purpose ofhelping clients thrive and communities prosper
to life. RBC’s Action Plan Against Systemic Racism (https://www.rbc.com/diversity-inclusion/action-plan-against-systemic-
racism.html) provides specific objectives and goals in three key areas to enable the success of Black, Indigenous and other
racialized groups in the Company’s workforce and in the Company’s communities. The threekey action areas include: Enabling
Economic Growth and Wealth Creation; Investing in the Future; and Redefining Inclusive Leadership.

The composition ofthe Company’s workforceis animportant measure of how wellits diversity efforts are working andis tracked
by the UK Human Resources Committee. In 2023, RBC published a Statement of Performance showing the Company’s
performance against measures of the Company’s diversity and inclusion priorities and programmes globally and for s pecific
regions Please see link: https//www.rbc.com/diversity-inclusion/_assets-customyincludes/pdfirbc-diversity-&-inclusion-

statement-of-performance-2022.pdf

RBC strives to be among the most inclusive and successful companies in the world, putting diversity into action to help
employees, clients and communities thrive. The Company believes in creating equal opportunities for employees, regardless of
race, age, gender, disability, religion, sexual orientation or ethnic origin; and operating in a way that does not reinforce
stereotypes or establish barriers. The Company also promotes diversity and inclusion, and proactively uses RBC’s diverse
workforce to generate innovative business strategies. This is demonstrated through the company-wide diversity-focused policies
and practices including the Code of Conduct, Respectful Workplace Policy, Equal Employment Opportunity Policy,
Accommodation Policy, CompassionateLeave Policy, Workplace A ccessibility Guidelines, the Company’s commitment to the
HM Treasury’s Women in Finance Charter and ensuring comp liance with The Equality A ct2010(Gender Pay Gap Information)
Regulations 2017 via the disclosure.of The UK Gender Pay Gap Report in 2019,2020,2021 and 2022. In addition, RBC signed
the Race at Work Charter in 2020 as a demonstration of the Company’s commitment to ethnic minority talent as well as the
Disability Confident Charter (Level 1 — Committed).

Talent Management

The Company is committed to attracting, retaining and engaging the very best employees who canhelp clients thrive. In today’s
competitive talent marketplace, the Company is continuously enhancing its talent practices and remains focused on providing
employees with meaningful work and development opportunities that inspire themto build long-termcareers at the organisation.
RBC, as a wider group, continues to focus on attracting and retaining the right talent.

Leaders who havediverse skill sets and backgrounds fuel diverse perspectives. To strengthen RBC’s pipeline of future leaders,

the Company aligns talent management strategies and succession planning with the Company’s business strategies and the

Company’s Leadership Model. Animportant part ofthe Company’s succession planis to assess, identify and develop executives

and priority talentto build their leadership capabilities and ensure the Company has a diverse group of leaders who drive the

Company’s performance. The Company is strengthening the Company’s pipeline of top talent and driving inclusion at all

position levels. RBC’s programmes include:

e Women in Leadership: A global, 10- to 12-month leadership program offered to nominated,

priority, senior-level, non-executive women.

Ignite Leadership Development Program: A 10- to 12-month leadership program for nominated

priority BIPOC talent aimed at accelerating their path to senior management

Intro Leadership Development Program: A five- to six-month leadership program for

nominated priority BIPOC talent who are new people managers, aimed at accelerating their

development

Steps Leadership Development Program: A new five- to six-month leadership program for

nominated, priority talent women who are new leaders to deepen their leadership capabilities,

accelerate development and prepare for a path to senior leadership

Social Impact Learning Programme (SILP): provides high potential leaders the opportunity to strengthen their

leadership skills and global mindset during a 10-week assignment with a community partner organization.

e Tech Women’s Advisory Programme: A multi-month early insight and development programme for student women
keen on careers in finance and technology, culminating in an early interview process for junior summer internships.
Programme features include a continuum of virtual and in-person programming and advisor matches with RBC
employees in technology roles.
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The UK Human Resources Committee annually reviews the succession plans for Senior Management Functions and the
executive directors of the Company to ensure appropriate plans are in place to support transition of talent to the top of the
Company (last review conducted in September 2023).

Social Matters

Community Involvement

The Board is committed to supporting the wider community through its ongoing support for its core charity partners: Great
Ormond Street Hospital Children’s Charity (GOSH Charity), The Old Vic, The Royal Parks, SportsAid and The Prince’s Trust.
The Company, as part ofthe wider RBC Group, participates in the annual ‘RBC Race for the Kids’ event in support of GOSH
Charity with the recent event in October 2023 celebrating it’s fourteenth consecutive year ofthe race with over 900 employees
participating. The company has a more than money approach, supplementing corporate investment with employee engagement
and through each partnership leverages a range of opportunities for employees to enhance our overall support. Several special
milestones have beenreached this year, including 10 years in partnership with SportsAid and over £1 million raised and donated,
and five years of supporting both The Prince’s Trust Enterpris e Programme as well as The Old Vic, Take the Lead, enhancing
employability skills foryoung people. The Boardremains well apprised of and provides support to the various initiatives across
the Company.
¢ Donations to registered charities as gifts
e Support to non-profits and organizations providing significant community benefit
e Community sponsorships that align with our brand and business goals and deliver social, environmental or economic
benefits
Volunteer efforts of employees, with financial support from RBC to their chosen charities
Other community investment activities including gifts in-kind and employee activities in support of communiy
development during working hours
¢ Financial products and services that generate social and environmental benefits as well as financial returns

Employee community involvement

The Company, as part of the RBC Group has access to a number of programs to support the fundraising and volunteer efforts of
employees, including financial support from RBC in the form of myCommunity rewards to employee’s charities of choice,
employee donations and other employee activities in support of community development.

RBC is committed to measuring the impact of social programs. The framework used to do so captures the quantifiable benefits
of RBC social initiatives and investments across multiple areas. For more information, see RBC’s website

https://www.rbc.com/community-social-impact/indexhtml.

Human Rights

The Company is committed to taking actions in order to meet the responsibility of businesses like ours to respecthuman rights
as set out in the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights. The Company endeavours to respect the
Universal Declaration on Human Rights, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the International Covenant
on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights in addition to the International Labour Organization’s Declaration on Fundamental
Principles and Rights at Work. Ifapplicable laws in countries in which it operates conflict with the Company’s commitment to
respect human rights, the Company will seek ways to promote respect for human rights in accordance with the UN Guiding
Principles and our Values.

The Company will give particular attentionto the rights of vulnerable groups whobear a disproportionate risk of adverse human
rights impacts. These include, at a minimum, women; national, ethnic, racial linguistic, and religious minorities; children;
persons with disabilities; LGBTQ+ people and migrant workers and their families. For more information, see RBC’s Human
Rights Position Statement rbc.conv/esgreporting
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Modern Slavery Act

The Company strives to maintain the highest professional and ethical standards and expects the same fromemployees, contract
workers, clients and suppliers. The Group has published an annual Modern Slavery A ct Statement (the “Statement”) since 2016,
which describes the policies and processes that are in place to prevent slavery and human trafficking from taking place in our
operations and supply chain. Further details regarding the Modern Slavery Act is available on RBC’s website

rbc.com/esgreporting.

The Board approves the Statement annually in accordance with the UK Modern Slavery Act 2015, reinforcing RBC’s efforts in
mitigating slavery in todays’ society. The Statementreferences a number ofkey enterprise principles endorsed by the Company
in complying with RBC’s group standards in terms of conduct, supplier engagement, risk management and speaking up. The
Board reviews the Statement and the governance and process for its production on an annual basis. In addition, the Board i
provided with an overview of the frameworks and policies, due diligence processes in place and training provided to staff to
mitigate the risk of slavery within the 5 pages Company’s value chain.

Suppliers

The Company adopts a principles-based Supplier Code of Conduct https://www.rbc.com/sourcing/indexhtml
and suppliers’ acknowledgmentofthis Codeis monitored. It sets outthe expectation around humanrights, labour and

employment standards for our suppliers and subcontractors.

RBC’s Supplier Code of Conductarticulates RBC’s expectations with respectto a supplier’s business integrity, responsible
businesspractices andres ponsible treatment of individuals and the environment. Wealso havea comprehensive risk
assessment and due diligence programin place for suppliers, which includes ensuring suppliers havepolicies thataddress
discrimination, the minimum age ofemployment, minimum wages, overtime hours and legally mandated benefits at all of their
facilities.

Anti-corruption and bribery matters

The Company is committed to the highest standards of governance, consistent with regulatory expectations, evolving best
practices, the Company’s strategy and risk appetite as approved by the Board. The Company’s Code of Conduct, the Risk
Conduct and Culture Framework, the Enterprise Risk Management Framework and Enterprise Risk A ppetite Framework guide
all otherbusiness risk frameworks and associated employee conduct to enforce zero tolerance on corruption and bribery.

The “Integrity in How We Do Business” section ofthe Code of Conduct governs every aspect ofthe Company’s business and
supports (among other concepts) its anti-bribery and anti-corruption measures.

The Company is subject to the RBC Enterprise Anti-Bribery Anti-Corruption (ABAC) Policy which is designed to support
compliance with the requirements of ABAC legislation in all the jurisdictions in which the Company conducts busmess,
including but not limited to the UK Bribery Act, Canada’s Corruption of Foreign Public Officials A ctandthe US Foreign Comupt
Practices Act, and all applicable accounting provisions which require the Company to accurately record and describe al
transactions in its books and records. To support these efforts and the Company’s commitment to operate with integrity, RBC
continuesto enhance its enterprise-wide, ABACPolicy. The Policy expands on the broad principles set in the Company’s Code
of Conduct and sets consistent enterprise-wide standards, which address, among other things, corruption and bribery of both
government officials and private persons, requirements for internal controls toidentify and manage areas exposedtobribery and
corruptionrisk, and measures to address the specific anti-bribery anti-corruption requirements ofthe jurisdictions in which RBC
and the Company conducts business.

Atthehighest level, thereis mandatory compliancetraining, and all ofthe Company’s employees must complete the Introduction
to Risk Management at RBC course biennially. Employees must also complete the Combating Money Laundering and Terrorist
Financing course annually, which includes a testing element, and completion is monitored. In addition to this training, a
comprehensive online training course is provided to employees covering internal ABAC roles and responsibilities, key global
legislation, gifts and entertainment, facilitation payments, books and records requirements, third-party risks, jurisdictional risk,
dealing with public officials, mergers and acquisitions risk, requirements forappropriate due diligence in dealing with external
parties and certain transactions, and monitoring, reporting and escalation ofactual, potential or perceived suspicious activity. In
addition to this, an annual assessmentofeach Business Unit’s bribery and corruptionrisks is undertaken to assess the adequacy
and efficacy ofthe controls to manager the inherent risks identified. The results of the Riskand Control assessment are presented
to the relevant UK Governance committees.
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Section 172 of the Companies Act2006

The Board of Directors actin accordance with Section 172(S.172) of the Companies A ¢t2006 through the performance of theirr
fiduciary duties in the furtherance of the Company’s objectives. In doing so, the Board has regard for the interest of all its
stakeholders (including employees, regulators, the Company’s shareholders, clients and suppliers ) in the broader context and in
consideration of the long-term outcomes of the Board decisions, see pages 3 to 13 for details.

The directors considerthe consequences of any actions taken in the pursuit ofiits strategic objectives on the wider community
and the environment. See pages 6to 13 for information on how the Board has had regard for community initiatives, its support
for local charities, the impact ofthe business on the environment, climate changeand its oversight ofthe risk of modem s lavery
within its supply chains and the measures in placeto preventcorruption. This was supported by a standing quarterly ESGUpdate
to the Company Board and a Board education / deep dive session held in January 2023 where the Head of ESG in Europe
presented on the developments and enhancements being implemented through RBC’s ESG framework in the region. In addition,
a key direct stakeholder ofthe Board are the employees. See pages 9to 13 for an overview ofthe various mechanisms utilised
by the Board in ensuring consistent open and transparent engagement with employees, their welfare and the way in which it
takes theminto account in making strategic decisions. The Board has alsomaintained continued oversightofthe whistleblowing
framework through the UK Human Resources Committee and held a conduct and culture deep dive meeting in December2022.

As part of its review of the business’ strategy at the Board Meeting in July 2023, the Board considered the sustainability ofthe
five-yearbusiness planand long termsuccess ofthe organisation. The Board reviewed the strategic plan forthe Company from
a financial, shareholder, employee and client perspective by reference to business goals, impact on people and clients and the
long term returns to be generated forthe shareholder. Whenreviewing andapproving the Financial Plan in September 2023, it
had regard to the long termsuccess ofthe Company, the importance ofthe diversification across the business and the ongoing
value to the shareholder. In addition, there has been continued focus on embedding a number of enhancements made to the
govermnance structure of the Company in 2021 and 2022 including establishing functional executive committees and formalising
the rights and responsibilities of the Board with respect to business strategy.

The Board has maintained strong engagement with the RBC Group Board and Group Executive which has been facilitated by
attendance at the Company Board meetings by the Group ChiefRisk Officer, Global Head of Capital Markets and Global Head
of Wealth Management. In addition, the Board continues to endorsethe model of composition ofthe Board with three Canadian
directors on the Board as a strong linkto the wider organisation. Furtherto this, the Chairs ofthe Board Committees have each
met with their independent non-executive counterparts on the Group Board including the RBC Board Chair. This model and
approachallows the Boardto reinforce relationships with key members of Group and to ensure alignment of priorities with the
Company’s shareholder, in line with its duty under S.172 to be able to understand how its actions are most likely to promote the
success of the Company for the benefit of its members as a whole.

In addition, the Board has considered its obligations under S.172 of the Companies Act 2006 in navigating and approving the
implementation plan for the new Consumer Duty as per the FCA’s new regulations implemented in July 2023. This was
conducted through Board education sessions on the new regulatory regime and quarterly reporting to the Board on the firm’s
plans forexecution. The Consumer Duty Champion who is responsible for ensuring the Board practices the appropriate oversight
and receives effective management information on this topic on a regular basis. The Boardhas been cognis ant of the regulatory
focus on this area and has overseen management to ensure that engagement with the regulator on this topic has been proactive
and provided clarity as to the business’ plans through this initiative.

During 2023, the Board and its Risk Committee, were fully focused on operational resilience/ third party risk and the subsequent
potential impact caused by disruptionto its stakeholders including clients, the wider market and suppliers. The Board receives a
standing quarterly report on this topic to ensure the Company is meeting expectations and the business can continue to service
its clients during disruptive events. The Board has ensured that management remain fully engaged with the PRA on this topic
given its current level of regulatory focus. These specific meetings are in addition to the quarterly reporting which has been
implemented to the UK Risk Committee on an ongoing basis. In addition, the reporting to the Board and UK Risk Committee
from a technology perspective has been enhanced through the year to ensure there is appropriate information on cyber and IT
risk demonstrating the Board’s consideration for potential impacts on the business, suppliers and relevantthird parties and clients.

With regards to suppliers specifically, page 13 abovesets outthe framework in place through which the Company engages with
its suppliers. In addition, the Board annually approves the Modern Slavery Act Statement which includes information as to the
treatment and due diligence in place when it engages with this group of stakeholders. The Board and UK A udit Committee ako
receives quarterly reporting on regulatory submissions including the completion of the bi-annual Payment Practices Retum.
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A further example of the Board’s consideration of Section 172, particularly noting the long term success of the Company and
value to the shareholder and other stakeholders, is in its oversight of the impact of various matters such as the current
macroeconomic climate, strategic future of the RBC business in the UK and risks to the business operation as a result of
disruption caused by third party suppliers. This has included specific updates to the Board on these items which have covered
the impact to clients, the market, the economic outlook and capital and liquidity of the Company and wider UK / European
business within RBC. The Board continues to ensure it has oversight of these matters through specific updates outside of the
main Board meeting cycle and the UK Audit Committee’s has continued focus with respect to assessing appropriate potential
financial provisions for losses sustained as a result of the ongoing economic situation.

The Board is committed to exercising the fiduciary duties owed in accordance with Section 172 of the Companies Act n
considering stakeholders interests as a whole in the longer term through the pursuit of the Company’s objectives.

The Strategic Report was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on 14 December 2023 and was signed on its behalf
by:

Peter Dixon

Director
18 December2023
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The Directors presenttheirannual report andtheaudited financial statements for the yearended 31 October 2023.

Future prospects and developments

The Company expects to continue to provide a range of financial services for the foreseeable future.
Going concern ‘

The Company holds capital resources in excess ofregulatory requirements. Liquidity positions within the Company are actively
managed to ensure sufficient liquidity is maintained at alltimes to support the business while at the same time remaining well
within regulatory and internal limits. The Company’s management has made an assessment of its ability to continue as a going
concern and is satisfied that it has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future for a period of at least 12
months fromthe date ofthe approval ofthe financial statements. Taking these factors into consideration, the Directors believe
that the Company is well placed to manage the Company’s business risks successfully despite the continuing uncertain econornic
outlook. The going concem basis of preparation ofthe financial statements is dis cussed in Note 1(b) to the financial statements.

Directors

The Directors ofthe Company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements, except
where noted, were:

N. Ahn — Group Non-Executive Director (resigned 13 September 2023)

D. Buckley — Chair and Independent Non-Executive Director

P. Dixon — Chief Financial Officer

A. Hammond - Group Non-Executive Director

V. T. Maxwell - Group Non-Executive Director

N. Mumford — Independent Non-Executive Director (resigned 8 November 2023)
C. Taylor — Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 8 November 2023)
D. Thomas — Chief Executive Officer

T. C. Wade — Independent Non-Executive Director

P. A. Williams — Independent Non-Executive Director

Secretary
A P. Richardson

Statement of Corporate Governance Arrangements

The Company has applied the W ates Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private Companies for the financial year ended
31 October2023. In doing so, the Company has applied each ofthesixprinciples (Purpose and Leadership, Board Composition,
Director Responsibilities, Opportunity and Risk, Remuneration and Stakeholder Relationships and Engagement) against the
corporate governance arrangements of the Company in reflecting adherence to each principle.

1. Purpose and Leadership

The Board has an integralrole in the oversight ofthe implementation ofthe strategy of the Company. This is achieved through
leveraging the strategy rolled outat the parentlevel (RBC Europe Limited is a direct subsidiary of Royal Bank of Canada). RBC
Europe Limited is classified as a key strategic subsidiary under RBC’s Policy on the Legal Govemnance of Subsidiaries and
adopts and carries on its business with RBC’s values and purpose. The Board of RBC Europe Limited oversees the
implementation in the Company ofthe Group’s strategy to ensureit aligns with localrequirements and benefits its shareholders
and stakeholders. In order to achievethis, the Board holds an Annual Strategy Meeting at whichit is able toreview and challenge
the localbusiness lines strategic plans andto challenge and approve the five-year strategic plan for the business. In addition to
this, the Board receives regular reporting from the CEO and the businesses on the implementation of its defined strategy and
selected businesses present to the Board on a quarterly basis to provide an in-depth analysis of their goals, performance and
challenges.

The Board of RBC Europe Limited has oversightand monitors metrics with regards to the culture within the Company to ensure
that it aligns with the overall strategy and purpose of the organis ation. It ensures effective oversight of culture through the receipt
of relevant quarterly reporting to the Board and its committees, in addition to specific Board education sessions.
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The Board is committed to developing and cascading theculture throughout the organisation andthis is evidenced through the
significant enhancements to the board and committee reporting in respect of conduct and culture and subsequent messaging to
employees over the past two years.

The Board of the Company comprises of one Group Executive (‘GE’) director (Nadine Ahn (who has resigned in September
2013 and will be replaced by a member ofthe GE in due course))andthe Chief Operating Officer of Capital Markets, RBC and
Global Head of Market and Counterparty Credit Risk of RBC (Troy Maxwell and Andrew Hammond respectively). Each of
these individuals hold seniorexecutive levelroles at RoyalBank of Canada, based in Toronto and are responsible for ensurng
the connectivity and flow of information between the strategy setting conducted at the parent level and the wider group.

2. Board Composition

The UK Human Resources Committee and UK Nomination Committee have assumed theresponsibility for ensuring an effective
board composition comprising the desired mix of skills, backgrounds, knowledge and diversity. The Board comprises of nine
directors including an independent non-executive chair who ensures outside perspective and constructive challengeand debate.
The board consists of four independent non-executive directors (“INED”), three shareholder representative directors and two
localmanagement directors (the Chief Executive Officerand Chief Financial Officer of the Company), ensuring a good balance
of management and non-management representation. The UK Human Resources Committee is tasked with the responsibility of
the Board’s succession-planning and talent management withregards to key executive positions. The UK Nomination Committee
is responsible for INED succession-planning and appointments to the Board and its committees and continually assesses the
composition ofthe Board froma diversity perspective. Regular board self-assessments are conducted to enable a board evaluation
and provide for the identification of potential weaknesses and opportunities for improvement. A board self-assessment was
conducted during 2022 and identified items ofenhancement within the Board’s operation. A further board effectiveness review
is planned to be conducted towards the beginning of calendar 2024.

3. Director Responsibilities

The Board has established clear delegations ofauthority toits respective board committees (Risk, Audit, Nomination and Hurran
Resources Committees ) and theres pective delegations of each committee are clearly defined in the Terms of Reference of each.
In addition, an Executive Committee operates monthly chaired by the Company’s CEO in orderto enable the executive teamto
implement the strategic direction ofthe Company as directed by the Board and the Shareholder. The Company is subject to the
provisions ofthe RBC Policy on the Legal Governance of Subsidiaries. The Policy sets outthe internal governance requirements
for all RBC subsidiaries globally and ensures alignment across all subsidiaries with regards matters including subsidiary
transactions, corporate restructurings and board appointments.

The Board has delegated key responsibilities to the committees and has appointed an independent chair to each Board Committee.
Each director is prescribed a mandate upon appointment to the Board in setting out the scope of the role, relevant skilk and
attributes as required in addition to the overarching Directors’ duties responsibilities. In addition, the Directors operate in
accordance with the Senior Management Functions (‘SMF”) responsibility maps implemented in conjunction with the Senior
Managers Regime (‘SMR’) detailing prescribed responsibilities relative to each SMF function as appropriate. The Board and
committee governance arrangements requires quarterly board reporting from each of the committees with ad-hoc Board and
committee meetings convened fromtime to time to reporton priority items. There is also regular liais on between the independent
non-executive directors and executive management outside of the board cycle to ensure consistent connectivity.

4. Opportunity and Risk

The Company maintains a risk appetite statement which details the types and amount of risk that the business accepts in the
pursuit of its business objectives. Therisk appetite statement is reviewed by the UK Risk Committee and subsequently approved
annually by the Board. This review is conducted concurrently with the Board Annual Strategy meeting in order to enabl the
Directors to challengetherisk appetite statement and ensure it has fully incorporated (i) the salient risks facing the business and
organisation and (ii) opportunities for the business to pursue initiatives and add value.

The Board receives a Risk Report fromthe UK Risk Committee quarterly which sets outthe current risk profile ofthe Company
and any areas of importance or change. The Board operates via a robust risk framework encompassing a defined risk appetite
and a series of enterprise risk frameworks with local addendums incorporated as relevant. The risk control function moniors,
identifies and categorises the risks facing the organisation and develops risk mitigation tools to manage the risk. In addition,
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throughthe UK Riskand UK Audit Committees, the Boardreceive regular reporting and assurance on control processes such as
Intenal Audit reviews, Compliance Monitoring testing and the risk control self-assessments.

The UK Risk Committee has regard to emerging risks facing the Company, including but not limited to credit, market,
operational, liquidity, funding, pension, regulatory compliance, cyber, taxand reputational risks. The UK Risk Committee has
established a standing 1st Line Risk Report from the individual businesses on a rotationalbasis to allow the Board to assess the
ownership and clarity of responsibilities with regards to risk management within the business.

5. Remuneration

The UK Human Resources Committee is responsible for the approval ofthe total remuneration, including variable compensation
of UK employees who are either designated senior management functions under the SMR and/or executive directors of the
Company. The Chair of the Committee and the Committee members are independent.

The Committee acts in adherenceto a robust compensation framework encompassing many formalities to ensure remuneration
alignment with employee behaviours and conduct including the UK Remuneration Conduct and Performance Adjustment
Protocol. This protocolsets out guidance forthe adjustment of variable compensation following disciplinary action and enables
a consistent risk and performance adjustment process.

The UK Human Resources Committee approves and adopts the RBC Group Remuneration and Compensation Policies and
annually adopts a Remuneration Policy for the Company. The remuneration ofthe Non-Executive directors is currently approved
by the Shareholder upon appointment. In support of the Committee, the CEO of RBC Europe Limited, Control Function Heads,
the Head of Human Resources RBC UK and Channel Islands and Global Chief Human Resources Officer attend Committee
meetings as standing invitees.

The Committee is supported in fulfilling its Terms of Reference by a number ofrobust governance processes which includes:

e reporting fromthe Company’s Chief Financial Officer on the alignment between financial performance and bonus pool
accruals;

e quarterly updates fromthe Head of Human Resources on a range oftopics including whistleblowing incidents, diversity,
turnover, recruitment;

e quarterly reporting from Human Resources on regulatory changes impacting the Company, gender and equal pay
metrics and bonus pool spend analysis;

o anannualreportfromthe Internal Audit function onthe Company’s adherence to regulatory requirements and intemal
policies and procedures; and

o annualadoption of RBC enterpriseremuneration policies andreview and approval of specific regional policies and key
regulatory submissions (e.g., the Company’s Code MRT list, Pillar 3 disclosure).

On an ongoing basis, the Company’s Risk function monitors a number of non-financial risk factors that may not have been
reflected in current financial performance but could have the potential to be sufficiently significant to justify adjustments to the
current year’s variable compensation pool. Subsequently, the Chief Risk Officer provides bi-annual reports to the UK Human
Resources Committee highlighting any risk based adjustments that are proposed for the variable compensation pools for the
business. The Head of the Compliance Function also provides an annual report to the Committee setting out any proposed
individual compensation adjustments as a result of compliance and/or conduct breaches.

6. Stakeholder Relationships and Engagement

The framework through which the Board engages with its stakeholders (employees, suppliers, clients and the wider community)
is set out in more detail within the Strategic Report on pages 3 to 15.

With regards to the shareholders, the Company is classified as a Governance Level 1 subsidiary (by virtue ofthe Internal Policy
on the Legal Governance of Subsidiaries) and therefore must include an RBC Group Executive (“GE”) member or a delegate of
a GE member as a Director. The responsible GE member is a designated GE oversight person and acts in ensuring connectivity
with the shareholder. In the case of the Company, Nadine Ahn is the GE member appointed to the Company’s Board, and
following herresignation fromthe Board in September2023, will be replaced by a member ofthe Group GE in due course. This
is in addition to Troy Maxwell and Andrew Hammond as senior RBC executives sitting on the Company’s Board to provide
appropriate further formal representation from the shareholder. In addition, the Board has invited a number of senior Group
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executives toattend its meetings including Derek Neldner, RBC Global Head of Capital Markets and Group ChiefRisk Officer,
Graeme Hepworth to ensure appropriate connectivity between the Board and the shareholder on an ongoing basis.

Climate Change

Climate riskis the riskrelated to the globaltransition toa net-zero economy (transition risk) and the physical impacts of climate
change (physical risk), which includes both chronic (longer-term) risks (e.g., rising sea levels and increases in average
temperatures)and acute (event driven)risks (e.g., wildfires and floods). Both the Company and our clients may be exposedto
climate-related transition risk, including through emerging regulatory and legalrequirements, changing business and consumer
sentiment towards products and services, technological developments, and changes in stakeholder expectations. As part of the

RBC Group, the Company is subject to a suite of Environmental and Social Risk Management (ESRM) policies (including
climate) designed toidentify, assess, and mitigate the environmental and social risks associated with financing for our clients.

In 2023, the Company has continued to enhance its approach tomeasuringand reporting climate financialrisks, in line with the
requirements of the Prudential Regulation Authority’s (PRA) Supervisory Statement 3/19 (SS3/19), “Enhancing banks and
insurers’ approaches to managing the financialrisks from climate change”. The Company continues to align its approach with
the Financial Stability Board’s Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures’ (TCFD) recommendations and its objective
to improve and increase the reporting of climate-related financial information. See Appendixofthe RBC Climate Report fora
summary ofthe financial impacts of climate change, see here: rbc.com/esgreporting.

The PRA’s 2023 Priorities Letter stated that financialrisks arising fromclimate change remains akey priority. In addition, the
2023 Dear CEO letter from the FCA noted the important role of wholesale banks in the transitionto a more sustainable future,
highlighting the needto demonstrate that their financing activities are aligned with their own transition plans, havingregardto
the Transition Plan Taskforce’s (TPT) framework for disclosure.

The Company continues to monitor legal and regulatory requirements which may apply to it associated with climate change.

Energy Usage

The table below reports the Company’s annual greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from sources as required by the Companies
and Limited Liability Partnerships Regulations 2018, which implements the UK government’s policy on Streamlined Energy
and Carbon Reporting (SECR). The Company’s GHG emissions and energy usage data is below. The Company’s GHG
emissions data is split into the following categories based on the source of their emission:
+ Scope 1 (Direct): Emissions from sources that the company owns or controls, e.g. generation of electricity, heat or
steam from combustion of fuels.
+ Scope?2 (Energy Indirect): Indirect emissions fromthe consumption of purchased energy (electricity, heat, steam and
cooling) consumed by the Company's operations.
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Global greenhouse gas emissions data for the annual reporting period

2023 2022
Energy consumptionusedto calculate emissions (M Wh):
Gas 904 950
Electricity 1,407 1,452
Total energy consumption (MWh) 2,311 2,402
Scope 1
Emissions fromcombustion of gas tCO2e (Scope 1) 178 185
Scope2
Emissions frompurchased electricity tCO2e (Scope?2) 291 295
Total gross tCO2ebasedon above 469 480
GHG emissions intensity from energy use (tonnes of CO2e/m2) 0.069 0.065

Additional details on the Group’s operational footprint and emissions can be found in the 2022 Climate Report at
https://www.rbc.com/community-social-impact/reporting-performance/indexhtml

Methodology

This data covers mostofthe Company’s emission sources for which the Company is responsible. Some are omitted based on
materiality and/oralack ofdata. Scope 2 emissions calculations for purchased electricity follow the location-based
methodology ofthe GHG Protocol. RBC’s service provider JLL gathered energy use data(natural gas and electricity). The
most up to date emissions factors fromthe UK Department for Environment, Farming and Rural A ffairs (DEFRA ) were used
to calculate Scope 1and Scope2 emissions. The Company reports its operational emissions for the RBC group fiscalyear, 1
November—31 Octoberandhas adoptedareporting cycle forits Scope 1and Scope 2 energy dataforbuildings of 1 August to
31 July, to ensure thereis enough time for data collection, review and approval.

Data quality for electricity and gas cons umption

Our data for electricity and gas consumption comes fromthe following source:

Metered data: Consurmption bills fromsuppliers/reports from property agents, meterreading evidence forthe space the
Company occupies within abuilding.

~ Partial Occupancy
In cases where the Company occupieda space fora portion ofthe reporting year, a time-weighted square footage figure was

calculated as a product ofthe proportion ofthe year the building was occupied, andthetotal square footage occupied by the

Company throughout the period. This approach was designed to maintain accuracy for energy use intensity figures and to

avoid using a yearly consumption value, when occupancy did notoccur for 100% of the reporting year. For example, where a

~ building was occupied for 100 days within areportingyear:

e 100 /365 days =27.4%. In a building with 5000 sqft, the time weightedsqft becomes 5000x 27.4% = 1370
sqft.
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In cases where a specific business entity with SECR reporting requirements (such as RBC Europe Limited) occupies a portion
of an RBC office, the time weighted square footage is thenmultiplied by the proportion ofthe office’s area occupied by the
businessentity. This calculation gives us the entity area percentage. The entity areapercentage is then multiplied by RBC’s
totalemissions fromthe building to attain figures for the specific entity’s emissions within the building,

e 10,000 sqft (entity area)/ 80,000 sqft (total RBC office area)= 12.5%. In this scenario, the entity would be
attributed 12.5% of RBC’s total emissions fromthe building,

Efficient energyaction
The Company is part of the RBC Group, which is dedicated to reducing its GHG emissions globally and has implemented
policies, strategies and targets to achievethis goal.

Monitoring and reduction of energy usage, and the implementation of energy efficiency measures are actively pursued within
the Company and with its landlords.

Details on the Group’s acnons taken to reduce emlssmns and the overall climate strategy can be found in the RBC Climate
Blueprint :

Third Party Indemnities

During the financial year, the Company’s Directors benefited from qualifying third party indemnities granted by the Company’s
parent, Royal Bank of Canada, indemnify ing the Directors against liabilities and associated costs, which they could incur in the
course oftheir duties to the Company. The indemnities remain in force as at the dateofthe financial statements. A copy ofeach
of the indemnities is kept at the registered office of the Company.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Company makes extensive use of financial instruments in the conduct of its business. The Company’s principal risks and
uncertainties and financial risk management objectives and policies are discussed in Note 4 to the financial statements.

Charitable donations

The Company made charitable donations totalling £611,590 (2022: £750,582) to severalregistered charities during the year and
no political donations (2022: £nil).

Employee engagement

Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 requires that Directors consider the interests of all stakeholders including emp loyees,
shareholders, clients and suppliers in the exercise of their fiduciary duties under this section. The Strategic Report on pages 3 to
15 references the various mechanisms utilised by the Board in ensuring consistent open and transparent engagement with
employees including through the board’s visibility of employee’s opinions or in the frequency of executive led strategic
presentations attended by employees.

The Company operates a Share Incentive Plan as part ofthe ultimate parentcompany Royal Bank of Canada’s Group Plan (RBC
Group Plan) which is eligible to all employees who have completed 12 months' service. Under this plan, participating emp loyees
are awarded one additional share for every share purchased under the plan. Allemployees are eligible from time to time to be
considered for a discretionary annual bonus. Bonuses will be influenced by business results as well as individual contribution
and performance.

Disabled Employees

The Company is an equal opportunities employer. It is the Company's policy not to discriminate against employees or job
applicants on the grounds of disability. The Company's Equal Opportunities Policy applies to the advertisement of jobs,
recruitment and appointments, training, conditions of work, pay and to every other aspect of employment. When a disabled
person is recruited and where employees become disabled during the course of their employment, the Company will make
reasonable adjustments as are practicable which may assist them in the performance of their duties.

Supplier payment policy

The Company’s policy is to settle terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction, ensuring that
suppliers are made aware of the terms of payment and abide by the terms of payment.
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Dividends
During the year, £30 million dividends have been paid (2022: £18 million).
Independent Auditors

All non-audit services provided by PwCare pre-approved by the Group audit committee in accordance with the Group auditor
independence policy to ensure that services do not create a conflict. Non-audit service fees to the independent auditors are

disclosed in Note 19.
This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditors.

The Directors Report was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on 14 December2023 and was signed on its behalf
by:

Director
18 December 2023
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable lhw
and regulation. '

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have
prepared the financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards.

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satis fied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing the financial
statements, the directors are required to:

.« select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

. state whether applicable UK-adopted international accounting standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume thatthe company

will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets ofthe company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are alsoresponsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position ofthe company and enable themto ensure
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ confirmations

In the case of each director in office at the date the directors’ report is approved:

. so far as the director is aware, there is norelevant audit information of whichthe company’s auditors are unaware;
and
. ~ they havetakenallthe steps that they ought to have taken as a director in orderto make themselves aware of any

relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Peter Dixon
Director
18 December2023
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Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion, RBC Europe Limited’s financial statements:

e giveatrue and fair view ofthe state ofthe company’s affairs as at 31 October2023 and of'its profit and cash flows
for the yearthenended;
e have been properly prepared in accordance with UK—-adopted international accounting standards; and

¢ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements ofthe Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual report and financial statements (the “Annual Repoit”),
which comprise: the balance sheet as at 31 October 2023; the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows forthe yearthenended; andthenotes tothe ﬁnanc1al statements,
which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted ouraudit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit ofthe financial statements
sectionofourreport. Webelievethat theaudit evidence we have obtainedis sufficientand appropriateto provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to public interest entities, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of ourknowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not
provided.

Otherthan those disclosed in Note 19, we have provided no non-audit services to the company in the period under audit.

Our audit approach
Overview
Audit scope

e Weperforma full scope audit ofthe financial statements ofthe Company. As part of designing our audit, we
determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements.
o Thescope ofthe audit and the nature, timing and extent ofaudit procedures were determined with consideration
of ourrisk assessment, the financial significance of accountbalances and other qualitative factors.
e Audit procedures were performed over allaccount balances and dis closures which represent a risk of material
misstatement to the financial statements.
Key audit matters

e Valuation ofdefined pension benefit obligations
e Expected credit losses (ECL) on loans and advances
Materiality
e Overall materiality: £17,300,000 (2022: £16,700,000) based on 1% of the Company’s Tier 1 capital resources.

e Performance materiality: £12,900,000 (2022: £12,500,000).
The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or
not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the
allocation ofresources in the audit; and directing the efforts ofthe engagementteam. These matters, and any comments we make
ontheresults of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

Completeness of sub-participation risk fees on loans and advances to customers, which was a key audit matter last year, & no
longerincluded because therisk has reduced following management's remediation ofthe control deficiencies in relation to the
completeness of sub-participation risk fees. Otherwise, the key audit matters below are consistent with last year.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressedthe key audit matter

Valuation of defined benefit pension obligations

The Company has a defined benefit pension obligation of
£75,600,000 (2022: £84,571,000).

The Company is a participating employer in the RBC (UK)
Pension Plan (‘the Plan’), a defined benefit pension scheme
for which the principal employer is the Royal Bank of Canada.
The plan provides pension benefits based on years of service
and average eamings over three years at leaving. The pln &
closed to new members since 2001 and closed to future
accrual from 2015.

The valuation of the defined benefit pension obligation &
dependent on a number of actuarial assumptions, the most
significant of which are discount rate, inflation rate and
mortality rate. When making these assumptions, the directors
take independent actuarial advice relating to ther
appropriateness.

We focussed our audit on the significant assumptions where
there were greater levels of management judgement involved.
Specifically, these included the discount rate, inflation rate
and mortality rate.

Refer to Note 3 (c) Significant accounting policies’ and Note
20 “Pension” in the financial statements.

We understood and evaluated the control environment over
valuation of defined benefit pension obligations.

We used our actuarial experts to understand the
judgements made by management and their actuarial
expert in determining the actuarial assumptions used bythe
Company in calculating the defined benefit pension
obligation. This included comparing the significant
assumptions on discount rate, inflation rate and mortality
to ourindependently compiled expected ranges based on
market observable data and the views of our actuaril
experts.

We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology used and tested the accuracy of the
calculations usedto estimate the liability. We assessed the
sensitivity of the defined benefit pension obligation to
changes in the significant assumptions.

We assessed the competence, capabilities
independence of the Company’s actuarial expert.

We evaluated and tested financial s tatements dis closures in
relation to the defined benefit obligation.

and

Expected credit losses (ECL) on loans and advances

Determining expected credit losses (‘ECL’) (31 October
2023: £8,359,000, 2022: £4,097,000) involves management
judgement and is subjectto a high degree of estimation
uncertainty. Management makes various assumptions when
estimating ECL. The significant assumptions that we focussed
on were those involving a greater level of management
judgement. These included assumptions made in determining
forward looking information used in the ECL modek and
scenario weightings.

Models areusedtocollectively assess and determine expected
credit loss allowances on loans and advances. Key inputs and
assumptions includesignificantincrease in credit risk criter,

We understood and evaluated management’s process and
tested key controls around the ECL model, including
controls relating to:

* Model validation;

* Scenario design, weightings, economic variables and
consistency of data;

+ Staging triggers and monitoring of internal Borrowers’
Risk Rating (‘BRR’) ratings; and

* The review and approval of the ECL balance (including
overlays) by the governance forum.

We assessed and tested the:
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probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD) and the
use of multiple probability weighted economic scenarios.

We focused our work on the areas that we considered tobe the
most judgemental, being:

*  Modelassessment - the risk that the current model s
not appropriate in the cumrent economic
environment.

Refer to Note 3 (b) Significant accounting policies in the

financial statements and Note 24 'Allowance for credit losses'.

* Reasonableness ofthe default definition for significant
increase in credit risk criteria using code comparisons to
identify and test the changes during the year;

* Conceptualsoundness ofthe PD and LGD models for
the methodology applied by reviewing model change and
validation documentation and code comparisons;

* Reliability and reasonableness of macroeconomic and
forward-looking informationused in the ECL models;

+ Reasonableness ofkey assumptions and scenario
weightings;

» Reasonableness ofthe BRRratings fora sample of
borrowers;and

» Completeness of managementoverlays and performed
benchmarking analysis to assess reasonableness.

We used our credit risk modelling experts to support the
audit team in the performance of these audit procedures.

We evaluated and tested the disclosures in the financial
statements.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financil
statements as a whole, taking into accountthe structure of the company, theaccounting processes and controls, and the industry

in which it operates.

The Company provides a wide range of financial services including corporate and investmentbanking, sales and trading, research
and related products and services to corporations, public sector and institutional clients. The Company also provides wealth
management services to high-net-worth individuals. We consider the Company to representa single audit component. There are
anumberofcentralised functions operated by the ultimate parent Company, Royal Bank of Canada, incorporated in Canada that

are relevant to the audit of the Company.

A key element of our audit involved instructing PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Canada (PwC Canada) to test certain controk
and perform certain substantive tests of detail, including (but not limited to):

e Valuation of certain financial instruments.

o Information Technology General Controls (‘ITGC’) and automated business controls operated in Toronto.

o Controls in relation to loans and advances, including expected credit losses.

® Globally operated entity level controls.

We interactedregularly with PwC Canada throughout the course ofthe audit. This included reviewing key working papers and
discussing and challenging theresults of work in higherrisk areas ofthe audit. We concluded thatthe procedures performed on
our behalf were sufficient for the purposes of issuing our opinion.

The impact of climate risk on our audit

As part of ouraudit we made enquiries of managementto understand the extentofthe potentialimpact of climate risk on the
company’s financial statements, and we remained alert when performing our audit procedures for any indicators of the impact
of climate risk. Our procedures did notidentify any material impact as aresult of climate risk on the company’s financial

statements.
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Materiality

The scope ofouraudit was influenced by ourapplication of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. .
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of ouraudit and the nature, timing and extent
of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Overall materiality £17,300,000 (2022: £16,700,000).

How we determined it 1% of the Company’s Tier 1 capital resources

Rationale for benchmark  The immediate and ultimate parent company, management and the Company's
applied regulators are the primary users of the financial statements. Forthese users the level
of Tier 1 capital resources is a key focus.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality . Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope of
our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in
determining sample sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% (2022: 75%) of overallmateriality, amounting to £12,900,000
(2022: £12,500,000) for the company financial statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we considereda number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment
and aggregationrisk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amountat the upper end of our normalrange was

appropriate.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £860,000
(2022: £800,000) as well as misstatements below thatamount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Our evaluation ofthe directors’ assessment ofthe company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
included:

e assessing and challengingkey assumptions used by directors in their determination of going concern ofthe
Company;

e assessing the liquidity and capital forecasts prepared by management. This included reviewing the results of stress
testing performed by management ofboth liquidity andregulatory capital, including considering the severity ofthe
stress scenarios that were used; .

e corroboratedlegaland regulatory correspondence with audit procedures performed to ensure there are no compliance

ssuesnoted which may impact the going concern of the Company;
e critically evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures made in the financial statements in relation to going concern.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concem fora period of
at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised forissue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use ofthe going concem basis of accounting in the
preparation ofthe financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company's
ability to continue as a going concem.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities ofthe directors with respectto going concern are described in the relevant sections
of'this report.
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Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all ofthe information in the Annual Report other thanthe financial statements and our auditors’
report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Quropinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and, accordingly, we do notexpress an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in
this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwis e appears to be materially mis stated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement,
we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a
material misstatement ofthe other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these
responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and the Report ofthe Directors, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the
UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course oftheaudit, the Companies A ct 2006 requires us alsoto reportcertain opinions and
matters as described below.

Strategic report and the Report of the Directors

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and the
Report ofthe Directors forthe yearended 31 October2023 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light ofthe knowledge and understanding ofthe company and its environment obtained in the course ofthe audit, we did not
identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and the Report of the Directors.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the financial statements, the directors are
responsible forthe preparation ofthe financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satis fied
that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going

concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis ofaccounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance i
a high level of assurance, butis not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detecta
material misstatementwhen it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud orerror and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respectofirregularities, including fraud. The extent to which
our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding ofthe company and industry, we identified that the principalrisks ofnon-compliance with laws and
regulations related to the rules of the Prudential Regulation Authority ("PRA") and the Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA"),
and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We ako
consideredthoselaws andregulations thathave a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies A ct2006. We
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evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation ofthe financial statements (including the rsk
ofoverride of controls), and determined thatthe principalrisks were related to the mis-marking of financial ins truments, posting
inappropriate journal entries and management bias in accounting estimates, including the valuation of the expected credi loss
provision on loans and advances. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

¢ enquiries of management, internal audit and the audit committee, including consideration of known or suspected instances
of non-compliance with laws and regulation and fraud;

e reviewing key correspondence with regulatory authorities (such as the PRA and the FCA), and meeting annually with the
regulators;

e testing and evaluating management’s entity level controls including board oversight and underlying committee meeting
minutes review, fraud identification, assessing matters reported on the Company's whistleblowing helpline and testing a
sample of management's investigations into matters raised, including the results of management’s investigation of such
matters;

¢ testingdesign and operating effectiveness of controls over journal entries including systemcontrols over journal creation and
approval and Information Technology General Controls testing for the general ledger system;

e testing key controls over areas susceptible to management bias including valuation controls and those surrounding
impairment of loans and advances;

e testing of controls including cash reconciliations, trade confirmations, cancel and amends, those over collateral breaks and
intersystem reconciliations, model reviews, price validation, independent price verification and approval of valuation
adjustments;
identifying and testing journal entries that we assessed as having a higher risk of being fraudulent;
challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their accounting estimates, in particular in relation to the
valuation of defined pensions assets and obligations, fair value of financial instruments and expected credit loss on loans to
customers;

¢ challenging assumptions and judgements in relation to contingent liabilities for legal proceedings, including making direct
enquiries with external counsel; and

¢ incorporating unpredictability into the nature, timing and/or extent of our testing.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations thatare notclosely related toevents and transactions reflected in the financial statements.
Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through
collusion.

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing
techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than testing complkte
populations. We will often seek to targetparticular items for testing based on their size orrisk characteristics. In other cases, we
will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion about the population from which the sample is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:
www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 ofthe Companies A ct 2006 and forno other purpose. Wedo not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume
responsibility forany other purpose orto any other person to whomthis report is shown or into whose hands it may come save

where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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RBC EUROPE LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF RBC EUROPE LIMITED
(CONTINUED) :

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

¢ we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

¢ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or retums adequate for our audit have not been
received frombranches not visited by us; or )

o certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
¢ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment
Following the recommendation ofthe Audit Committee, we were appointed by the directors on 7 June 2016 to audit the financil
statements forthe yearended 31 October2016 and subsequent financial periods. The period oftotal uninterrupted engagement

is 8 years, covering the years ended 31 October 2016 to 31 October 2023.

Lawrence Wilkinson (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

18 December 2023
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RBC EUROPE LIMITED

INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2023

Note 2023 2022

£'000 £000

Interest income 14 2,438,356 782,506
Interest expense 14 (2,389,970) (688,112)
Net interest income 48,386 94,394
Fees and commission income 15 275,441 278,815
Fees and commission expense 15 (88,513) (79,824)
Net fees and commission income 186,928 198,991
Net trading income 16 263,103 172,722
Total operating income 498,417 466,107
Provision fr credit losses: (charge) / credit 24 4,361) 3,878
Net operating income 494,056 469,985
Human resources 17 (182,971) (175,504)
Related party charges & recoveries 18 (129,311) (121,211)
Other operating expenses 19 (84,918) (83,603)
Total operating expenses (397,200) (380,318)
Profit before income tax 96,856 89,667
Income tax 21 (10,993) (8,789)
Net profit . 85,863 80,878

The above statement should be read in conjunction with theaccompanyingnotes on pages 37to 101.
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RBC EUROPE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARENDED 31 OCTOBER 2023

Net profit
Other comprehensive income/(expense)
Items that will be reclassified to profitand loss

Netchangeinunrealised gains/ (losses) on de bt securities at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Unrealised gains / (losses) on debt securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Provision for credit losses recognised in OCI

Deferred tax thereon

Reclassification of net gains on FVOCI debt securities to income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Netchangeinunrealised gains/ (losses) on securities at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Unrealised gains on FVOCI equity instruments

Deferred tax thereon
Netchange in employee be nefit plan

Changes in valuation of post employment benefit assets

Deferred tax thereon

Total comprehensive income attributable to shareholder

The above statement should be read in conjunction with theaccompanying notes onpages 37 to 101.
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2023 2022
£'000 £000
85,863 80,878
512 (551)
8 2)
7 311
(45) (859)
13,289 2,423
(7,922) 1,714
(6,599) (8,374)
1,237 2,194
383 (3,144)
86,246 77,734




RBC EUROPE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2023

£'000

Balance at 1 November 2021

Net profit

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Net change in gains on FVOCI securities
Changes in valuation of post employ ment benefit assets

Dividends on other equities
Balance at 31 October 222 and I November 2022
Net profit

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Net change in gains on FVOCI securities

Changes in valuation of post employ ment benefit assets
Dividends on other equities

Balance at 31 October 223

Other components of equity

Post
Commen Other Capital Share FVOCI employment Other Retained
shares equities contribution  premium securities benefits Reserves earnings Total equity
Note 31 Note 31 Note 20
497,996 299,694 36,619 803 48,817 12,156 98,395 751,212 1,647,297
. - . N - - - 80,878 80,378
- - - - 3,036 - 3,036 - 3,036
. . . . - (6,180) (6,180) - (6,180)
. - - N - - - (17,648) *  (17,648)
497,996 299,694 36,619 803 51,853 5,976 95,251 814,442 1,707,383
- - - - - - - 85,863 85,863
- - - - 5,745 - 5,745 - 5,745
R N . . - (5,362) (5,362) - (5,362)
. . . - - - - (30,127) (30,127)
497,996 299,694 36,619 803 57,598 6i4 95,634 870,178 1,763,502

The above statement should be read in conjunction with theaccompanying notes on pages 37to 101.
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RBC EUROPE LIMITED

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 OCTOBER 2023

ASSETS

Cash and due from banks

Securities
Trading
Investments, net of applicable allowance

Assets purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and securities
borrowed

Loans and advances
Derivative assets

Post employment benefit asset

Other assets

TOTAL ASSEIS

34

Note

22

25

25

23

23
34
20

26

2023 2022

£'000 £'000
9,347,772 10,594,230
4,769,474 3,929,825
203,710 625,402
23,063,695 23,177,413
7,905,674 8,022,378
1,256,698 1,701,873
12,800 18,492
7,453,983 5,243,854
54,013,806 53,313,467




RBC EUROPE LIMITED

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 OCTOBER 2023

2023 2022
Note
LIABILITIES £'000 £'000
Deposits by banks 27 6,811,297 8,540,162
Deposits by customers 27 11,557,114 11,060,215
Obligations related to securities sold sh(;rt 28 3,787,173 2,395,694
Obligations related to assetssold under repurchase agreements and securities
loaned 27 21,267,109 22,634,814
Derivative liabilities 34 1,148,184 1,636,975
Other liabilities 29 7,596,980 5,251,277
Subordinated liabilities 30 82,447 86,947
TOTAL LIABILITIES . 52,250,304 51,606,084
Common shares 31 497,996 497,996
Other equity 31 299,694 299,694
~ Retained earnings ' 870,178 814,442
Other reserves 95,634 95,251
TOTAL EQUITY 1,763,502 1,707,383
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 54,013,806 53,313,467

The above statement should be read in conjunction with theaccompanying notes onpages 37to 101.

The financial statements on pages 31 to 101 were approved and authorisedto be issued by the Company’s Board of Directors on
14 December 2023 and were signed on their behalfby:

D. Thomas, Director
18 December2023 18 December2023

COMPANY NO. 995939
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RBC EUROPE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2023

2023 2022
Restated*
Note £'000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit 85,863 80,878
Adjustments for non-cash items and others
Change in provision for credit losses 4,208 3,941
Deferred income taxes ) (1,294) 3,329
Interest on subordinated liabilities (shown in cash flows from financing activities) 4,890 1,637
Change in subordinated liabilities due to foreign exchange (4,502) 13,996
Adjustments for changes in operating activities
Changes in trading securities (839,649) 429,656
Changes in net investment securities 435,458 874,318
Change in assets purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and securities
borrowed 113,718 488,671
Changes in loans and advances 112,497 (992,291)
Changes in derivative assets 445,175 (177,407)
Change in post employment benefit asset 907) (502)
Net change in settlement accounts 23,662 849,133
Change in prepayments, accrued income and other 167,452 (424,608)
Change in deposits by banks* (1,682,729) (284,402)
Change in deposits by customers 496,899 5,460,122
Change in obligations relatedto securities sold short 1,391,479 (1,638,627)
Change in obligations relatéd assets sold under repurchase agreements and securities
loaned (1,367,705) 398,468
Changes in derivative liabilities (488,791) 227,115
Change in accruals and deferred income 14,814 61,191
Change in other liabilities (75,842) 269,263
Netcash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (1,165,304) 5,643,881
Cash flows from investing activities
Netcash from investing activities ' - -
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest on subordinated liabilities (4,890) (1,637)
Dividends on other equity (30,127) (17,648)
Netcash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities (35,017) (19,285)
Effect of exchange rate changeson cash and due from banks* (46,137) -+ (202,274)
Net(decrease)/increasein cash and cash equivalents (1,200,321) 5,624,596
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 10,594,230 5,171,908
Cash and cashequivalents atend of year 22 9,347,772 10,594,230
Netcash (usedin)/generated from operatingactivitiesinclude:
Interest paid (2,331,032) (582,437)
Interest received 2,259,583 687,684
Income taxes paid (3,829) (26,053)

*See note 1(f) for details regarding the restatement.
The above statement should be read in conjunction with theaccompanying notes onpages 37to 101.

The Company’s financing cash flows forthe yearhave been disclosed within the StatementofCash Flows. Given the nature of
the Company’s activities, the financing liabilities relate to subordinated liabilities disclosed in Note 30. The movement in
financing liabilities is similar to change in subordinated debt Labilities due to foreign exchange disclosed in the cash flow
statement within non-cash items. Hence a separate net debt reconciliation is not required to be prepared.
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RBC EUROPE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2023

a)

b)

€)

a)

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards and in
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The accounting policies set out below were consistently
applied to allyears presented. The Company is a private company limited by shares incorporated in United Kingdomand
its financial statements are presented in compliance with the Companies Act 2006. The Company’s registered and
domiciled address is 100 Bishopsgate, London, England, United Kingdom, EC2N 4AA.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historic cost convention modified by revaluation of financial assets
and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit and loss (including derivatives used for hedging) and financial
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Company’s business activities, together with factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position
are set out in the Report of the Directors. The Company’s financial and other risk management objectives, policies and
processes formanaging its capital, and details ofits financial instruments and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk
are described in Notes 4 to 9 of the financial statements.

The Company’s management has made an assessment ofits ability to continue as a going concemn and s satisfied that it

. has theresources tocontinue in business for the foreseeable future fora period of at least 12 months fromthe date of the

approval ofthe financial statements. Furthermore, management is not aware of any materialuncertainties that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Company continues to adopt
the going concem basis in preparing the annual report and financial statements.

In preparing the Company’s financial statements, management is required to make subjective estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, net income and related disclosures. Estimates made by management
are based on historical experience and other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable. Key sources of estimation
uncertainty include: determination of fair value of financial instruments (Note 12) and pensions and other post-
employment benefits (Note 20). Within these notes, the Company has assessed the relevant sensitivities and significant

assumptions. Accordingly, actual results may differ from these and other estimates thereby impacting the Company’s
financial statements. Refer to the relevantaccounting policies in Note 3 for details on the use of estimates and assumptions.

In preparing these financial statements, managementis required to make critical judgements that affect the carrying
amounts of Level3 financial instruments and the reported amounts ofrevenues and expenses recorded during the year.
Critical judgements have been made in the determination ofthe fair value ofthe financial instruments which are
describedin the relevant accounting policies in Note 3. In addition, managementis required to make critical
judgements on the outcome oflegal proceeding or regulatory matters.

These financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling, the Company’s functional currency, and all values are
roundedto thenearest thousand except where otherwise indicated.

The Company has retrospectively adjusted the Statement of Cashflows for2022 to conformwith the disclosure
requirements of IAS 7. The restatement reclassifies certain movements for changes in cash and due frombanks due to
foreign exchange.

Changes to accounting policies

New and amended standards adopted by the Company

There were no new standards adopted by the Company in the year.
New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

There are no new standards issued that have not been adopted.

Significant accounting policies

The significant accounting polices used in the preparation of these Financial Statements are summarised below. These
accounting policies conform, in allmaterial res pects, to IFRS. Except where otherwise noted, the same accounting policies
have been applied to all years presented.

Classification of financial assets
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RBC EUROPE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2023

b)

Financialassets are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are classified and subsequently measured at fair value
through profit orloss (FVTPL), fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) oramortised cost based onthe
businessmodel formanaging the financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.

Debt instruments are measured at amortised costifboth of the following conditions are met and the asset is not designated
as FVTPL: (a) the asset is held within a business model that is Held-to-Collect (HTC) as described below, and (b) the
contractualterms ofthe instrument give riseto cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding (SPPI).

Debt instruments are measured at FVOCI if both of the following conditions are met and the asset is not designated as
FVTPL: (a) the assetis held within a business model that is Held-to-Collect-and-Sell (HTC&S) as described below, and
(b) the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are SPPL

All other debt instruments are measured at FVTPL.

Equity instruments are measured at FVTPL, unless the asset is not held fortrading purposes and the Company makes an
irrevocable election to designate the asset as FVOCI. This election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Business model assessment

The Company determines its business models at the level that best reflects how the Company manages portfolios of
financial assets toachievebusiness objectives. Judgementis used in determining the business models, which is supported
by relevant, objective evidence including:

e How the economic activities of the Company’s businesses generate benefits, for example through trading
revenue, enhancing yields orhedging funding or other costs and how such economic activities are evaluated and
reported to key management personnel;

e Thesignificantrisks affecting the performance ofthebusinesses, for example, Market risk, Credit risk, or Other

" risks as described in Notes 4 to 9, and the activities undertaken to manage those risks;

e Historical and future expectations of sales ofthe loans or secuntles portfolios managed as partofa business
model;

e Thecompensationstructures formanagers ofbusinesses, to the extent that these are directly linked to the
economic performance of the business model.

SPPI assessment

Instruments held within a HTC or HTC&S business model are assessed to evaluate if their contractual cash flows are
comprised ofsolely payments of principal and interest. SPPI payments are those which would typically be expected from
basic lending arrangements. Principal amounts include par repayments from lending and financing arrangements, and
interest primarily relates to basic lending retums, including compensation for credit risk and the time value of money
associated with the principal amount outstanding over a period oftime. Interest can also include other basic lending risks
and costs (forexample, liquidity risk, servicing or administrative costs) associated with holding the financialasset fora
period of time, and a profit margin.

Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or variability of cash flows that are inconsistent with a basic
lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL.

Financial instruments - recognition and measurement
Securities

Trading securities include all securities that are classified as FVTPL by nature and securities designated as FVTPL.
Obligations to deliver trading securities sold but not yet purchased are recorded as liabilities and carried at fair vale.
Realised and unrealised gains and losses on these securities are generally recorded as Trading revenue in Non-interest
income. Dividends and interestincome accrued oninterestbearing and trading s ecurities are recorded in Interest income.
Interest and dividends accrued on interest-bearing and equity securities sold short are recorded in Interest expense.

Investment securities include all securities classified as FVOCI and amortised cost. Allinvestment securities are initially
recorded at fair value and subsequently measured according to the respective classification.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Investment securities carried at amortised cost are measured using the effective interest method, and are presented net of
any allowance for credit losses, calculated in accordance with the Company’s policy for Allowance for credit losses, as
described below. Interest income, including the amortisation of premiums and discounts on securities measured at
amortised cost are recorded in Net interestincome. Impairment gains or losses recognised on amortised cost securities i
recorded in Provision for credit losses. When a debt instrument measured at amortised cost is sold, the difference between
the sale proceeds and the amortised cost of the security at the time of the sale is recorded as Net gains/ (losses) on
derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost.

Debt securities carried at FVOCI are measured at fair value with unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value included in Other components of equity. Impairment gains and losses are included in Provision for credit losses and
correspondingly reduce the accumulated changes in fair value included in Other components of equity. When a debt
instrument measured at FVOCI is sold, the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from Other components of equity to
Income Statement.

Equity securities carried at FVOCI are measured at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value are recorded in Other components of equity and not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss when realised.
Dividends from FVOCI equity securities are recognised in Interest mcome.

Trade date accounting

All financial assets are recognised on the trade date which is the date when the Company enters into contractual
arrangements with counterparties to purchase or sell the financial assets.

Fair value option

A financialinstrument with a reliably measurable fair value can be designated as FVTPL (the fair value option)on its
initial recognition evenifthe financial instrument was not acquired or incurred principally forthe purpose of selling or
repurchasing. The fair value option can beused for financial assets if it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement
or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities, or recognising related gains
and losses on a different basis (an accounting mismatch). The fair value option can be elected for financial liabilities if:
(i) the election eliminates an accounting mismatch; (i) the financial liability is part of a portfolio that is managed on a
fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy; or (iii) there is an embedded
derivative in thefinancial or non-financial host contract and the derivative is not closely related to the host contract. These
instruments cannot be reclassified out of the FVTPL category while they are held or issued.

Financialassets designated as at FVTPL are recordedat fair value and any unrealised gain or loss arising due to changes
in fair value is included in Net trading income.

Financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL are recorded at fair value and fair value changes attributable to changes in
its own credit risk are recorded in OCIL. Own credit risk amounts recognised in OCI will not be reclassified subsequently
to Net income. The remaining fair value changes not attributable to changes in its own credit risk are recorded in Trading
revenue or Non-interest income — Other, depending onthe Company’s business purpose forholding the financial liability.
Upon initialrecognition, iftthe Company determines that presenting the effects of own credit risk changes in OCI would
create orenlarge an accounting mismatch in net income, the full fair value changein the debt instruments designated as
at FVTPL is recognised in net income. To make that determination, the Company assesses whether it expects that the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk will be offset in profit or loss by a change in the fair value of another
financial instrument measured at FVTPL. Such an expectation is based on an economic relationship between the
characteristics ofthe liability and the characteristics ofthe other financial instrument. The determination is made at initial
recognition andis notreassessed. To determine the fair value adjustments on the debt instruments designated as at FVTPL,

the Company calculates the present value of the instruments based on the contractual cash flows over the term of the
arrangement by using the effective funding rate at the beginning and end of the period.

Determination of fair value

The fair value ofa financial instrument is the price that would be received to sellan asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Company determines fair value by
incorporating all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price, including commonly accepted
valuation approaches.
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The Board of Directors provides oversight on valuation of financial instruments, primarily throughthe A udit Committee
and Risk Committee. The Audit Committee reviews the presentation and disclosure of financial instruments that are
measured at fairvalue, while the Risk Committee assesses the adequacy of governance structures and control processes
for the valuation of these instruments.

The Company has established policies, procedures and controls for valuation methodologies and techniques to ensure
that fair value is reasonably estimated. Major valuation processes and controls include, but are not limited to, profit and
loss decomposition, Independent Price Verification (IPV) and model validation standards. These control processes are
managed by either Finance or Group Risk Management and are independent of the relevant businesses and their trading
functions. Profit and loss decomposition is a process to explain the fair value changes of certain positions and is performed
daily for trading portfolios. All fair value instruments are subject to IPV, a process whereby trading function valuations
are verified against external market prices and other relevant market data. Market data sources include traded prices,
brokers and price vendors. The Company gives priority to those third-party pricing services and prices having the highest
and most consistent accuracy. The level of accuracy is determined over time by comparing third-party price vales to
traders’ or system values, to other pricing service values and, when available, to actual trade data. Quoted prices for
identical instruments from pricing services or brokers are generally not adjusted unless there are issues such as stak
prices. If multiple quotes foridentical instruments are received, fair value is based on an average ofthe prices received
orthe quote fromthe mostreliable vendor, after the outlier prices that fall outside of the pricing range are removed. Other
valuation techniques are used when a price or quote is not available. Some valuation processes use models to determine
fair value. The Company has a systematic and consistent approach to control the use of models. Valuation modek are
approved for use within the Company’s model risk management framework. The framework addresses, among other
things, model development standards, validation processes and procedures and approval authorities. Model validation
ensures that amodelis suitable forits intended use and sets parameters for its use. Allmodels are revalidated regularly
by qualified personnel who are independent ofthe model design and development. Anhnually, the Company’s modelrisk
profile is reported to the Board of Directors.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement permits an exception, through an accounting policy choice, to measure the fair vahie
of a portfolio of financial instruments on a net open risk position basis when certain criteria are met.

The Company has elected tousethis policy choice to determine the fair value of certain portfolios of financial instruments,
primarily derivatives, based on a net exposure to market or credit risk.

The Company records valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect counterparty credit quality ofits derivative portfolio,
differences between the actual counterparty collateral discount curve and standard Ovemight Index Swaps (OIS)
discounting for: collateralised derivatives, funding valuation adjustments (FVA) for uncollateralised and
undercollateralised over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives, unrealised gains or losses at inception of the transaction, bid-
offer spreads, unobservable parameters and model limitations. These adjustments may be subjective as they require
significant judgement in the input selection, such as implied probability of default andrecovery rate, and are intended to
arrive at a fair value that is determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the financil
instrument. The realised price for a transaction may be different from its recorded value, previously estimated using
management judgement. Valuation adjustments may therefore impact unrealised gains and losses recognised in Net
trading income.

Valuation adjustments are recorded for the credit risk of the derivative portfolios in order to arrive at their fair values.
Credit valuation adjustments (CVA) take into account the counterparties’ creditworthiness, the current and potential
future mark-to-market of transactions, and the effects of credit mitigation such as master netting and collateral
agreements. CVA amounts are derived fromestimates of exposure at default, probability of default, recovery rateson a
counterparty basis, and market and credit factor correlations. Exposure at default is the value of expected derivative
related assets and liabilities at the time of default, estimated throughmodelling using underlying risk factors. Probabilty
of default and recovery rate are implied from the market prices for credit protection and the credit ratings of the
counterparty. Whenmarket data is unavailable, it is estimated by incorporating assumptions and adjustments that market
participants would use for determining fair value using these inputs. Correlation is the statistical measure ofhow credit
and market factors may move in relation to oneanother. Correlation s estimatedusing historical data. CVA is calculated
daily and changes are recorded in Net trading income.
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FVA are also calculated to incorporate the cost and benefit of funding in the valuation of uncollateralised and under
collateralised OTC derivatives. Future expected cash flows of these derivatives are discounted to reflect the cost and
benefit of funding the derivatives by using a funding curve, implied volatilities and correlations as inputs.

Where required, a valuation adjustmentis made to reflecttheunrealised gain or loss at inception ofa financial instrument
contractwhere the fair value ofthat financial instrument is notobtained froma quoted market price or cannot be evidenced
by other observable market transactions based on a valuation technique incorporating observable market data.

A bid-offer valuation adjustment is required when a financial instrumentis valued at the mid-market price, instead of the
bid oroffer price forassetor liability positions, respectively. The valuation adjustmenttakes into accountthe spread from
the mid to either the bid or offer price.

Some valuation models require parameter calibration from such factors as market observable option prices. The
calibration of parameters may be sensitive to factors such as the choice of instruments or optimisation methodology. A
valuation adjustment is also estimated to mitigate the uncertainties of parameter calibration and mode]l limitations.

In determining fair value, a hierarchy is used which prioritises the inputs to valuation techniques. The fair value hierarchy
gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets foridentical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the
lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). '

Determination of fair value based on this hierarchy requires the use of observable market data whenever available. Level
1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability
to access at the measurement date. Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets,
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, and model inputs that are either
observable, or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
Level 3 inputs are one or more inputs that are unobservable and significant to the fair value of the asset or liability.
Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value to the extent that observable inputs are not available at the
measurement date. Theavailability of inputs relevant to the asset or liability and therelativereliability ofthe inputs might
affect the selection of appropriate valuation techniques. The classification ofa financial instrument in the hierarchy for
disclosure purposes is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the measurement of fair value.

Where observable prices or inputs are not available, management judgement is required to determine fair values by
assessing otherrelevant sources of information such as historical data, proxy information fromsimilar transactions, and
through extrapolation and interpolation techniques. For more complex or illiquid instruments, significant judgement &
required in the determination of the model used, the selection of model inputs, and in some cases the application of
valuation adjustments to themodel value or quoted price for inactively traded financial instruments, as the selectiori may
be subjective and the inputs may be unobservable. Unobservable inputs are inherently uncertain as there is little or no
market data available fromwhich to determine the levelat which an arm’s length transaction would occur undernormmal
business circumstances. Appropriate parameter uncertainty and market risk valuation adjustments for such inputs and
other model risk valuation adjustments are assessed in all such instances.

Loans and advances

Loans are debt instruments recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently measured in accordance with the
Classification of financial assets policy provided above. The majority ofthe loans are carried at amortised costusing the
effective interest method, which represents the gross carrying amount less allowance for credit losses.

Interest on loans is recognised in Interest income using the effective interest method. The estimated future cash flows
used in this calculation include those determined by the contractualterm of the asset and all fees that are considered to
be integral to the effective interest rate. Also included in this amount are transaction costs and all other premiums or
discounts. Fees thatrelate to activities such as originating, restructuring or renegotiating loans are deferred and recognised
as Interest income over the expected term of such loans using the effective interest method.

Funded sub-participations are derecognized where derecognition criteria are met and unfunded risk sub-participated loans
continue to be recognised on balance sheet. Associated sub-participation fees on risk sub-participations are reported
within interest income as part of the effective interest rate on the loan.
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Forloans carried at amortised costor FVOCI, impairment losses are recognised at each balance sheetdate in accordance
with the three-stage impairment model outlined below. ‘

Allowance for credit losses

An Allowance for Credit Losses (ACL) is established for all financial instruments, except for financial assets classified
or designated as FVTPL and equity securities designated as FVOCI, which are not subject to impairment assessment.
Assets subject to impairment assessment include certain loans, debt securities and accrued interest receivable. ACL on
loans is presented in Allowance for loan losses. ACL on debt securities measured at FVOCI is presented in Other
components ofequity. Other financial assets carried at amortised cost are presented net of ACL on Balance Sheet.

Off-balance sheet items subject to impairment assessment include financial guarantees and undrawn loan commitments.
For certain wealth management products, expected credit losses are measured based on the total exposure and are not
attributable to the on- and off-balance sheet components. For these products, ACL is presented in Allowance for Loan
Losses to the extent that ACL does not exceed the related loan balance, and thereafter presented in Other Liabilities —
Provisions. Forall other off-balance sheet products subjectto impairment assessment, ACL is separately calculated and
included in Other Liabilities — Provisions.

The Company interacts with the Group when calculating expected credit losses utilising its scale and sophistication of
modelling processes as wellas governance structure in order to measure the ACL on each balance sheet date according
to a three-stage expected credit loss impairment model:

Performing financial assets
+ Stage 1 — From initial recognition of a financial asset to the date on which the asset has experienced a significant
increase in credit risk relative to its initial recognition, a 1083 allowance is 1ecuginised cqual to tho credit losses
expected to result from defaults occurring over the 12 months following the reporting date.
+ Stage 2— Following a significant increase in credit risk relative to the initial recognition of the financialasset, a loss

allowance is recognised equal to the credit losses expected over the remaining lifetime of the asset.

Impaired financial assets
+ Stage 3— When a financial asset is considered to be credit-impaired, a loss allowance is recognised equal to credit
losses expected over the remaining lifetime of the asset. Interestrevenue is calculated based on the carrying amount
of'the asset, net of the loss allowance, rather than on its gross carrying amount.

The ACL is a discounted probability-weighted estimate of the cash shortfalls expected to resuit from defaults over the
relevant time horizon. For loan commitments, credit loss estimates consider the portion of the commitment that is
expected to be drawn over the relevant time period. For financial guarantees, credit loss estimates are based on the
expected payments required under the guarantee contract.

Increases ordecreases in the required A CL attributable to purchases and new originations, derecognitions or maturities,
and remeasurements due to changes in loss expectations or stage transfers are recorded in Provision for credit losses.
Write-offs and recoveries of amounts previously written off are recorded against ACL.

The ACL represents an unbiased estimate of expected credit losses on the financial assets as at the balance sheet date.
Judgementis required in making assumptions and estimations when calculating the A CL, including movements between
the three stages and the application of forward looking information. The underlying assumptions and estimates may result
in changes to the provisions from year to year that significantly affect the Company’s results of operations.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are based on arange of possible outcomes and consider all available reasonable and supportable
information including internal and external ratings, historical credit loss experience and expectations about future cash
flows. The measurement of expected credit losses is based primarily on the product of the instrument’s probability of
default (PD), loss given default (LGD), and exposure at default (EAD) discounted to the reporting date. The main
difference between Stage 1 and Stage2 expected credit losses for performing financial assets is the respective calculation
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horizon. Stage 1 estimates project PD, LGD and EAD over a maximum period of 12 months while Stage 2 estimates
project PD, LGD and EAD over the remaining lifetime of the instrument.

An expected credit loss estimate is produced for each individual exposure. Relevant parameters are modelled on a
collective basis using portfolio segmentation that allows for appropriate incorporation of forward looking information.
To reflect other characteristics that are not already considered throughmodelling, expert credit judgement is exercised in
determining the final expected credit losses.

Expected life

Forinstruments in Stage2 or Stage 3, loss allowances reflect expected credit losses over the expectedremaining lifetime
of the instrument. For most instruments, the expected life is limited to the remaining contractual life.

An exemption is provided for certain instruments with the following characteristics: (a) the instrument includes both a
loan and undrawn commitment component; (b) the Company has the contractual ability to demandrepayment and cancel
the undrawn commitment; and (c) the exposure to credit losses is not limited to the contractualnotice period. For products
in scope ofthis exemption, the expected life may exceed the remaining contractual life and is the period over which the
exposure to credit losses is not mitigated by the Company’s normal credit risk management actions. This period varies
by productandrisk category and is estimated based onthehistorical experience with similar exposures and consideration
of credit risk management actions taken as part ofthe Company’s regular credit review cycle. Products in scope ofths
exemption include certain revolving lines of credit. Judgement s required in determining the instruments in scope for this
exemption and estimating the appropriate remaining life based on the Company’s historical experience and credit rsk
mitigation practices.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

The assessment of significant increase in credit risk requires significant judgement. Movements between Stage 1 and
Stage 2 are based on whether an instrument’s credit risk as at thereporting datehas increased significantly relative to the
date it was initially recognised. Forthe purposes ofthis assessment, credit risk is based on an instrument’s lifetime PD,
not the losses that the Company expects to incur. The assessment is generally performed at the instrument level.

Assessment of significant increases in credit risk is performed at least quarterly based on three factors. If any of the
following factors indicates that a significantincrease in credit risk has occurred, the instrumentis moved from Stage 1to
Stage 2:

» The Company has established thresholds for significant increases in credit risk based on both a percentage and
absolute changein lifetime PD relative to initial recognition.

+ Additional qualitative reviews may be performed, as necessary, to assess the staging results, which may lead to
adjustments to better reflect the positions whose credit risk has increased significantly. These reviews are completed at
both the individual borrower levels and the portfolio level and may result in an instrument, a portfolio ora portion ofa
portfolio moving from Stage 1 to Stage 2. -

+ Instruments which are 30 days past due are generally considered to have experienced a significant increase in credi
risk, even if the Company’s other metrics do not indicate that a significant increase in credit risk has occurred.

For certain instruments with low credit risk as at the reporting date, it is presumed that credit risk has not increased
significantly relative to initial recognition.

Credit risk is considered to be low if the instrument has a low risk of default, and the borrower has the ability to fulfi
their contractual obligations both in the near term and in the longer term, including periods of adverse changes in the

economic or business environment. Certain interest-bearing deposits with banks have been identified as having low credi
risk.

Use of forward-looking information
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The measurement of Expected credit losses for each stage and the assessment of significant increase in credit risk
considers information about pastevents and current conditions as well as reasonable and s upportable projections of future
events and economic conditions. The estimation and application of forward-looking information requires significant
judgement.

The PD, LGD and EAD inputs used to estimate Stage 1 and Stage 2 credit loss allowances are modelled based on the
macroeconomic variables (or changes in macroeconomic variables) that are most closely correlated with credit losses in
the relevant portfolio. Each macroeconomic scenario used in the Company’s expected credit loss calculation includes a
projection of all relevant macroeconomic variables used in the Company’s models for a five year period, subsequently
reverting to long-run averages. Macroeconomic variables used in the Company’s expected credit loss models include, but
are not limited to, gross domestic product, unemployment rates, bond yields, equity returnindices, commercial real estate
indices, and commodity prices.

Estimation of Expected credit losses in Stage 1 and Stage 2 is a discounted probability-weighted estimate that considers
a minimum of three future macroeconomic scenarios. The base case scenario is based on macroeconomic forecasts
published by RBC internal economics group. The published forecasts are developed from models based on historical
macroeconomic data, derived frompublic sources and financial markets. Upside and downside s cenarios vary relative to
the Company’s base case scenario based on reasonably possible alternative macroeconomic conditions. Additional and
more severe downside scenarios are designed to capture material non-linearity of potential credit losses in portfolios.
Scenario design, including the identification of additional downside s cenarios, occurs atleast on an annual basis and more
frequently if conditions warrant.

Scenarios are designed to capture a wide range of possible outcomes and weighted according to the Company’s best
estimate of the relative likelihood of the range of outcomes that each scenario represents. Scenario weights take into
account historical frequency, current trends, and forward-looking conditions and are updated on a quarterly basis. Al
scenarios considered are applied to all portfolios subject to expected credit losses with the same probabilities.

Assessment of significant increases in credit risk is based on changes in probability-weighted forward-looking lifetime
PD as at the reporting date, using the same macroeconomic scenarios as the calculation of expected credit losses.

Definition of default

The definition of default used in the measurement of expected credit losses is consistent with the definition of default
used forthe Company’s internal credit risk management purposes. The Company’s definition of default may differ across
products and consider both quantitative and qualitative factors, such as the terms of financial covenants and days past
due. Forretailand wholesale borrowers, exceptas detailed below, default occurs when theborrower is more than 90 days
past dueonany material obligation tous, and/orthe Company considers theborrower unlikely to make their payments in
full without recourse action onthe Company’s part, such as taking formal possession of any collateralheld. The definition
ofdefault used is applied consistently fromperiod to periodandto all financial instruments unless it can be demonstrated
that circumstances have changed such that another definition of default is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets (Stage 3)

Financialassets are assessed for credit-impairment at each balance sheet date and more frequently when circumstances
warrant further assessment. Evidence of credit-impairment may include indications that the borrower is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, probability of bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, as well as a measurabk
decrease in the estimated future cash flows evidenced by the adverse changes in the payments status ofthe borrower or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults. An asset that is in Stage 3 will move back to Stage 2 when, as at the
reporting date, it is no longer consideredto be credit-impaired. The asset will transferback to Stagel when its credit risk
at the reporting date is no longer considered to have increased significantly frominitial recognition, which could occur
during the same reporting year as the transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2.

When a financial asset has been identified as credit-impaired, Expected credit losses are measured as the difference

between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
instrument’s original effective interestrate. For impaired financial assets with drawn and undrawn components, Expected
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credit losses alsoreflect any credit losses related tothe portion of the loan commitment thatis expected to bedrawn down
over the remaining life of the instrument. When a financial asset is credit-impaired, interest ceases to be recognised on
the regularaccrualbasis, which accrues income based onthe gross carrying amount ofthe asset. Rather, interest income
is calculatedby applyingthe originaleffective interestrate to the amortised costofthe asset, which is the gross carrying
amount less the related ACL. Following impairment, interest income is recognised ontheunwinding ofthe discount from
the initial recognition of impairment.

ACL for credit-impaired loans in Stage3 are established at the borrower level, where losses related to impaired loans are
identified on individually significant loans, or collectively assessed and determined through the use of portfolio-based
rates, without reference to particular loans.

Individually assessed loans (Stage 3)
When individually significant loans are identified as impaired, the Company reduces the carrying value of the loans to

their estimated realizable value by recording an individually assessed ACL to cover identified credit losses. The
individually assessed A CLreflects theexpectedamount ofprincipal and interest calculated under theterms of the original
loan agreementthat willnot be recovered, and the impact oftime delays in collecting principal and/or interest (time value
of money). The estimated realizable value for each individually significant loan is the present value of expected future
cash flows discounted using the original effective interest rate for each loan. When the amounts and timing of future cash
flows cannot be estimated with reasonable reliability, the estimated realizable amount may be determined using
observable market prices for comparable loans, the fair value of collateralunderlying theloans, and other reas onablk and
supported methods based on management judgement,

Individually-assessed allowances are established in consideration of a range of possible outcomes, which may include
mMAacroeconomic or non-macroeconomic scenarios, to the extent relevant to the circumstances of the specific borrower
being assessed. A ssumptions used in estimating expected future cash flows reflect current and expected future economic
conditions and are generally consistent with those used in Stage 1 and Stage 2 measurement.

Significant judgement is required in assessing evidence of credit-impairment and estimation ofthe amount and timing of
future cash flows when determining expected credit losses. Changes in the amount expected to berecovered would have
a direct impact on the Provision for credit losses and may result in a change in the ACL.

Write-off of loans

Loans andtherelated ACL are written off, either partially orin full, when thereis norealistic prospectofrecovery. Where
loans are secured, they are generally written off after receipt of any proceeds from the realization of collateral. In
circumstances where the netrealizable value ofany collateral has been determined and there is noreasonable expectation
of further recovery, write off may be earlier.

Modifications

The original terms ofa financialasset may be renegotiated or otherwise modified, resulting in changes to the contractual
terms of the financialassetthataffect the contractual cash flows. The treatment of suchmodifications is primarily based
on the process undertaken to execute the renegotiation and the nature and extent of changes expected to result.
Modifications which are performed for credit reasons, primarily related to troubled debt restructurings, are generally
treated as modifications ofthe original financial asset. Modifications which are performed for otherthan credit reasons
are generally considered to be an expiry of the original cash flows; accordingly, such renegotiations are treated as a
derecognition of the original financial asset and recognition of a new financial asset.

If a modification ofterms does not result in derecognition ofthe financialasset, the carrying amountofthe financial asset
is recalculated as the present value of the renegotiated or modified contractual cash flows, discounted at the original
effective interestrate and a gain or loss is recognised. The financialasset continues to be subjectto the same assessments
forsignificant increase in credit risk relative to initial recognition and credit-impairment, as described above. A modified
financial ass et will trans fer out of Stage 3 if the conditions that led to it being identified as credit-impaired are no longer
presentand relate objectively to an event occurring after the original credit-impairment was recognised. A modified
financial asset will transfer out of Stage 2 when it no longer satisfies the relative thresholds set to identify significant
increases in credit risk, which are based on changes in its lifetime PD, days pastdueand other qualitative considerations.
The financial asset continues to be monitored for significant increases in credit risk and credit-impairment.
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If a modification ofterms results in derecognition ofthe original financial assetand recognition ofthe new financial asset,
the new financialasset will generally be recorded in Stage 1, unless it is determined to be credit-impaired at the time of
the renegotiation. For the purposes of assessing for significant increases in credit risk, the date ofinitial recognition for
the new financial asset is the date of the modification.

Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognised from the Balance Sheet when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets
have expired, when the Company retains the rights to receive the cash flows ofthe assets but assume an obligation to pay
thosecash flows to a third party subject to certain pass-through requirements or when the contractualrights toreceive the
cash flows and substantially all of the risk and rewards of the assets have been transferred. When the Company retains
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred assets are not derecognised from the
Balance Sheet and are accounted for as secured financing transactions. When the Company neither retains nor transfers
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the assets, the Company derecognises the assets if control over the
assets is relinquished. If the Company retains control over thetransferred assets, the Company continues torecognise the
transferred assets to the extent of its continuing involvement.

Management’s judgementis applied in determining whether the contractualrights to the cash flows fromthe transfemred
assets have expired or whether the Company retains therights toreceive cash flows on the assets but assumes an obligation
to pay those cash flows. The Company derecognises transferred financial assets if it trans fers substantially all the risk and
rewards ofownerships assets. When assessing whether it has transferred substantially all of the risk and rewards ofthe
transferred assets, management considers the entity exposure before and after the transfer with the variability in the
amount and timing of the net cash flows of the transferred assets. In transfers that the Company retains the servicing
rights, management has applied judgement in assessing the benefits of servicing against market expectations. Whenthe
benefits of servicing are greater than fair market value, a servicing assetis recognised in Other assets in the Balance Sheet.
When thebenefits of servicing are less than fair market value, a servicing liability is recognised in Other liabilities in the
Balance Sheet.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Company derecognises a financial liability from its Balance Sheet when the obligation specified in the contract
expires, oris discharged orcancelled. The Company recognises the difference between the carryingamountofa financil
liability transferred and the consideration paid in the Income Statement.

Transaction costs

Transaction costs are expensed as incurred for financial instruments classified or designated as at FVTPL. For other
financial instruments, transaction costs are capitalised on initialrecognition. For financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost and debt financial assets measured at FVOCI, capitalised transaction costs are amortsed
through net income over the estimated life of the instrument using the effective interest method.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are presented netwhenthe Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognisedamounts and intend to either settle on a net basis orto realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Assets purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and sold under repurchase agreements

The Company purchases securities under agreements to resell (reverse repurchase agreement) and takes possession of
these securities. Reverse repurchase agreements are treated as collateralised lending transactions whereby the market
value ofthe securities purchased is monitored and additional collateralis obtained when appropriate. The Company has
the right to liquidate the collateral held in the event of counterparty default. The Company also sells securities under
agreements to repurchase (repurchase agreements), which are treated as collateralised borrowing transactions.

The securities received under reverse repurchase agreements and securities delivered under repurchase agreements are
not recognised on, or derecognised from, the Balance Sheet, unless the risks and rewards of ownership are obtained or
relinquished.

46



RBC EUROPE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2023

Reverse repurchase agreements and repurchase agreements are designated using the fair value option as at FVTPL and
are recorded at fair value. Interest eamed on reverse repurchase agreements is included in Interest income, and interest
incurred on repurchase agreements is included in Interestexpenserespectively, in the Income Statement. Changes in fair
value for reverse repurchase agreements and repurchase agreements carried at fair value under the fair value option are
included in Net trading income.

Derivatives

When derivatives are embedded in other financial instruments or host contracts, such combinations are known as hybnd
instruments. Some of the cash flows ofa hybrid instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone derivative. Ifthe host
contractis a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9, the classification and measurement criteria are applied to theentrre
hybrid instrument as described in the Classification of financial assets section ofthis note. Ifthe host contractis a financil
liability oran asset thatis not within the scope of IFRS 9, embedded derivatives are separately recognised if the economic
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not clearly and closely related to the host contract, unlkss an
election has been madeto elect the fair value option, as described above. The host contract is accounted for in accordance
with the relevant standards.

Derivatives are primarily used in trading activities. Derivatives are also used to manage the Company’s exposure to
interest, currency, credit and other market risks. The most frequently used derivative products are interest rate and foreign
exchange swaps, options, futures, and forward rate agreements, equity swaps and credit derivatives. All derivative
instruments are recorded on the Balance Sheets at fair value.

When derivatives are used to manage the Company’s own exposures, the Company determines for each derivative
whether hedge accounting can be applied, as discussed in the Hedge accounting section below.

Hedge accounting

The Company has elected to continue toapply thehedge accounting principles under IA S 39 instead of those under IFRS
9. The Company uses derivatives to manageits exposure to interest rate, currency, credit and other market risks. Where
hedge accounting is applied, ahedge relationship is designated and documented at inception to detail the particularrisk
management objective and the strategy for undertaking the hedge transaction. The documentation identifies the specific
asset, liability or anticipated cash flows being hedged, the risk that is being hedged, the type ofhedging instrumentused
and how effectiveness will be assessed. The Company assesses, both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, whetherthe hedging instruments have been ‘highly effective’ in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows
of the hedged items. A hedge is regarded as highly effective only ifthe following criteria are met: (i) at inception ofthe
hedge and throughoutits life, the hedge is expected tobe highly effectivein achieving offsetting changes in fair value or
cash flows attributable to the hedged risk, and (ii) actual results of the hedge are within a pre-determined range. The
Company performs retrospective assessments to demonstrate that therelationship has been effective since designation of
the hedgeand prospective as sessments to evaluate whether thehedge is expectedto be effective overthe remaining tem
ofhedge. In the caseofhedging a forecast transaction, the transactionmusthave a high probability of occurring and must
presentan exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect the reported netprofit or loss. Hedge accounting
is discontinued prospectively when it is determined that the hedging instrument is no longer effective as a hedge, the
hedging instrument is terminated orsold, orupon the sale or early termination of the hedged item, or when the forecast
transaction is no longer deemed highly probable.

Fair value hedges

In a fair value hedgingrelationship, the carrying value ofthe hedgeditemis adjusted for changes in fair value attributable
to the hedgedriskand recognised in Net trading income. Changes in fair value of the hedged item, to the extent that the
hedging relationship is effective, are offset by changes in the fair value of the hedging derivative, which are ako
recognised in Net trading income. When hedge accounting is discontinued, the carrying value of the hedged item & no
longeradjustedandthe cumulative fair value adjustments to the carrying value of the hedgeditems are amortisedto Net
income over the expected remaining life of the hedged items.
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The Company predominantly uses interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to the changes in a fixed interest rate
instrument’s fair value caused by changes in interest rates. Until the hedging relationships impacted by the IBOR Reform
fully transition to ABRs, we treat the highly probable hedged IBOR based cash flows of groups of similar assets or
liabilities with similar risk characteristics as unchangedas aresult ofthe Reform. In addition, associated cash flow hedge
reserves are not recycled into net income solely due to changes related to the transition from IBORs to ABRs.
Subsequently, when some items in the group transition to ABRs before other items, the individual hedged items are
allocated to subgroups based on the benchmark interestrate being hedged. The Company tests hedge effectiveness based
on the defined subgroups, in accordance with the Amendments, if eligibility requirements are met. If a subgroup faik the
eligibility requirements, the Company would discontinue hedge accounting prospectively for the hedgingrelationshipin
its entirety.

Guarantees

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that contingently require the Company to make specified payments (in cash,
otherassets orprovision of services) to reimburse the holder fora loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the original ormodified terms of a debt instrument. Liabilities are recognized on
the Balance Sheet at the inception of a guarantee for the fair value ofthe obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee.
Financial guarantees are subsequently re-measured at the higher of (i) the amount initially recognised and (ii) the best
estimate ofthe present value ofthe expenditure required to settle the presentobligation less accumulated amortisation at
the end ofthe reporting year. Ifthe financial guarantee meets the definition ofa derivative, it is measured at fair value at
each balance sheet date and reported under Derivatives on the Balance Sheet.

Employee benefits
Pensions and other post-employment benefits

The Company’s defined benefit pension expense, which s included in Human Resources, consists of the cost of employee
pensionbenefits forthe currentyears’ service, netinterest on the net defined benefit liability (asset), pastservice cost and
gains or losses on settlement. Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and
losses and return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability), are
recognised immediately in OCI in the period in which they occur. Actuarial gains and losses comprise experience
adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred), as
well as the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions. Amounts recognised in OCI will not be reclassified subsequently
tonet income. Past service cost is the change in the present value ofthe defined benefit obligationresulting froma plan
amendment or curtailment and is charged immediately to income.

Forthe defined benefit plan, the Company recognises the present value of its defined benefit obligations less the fair value
ofthe plan, together with adjustments for any unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and unrecognised past service costs,
as a defined benefit liability reported in Post employment benefit liabilities onthe Balance Sheet. When the defined benefit
liability is negative (i.e. defined benefit asset), the amount is reported as an asset in Post employment benefit assets. The
measurement of the asset is limited to the lower of (i) the defined benefit asset and

(i) the sum of actuarial losses and past service costs not yet recognised, and the present value of any refunds from the
plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan.

The calculation of defined benefit expenses and obligations requires significantjudgement as the recognition is dependent
on discount rates, expectedrates of return on assets, and various actuarial assumptions such as projected salary increases,
retirement age, and mortality and termination rates. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such estimates and
assumptions are subjectto inherentrisks and uncertainties. For the Company’s pension and other post-employment plns,
the discount rate is determined by reference to market yields on high quality corporate bonds.

Since the discountrate is based on currently available yields, and involves management’s as sessment of market liquidity,
it is only a proxy for future yields. Management judgement is also required in estimating the expected rate of retum on
assets, because of possible changes to the asset allocation and the inherent risks in predicting future investment retums.
The expectedrate of return on assets is a weighted average of expected long-termas set return by asset class and is selected
from a range of possible future asset returns. Actuarial assumptions, set in accordance with current practices in the
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respective countries ofthe Company’s plans, may differ from actual experience as country-specific statistics are only an
estimate for future employee behaviour. These assumptions are determined by managementand are reviewed by actuaries
at least annually. Changes to any ofthe above assumptions may affect the amounts of benefits obligations and expenses
recognised.

The Company’s contribution to defined contribution plans are expensed when employees have rendered services in
exchange forsuch contributions, generally in the year of contribution. Defined contribution plan expense is includedin

* Human Resources.

Share-based compensation

The Company provides compensation to certain key employees in the form of share-based awards. These share-based
awards are settledin cash. The Company incurs a compensation expense equivalent tothefair value ofthese awards. The
Company’s accrued obligations are adjusted to their fair value at each balance sheet date. Changes in the Company’s
obligations are recorded as Human Resources in the Income Statement with a corresponding increase in Other Liabilities.

Income taxes

Income tax comprises current taxand deferred taxand is recognised in the Income Statement except to the extentthatit
relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. Current income tax payablk on
profits is recognisedas an expense based ontheapplicable taxlaws in each jurisdiction in the year in which profits arise,
calculated using taxrates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences betweenthe carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for accountng
purposes compared with taxpurposes. A deferred income taxasset or liability is determined for each temporary difference.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the tax rates that are expected to be in effect in the year that
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on taxrates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date. Both current and deferred tax assets and Liabilities are offset when they are levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities within the same tax reporting
group (which intends to settle on anet basis ), and when thereis a legalright to offset. The Company’s Income Statement
includes items that are non-taxable or non-deductible for income tax purposes and, accordingly, caused the income tax
provision to be different from what it would be if based on statutory rates. '

Deferred income taxes accumulated as a result of temporary differences and tax losses carried forward are included in
Other Assets and Other Liabilities. On an annual basis, the Company reviews its deferred income taxassets to determne
whetherit is probable that the benefits associated with these assets will be realised; this review involves evaluating both
positive and negative evidence.

The Company is subject to income tax laws in various jurisdictions where the Company operates, and the complex tax
laws are potentially subject to different interpretations by the Company and the relevant taxation authority. Significant
judgement is required in the interpretation ofthe relevanttaxlaws and in estimating the provision for currentand deferred
income taxes due to uncertainty in timing and amount oftaxable income and in the design andability to implement tax

planning strategies.

The determination ofthe Company’s deferred taxassetor liability als o requires significant management judgement as the
recognitionis dependenton its projection of futuretaxable profits and taxrates that are expectedtobe in effect in the year
the asset is realised or the Liability is settled. Any changes in the projection willresult in changes in deferred taxassets or
liabilities on the Balance Sheet, and also deferred taxexpense on the Income Statement.

As required by International TaxReform — Pillar Two ModelRules issued by the IA SB in May 2023, which amends JAS
12 Income Taxes (IAS 12), we are not recognizing or disclosing information on deferred taxassets and liabilities relted
to Pillar Two income taxes as this is only required for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

Provisions
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g)

h)

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognized when the Company has a present legal or
constructiveobligation as aresult ofa past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured as the best
estimate ofthe consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date. Significant judgmentis required
in determining whethera presentobligation exists and in estimating the probability, timing and amount ofany outflows.
The Company records provisions related to litigation, asset retirement obligations and other items.

The Company is required to estimate the results of ongoing legal proceedings, and expenses to be incurred to dspose of
capital assets. The forward-looking nature of these estimates requires us to use a significant amount of judgment in
projecting the timing and amount of future cash flows. The Company records provisions on the basis of all availabk
information at the end ofthe reporting period and make adjustments on a quarterly basis to reflect current expectations.
It may not be possible to predict the resolution ofthese matters orthe timing of their ultimate resolution. Should actual
results differ from expectations, the Company may incur expenses in excess of the provisions recognized. Where
appropriate, the Company applies judgment in limiting the extent of provisions-related dis closures as notto prejudice the
Company’s positions in matters ofdispute. When some orall of the economic benefits required to settle a provisionare
expected to be recovered froma third party, suchas an insurer, a separate asset is recognized ifit is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received.

Fees and commissions

Commissions and fees primarily relate to Securities brokerage commissions, Services charges, Underwriting and other
advisory fees and Credit fees, and are recognised based onthe applicable service contracts with customers.

Commissions earned on Securities brokerage services and Service charges that are related to the provision of specific
transactiontype services are recognised when the service is fulfilled. Where services are provided overtime, revenue &
recognised as the services are provided.

Underwriting and Other advisory fees primarily relate to underwriting of new issuances of debt or equity and various
advisory services. Underwriting fees are generally expressed as a percentage ofthe funds raised through issuance and are
recognised whentheservicehas beencompleted. Advisory fees vary depending on the scopeand type of engagement and
can be fixed in nature or contingenton a future event. Advisory fees are recognised over the period in which the service

is provided and are recognised only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of
revenue will not occur.

Credit fees are primarily earned for arranging syndicated loans and making credit available on undrawn facilities. The
timing of the recognition of credit fees varies based on the nature of the services provided.

When service fees and other costs are incurred in relation to commissions and fees earned, the Company record these
costs on a gross basis in either Other operating expenses or Human resources based on the assessment of whether the
Company has primary responsibility to fulfil the contract with the customer and have discretion in establishing the price
for the commissions and fees earned, which may require judgement.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. This is the ex-dividend date for Isted
equity securities, and usually the date when shareholders have approved the dividend for unlisted equity securities.
Dividend income is recorded in Interest income.

Translation of foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Pounds Sterling at rates prevailng at
the balance sheetdate. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting fromthe translationandsettlement ofthese itenrs are
recognised in Net trading income in the Income Statement.

‘Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost are translated into Pounds Sterling at historical

rates. Non-monetary financial assets classified as FVOCI securities (under IFRS 9), such as equity instruments, that are
measured at fair value are translated into Pounds Sterling at rates prevailing at the balance sheet date, and the resulting
foreign exchange gains and losses are recorded in Other comprehensive income until the asset is sold or becomes impaired.
Cash and due from banks
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)]

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, Cash and due from banks includes highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Such
investments are normally those with a maturity of less than three months from the date of acquisition and include cash
and balances at central banks.

Share capital & other equity instruments

The Company classifies a financial instrument that it issues as a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity instruments whenthere is no contractual obligation
to trans fer cash or other financial assets. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments are
included in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax Financial instruments that will be settled by a variabke
number ofthe Company’s common shares upon their conversionby theholders as well as the related accrued distributions
are classified as liabilities on the Balance Sheet. Dividends and yield distributions on these instruments are classified as
Interest expense in the Income Statement.

Financial and other risk management

The Company has a clear and robust corporate and risk management framework in orderto manage, controland provide
assurance onrisk. The framework provides a structured approach forrisk identification and assessment, risk monitoring,
risk reporting, and risk control and mitigation for the various layers of managementand staff within the Company. These
controls and processes exist across all layers of management and staff, ranging from the Board of Directors down to
individuals.

The Company’s risk management frameworks and policies set out the high level arrangements for risk management,
controland assurance. The frameworks and policies are designed to provide a consistent and structured approach forrisk
identification and assessment, risk measurement and control, and risk monitoring and reporting. Risk identification and
assessment processes are established and maintained by Group Risk Management (GRM). The frameworks and policies
also helps to ensure that risk is managed and controlled. Effective and efficient risk governance and oversight provides
management with assurance that the Company’s business activities will not be excessively impacted by risks that could
have been reasonably foreseen. This, in turn, reduces the uncertainty of achieving the Company’s strategic objectives.
The Company’s risk management practices are regularly reviewed and updated in response to existing and emerging
risks, and will continue to evolve in this manner. Recentupdates have given attention to operational resiliency and climate
risk, amongst other areas.

Risk appetite is defined as theamount and type of risk that the Company is able and willing to accept in the pursuit of its
businessobjectives. The overall objective ofthe Company’s Risk Appetite Framework (RAF) s to protect the Company
from unacceptable levels of risk while supporting and enabling the firm’s overall business strategy and goals. The
Company’s RAF is defined in the context ofthe RBC Group’s RAF and has beenadjustedto cater for local requirements.
It provides details on the Company’s risk appetite principles, constraints and metrics and is reviewed and approved at
least annually by the Board of Directors.

The Board has the ultimate responsibility for oversight of risk and capital management and reporting in the Company.
The Board is tasked with ensuring that an effective control framework is in place for business, risk and capital
management. Through its governance structures and controls, the Board has oversight on key risks and operational
controls acrossthe firm. The Board also monitors and assesses effectiveness ofthe controls againstchanging regultory
expectations. To performits duties the Board is supported by the U.K. Risk Committee (RC) and the Asset and Liability
Committee (ALCO) as well as GRM.

The Company operates and has risk profiles across both Capital Markets and Wealth Management. Capital Markets
operations contribute to all primary material risks, including credit, operational, liquidity, reputational, regulatory capital
and market risks including price, interest rate and foreign exchange risks. The Company supports the Capital Markets
businesses by providingthe tactical funding and by holding a high quality portfolio ofassets that is used to manage the
Company’s liquidity profile, and is subject tothe same risks. W ealth Management operations mainly contribute to credit,
operational, and reputational risk, and that is limited given the Company’s stringent lending standards and the scak of
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overall operations. From a risk management perspective, all financial transactions entered into by the Company are
classified as either trading or non-trading (banking).

The Company’s trading activities principally comprise:
e theunderwriting of primary bondand equity issues;
o trading ofbonds in the secondary market;
o trading ofdebt and equity securities under repurchase agreements;
e money market trading activities;
e  equity salesto institutional customers;
e hedgingofpositions using derivatives; and
e treasuryasset and liability management.

Banking activities principally comprise:
e lending to corporates and high net worth individuals;
e deposit taking from high net worth individuals;
e letters of credit; and
e investment banking advisory services.

s. MarketRisk

The Company defines market risk to be the impact of market prices uponthe financial condition of the firm. This includes
potential gains or losses due to changes in market determined variables such as interest rates, credit s preads, equity prices,
commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and implied volatilities. Market risk can be exacerbated by thinly-traded or
illiquid markets.

(i) Management of market risks

Trading portfolios include those positions arising fromtransactions where the Company acts as principal with clients or
with the market. All trading books are subject to a hierarchy of limits, appropriate to theiractivities and are also subject
to independent price verification by the Product Control functions.

Banking books comprise primarily of the Company's loan portfolio and deposits. All banking books are subject to a
hierarchy of limits, appropriate to their activities, with additional oversight provided by the Asset and Liability
Committee.

Interest rate risk and Foreign exchange risks are discussed in Notes 6 and 7 respectively.

(ii)  Exposure to market risks - trading portfolios

The Company measures and controls market riskusing Value at Risk (VaR) metrics, stress testing and a range of other
metrics such as sensitivities to market risk factors.

The VaR of a trading portfolio is the estimated maximum loss that will arise on the portfolio overa specified period of
time (holding period) within a specified probability (confidence) level. The VaR model used by the Company estimates
VaR overaone day holding period at a 99% confidence interval. The Company calculates VaRusing a combination ofa
historical simulation based on market movements over the last two years for general market movements and a credi
sensitivity based approach for the idiosyncratic issuer specific risk.

Risk managers use VaR information alongside conventional market risk reports to ensure that the VaR measures move

as anticipated. VaR is produced daily, for each of the Company’s business lines and is monitored by the risk managers
aligned with each business.
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VAR is computed for all positions that are FVTPL for financial reporting purposes, with the exception of those in a
designated hedging relationship, and a summary ofthe Company’s Value at Risk (VaR) and the Average VaR (Av VaR)
for the year ended 31 October 2023 is presented below:

2023 2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022 2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
VaR AvVaR MinVaR Max VaR VaR Av VaR Min VaR MaxVaR

4,339 3,046 1,555 8,509 2,433 2,178 1,171 3,822

Although VaR s an important tool for measuring market risk, the assumptions on which the modelis based give rise to
certain limitations including the following:

e aonedayholdingperiodis usedasit is consistent with daily profit and loss reporting. A one-day holding period
does not factor into accountmarket liquidity. Some positions could take longer to hedge or close out, especially
in times of severe market illiquidity;

VaR is calculated at a 99% confidence interval, measured at close of business each day; and
the generalmarket risk VaR measure calculated using historical scenarios is based on the historically observed
volatility. The VaR of an unchanged position reduces if the market price volatility declines, and vice versa.

The limitations ofthe VaR methodology are recognised by supplementing VaR limits with other positionandsensitivity
limit structures, including limits to address potential concentration risks within each trading portfolio.

In addition the Company uses a range of market risk stress tests, which provide an indication of the potential size oflosses
that could arisein extreme conditions. Stress testing is performed daily on trading books to estimate the impact of extreme
but plausible movements.

As part of stress testing, the Company carries outscenario analysis using both historicaland hypothetical scenarios, and
sensitivity analysis, which allow individual risk drivers to be stressed. The Company also uses multi-year scenarios as
part of the development of the Company’s capital plan.

Stress test results are assessed against predefined limits. Daily reports are distributed to senior risk management with
regular summaries sent to the UK Market Risk Committee (UKMRC) and RC. Excesses are discussed and reviewed on
aregular basis by the UKMRC and RC.

6. Marketrisk —Interest rate risk

Interestrateriskexists in bothtrading andnon-tradlngportfohos andis defined as therisk ofloss resulting fromchanges
in and/or the volatility of interest rates.

Interest rate risk in the trading book leads to changes in the fair value of trading instruments including debt securities.
The Company’s exposures are monitored daily and are measured against operational limits set by Group Risk
Management. Sensitivity is measured as the change in portfolio value for a one basis point increase in interest rates.

Interest raterisk in the banking book (IRRBB), a type of market risk, is the risk of loss resulting from changes in interest
rates and/or in the volatility of interest rates. The Company has limited tolerance for risks arising from IRRBB. The
majority of transactions are priced relative to short-term interbank rates resetting either monthly or quarterly. This can
lead to some interest rate gaps in the very short end of the curve; however the Company’s IRRBB risk, and any
crystallization of it, remains negligible.
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The following tables summarise the Company’s year end net positions in assets and liabilities according tohow long their
interest rate terms remain fixed.

As at 31 October 2023:

Less than 3 3to12 1toS5 years Greaterthan Non - Total
months months Syears interest
bearing
£°000 £°000 £000 £000 £°000 £000

Cash and due from bank 9,325,224 - - - 22,548 9,347,772
Securities - trading 164,824 417,431 1,658,240 1,478,537 1,050,442 4,769,474
Securities - Investments, net of
applicable allowance 124,436 - - - 79,274 203,710
Assets purchased under reverse
repurchase agreements and
securities borrowed 19,933,927 3,129,768 - - - 23,063,695
Loansand advances 7,744,710 152,750 5,812 2,402 - 7,905,674
Derivative assets - - - - 1,256,698 1,256,698
Post employment benefit asset - - - - 12,800 12,800
Other assets - - - - 7,453,983 7,453,983
Depositsby banks (6,811,297) - - - - (6,811,297)
Depositsby customers (11,289,718) (265,796) (1,600) - - (11,557,114)
Obligations related to securities
sold short (336,451) (471,457) (1,746,415) (1,224,181) (8,669) (3,787,173)
Obligations related to assets sold
under repurchase agreements and
securities loaned (19,733,551)  (1,533,558) - - - (21,267,109)
Derivative liabilities - - - - (1,148,184) (1,148,184)
Other liabilities - - - - (7,596,980) (7,596,980)
Subordinated liabilities (82,447) - - - : - (82,447)
Total equity - - - - (1,763,502) (1,763,502)
Net position (960,343) 1,429,138 (83,963) 256,758 (641,590) -
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity )
gap (960,343) 468,795 384,832 641,590 - -
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As at 31 October 2022:

Lessthan 3 3to 12 1toSyears Greaterthan5 Non - interest Total
months months years bearing
£°000 £°000 £°000 £000 £°000 £000

Cash and due from bank 10,543,236 - - - 50,994 10,594,230
Securities - trading 563,346 214,440 936,971 1,262,133 952,935 3,929,825
Securities - Investments, net of
applicable allowance 559,417 - - - 65,985 625,402
Assets purchased under reverse
repurchase agreementsand ]
securities borrowed 20,630,049 2,547,364 - - - 23,177,413
Loans and advances 7,913,458 98,125 6,274 4,521 - 8,022,378
Derivative assets - - - - 1,701,873 1,701,873
Post employment benefit asset - - - - 18,492 18,492
Other assets - - - - 5,243,854 5,243,854
Deposits by banks (8,540,162) - - - - (8,540,162)
Depositsby customers (11,050,941) 9,274) - - - (11,060,215)
Obligations related to securities .
sold shott (109,662) (199,459)  (1,032,294)  (1,046,050) (8,229)  (2,395,694)
Obligations related to assets sold
under repurchase agreementsand
securities loaned (20,532,154)  (2,102,660) - - - (22,634,814)
Derivative liabilities - - - - (1,636,975) (1,636,975)
Other liabilities ‘ - - - - (5,251,277)  (5,251,277)
Subordinated liabilities (86,947) - - - - (86,947)
Total equity - - - - (1,707,383) (1,707,383)
Net position (110,360) 548,536 (89,049) 220,604 (569,731) -
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity
gap (110,360) 438,176 349,127 569,731 - -
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7. Marketrisk — Foreign exchange risk
The Company undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations arise. Foreign exchange risk is managed against foreign exchange gap limits.

The carrying amount ofthe Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary and non-monetary as sets and liabilities
are presented below:

Liabilities and

As at31 October 2023: Assets equity
£'000 £'000

Sterling 16,577,445 16,620,436
United States dollars 31,202,283 31,014,792
Euro 4,283,796 4,457,928
Canadian dollars 1,574,604 1,548,759
Swiss Francs 169,882 . 168,805
Other 205,796 203,086
54,013,806 54,013,806

Liabilities and

As at 31 October 2022: Assets equity
£'000 £'000

Sterling 21,480,801 21,511,099
United States dollars 17,988,506 17,951,715
Euro 7,520,447 7,594,943
Canadian dollars 3,607,281 3,575,934
Swiss Francs 2,610,379 2,565,423
Other 106,053 114,353
53,313,467 53,313,467

8. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that an institution is unable to generate or obtain sufficient cash or its equivalents on
a cost-effective basis to meet commitments as they fall due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure,

that the Company will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due under normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring material losses or damaging the Company’s reputation.

Liquidity regulation
The Company is subject to qualitative and quantitative liquidity regulation by the PRA.

The European Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/61 applies to the Company. This includes the Liquidiy
Coverage Ratio (LCR) being monitored and reported against a regulatory limit at the consolidated and significant
currency level. Alongside this, the PRA has published its overall approach to regulating liquidity in Policy Statements
11/15, 5/16 and 13/19 and requires the Company to submit LCR. Additional liquidity monitoring metrics are the ALMM
and PRA110.

The Company is subject to the LCR and Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) reporting requirements under the PRA Policy
Statement 22/21 (Implementation of Basel Standards Final rules), along with the existing ALMM, PRA 110 reporting,
and semi-annual Pillar 3 disclosure.

Liquidity risk management process

The Company’s Liquidity Management Framework outlines its liquidity risk appetite. The Company aims to be compliant
with RBC policy requirements and European and the UK regulatory requirements and is supported by a Liquidity Risk
Policy and a Liquidity Contingency Plan (LCP).
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The liquidity risk management process is governed by the Board of Directors, the UK RC, and the ALCO. The Company’s
liquidity position is monitored daily by senior management. The liquidity risk profile is reported monthly to the ALCO.
The ALCO recommends the liquidity risk tolerance to the Board. Liquidity information is also included in the monthly
management accounts, and distributed to the Board of Directors and the PRA.

For contingency purposes, the Company has set outa LCP, which is modelled on RBC’s LCP and aims to achieve
sufficient funding through a menu of options that may be actioned during a stressed period.

Liquidity is measured and monitored following internal and extemal regulatory frameworks. The Company monitors
LCR, NCF (net cash flow) with intraday monitoring as necessary. NCF is an internally defined metric that estimates net
liquidity gaps overshort time horizons (7, 30, 60 days) for on and off-balance sheet transactions under business as usual
conditions. The Company also continues to monitor the requirement under PS13/19 (PRA 110) weekly.

The Company complies with an internally defined liquidity meas ure (ILM) which ensures sufficient longterm funding &
held to fund illiquid assets. LM is monitored monthly. The company also prepares NSFR reporting.

The table below presents the Company's discounted financial assets and liabilities classified by remaining contractual
maturity as at the balance sheet date. Derivative liabilities have been classified in the 'Less than 1 month's category, where
transactions canbe closed out at short notice. This is consistent with the values usedin the liquidity risk management of
these instruments. Financial liabilities, with the exception of those that are held for trading or designated at fair value
through profit and loss, are disclosed at their book value as a proxy for undiscounted cash flows.

Liquidity table asat 31 O ctober Less than 1 1to3 3to12 Greater than

2023: month months months 1toSyears Syears Total
£°000 £000 £°000 £000 £°000 £°000

Assets

Cash and due from banks 9,325,224 22,548 - - - 9,347,772

Securities-trading [!] 72,500 1,089,657 426,556 1,757,378 1,423,383 4,769,474

Securities- Investments, net of

applicable allowance 79,275 - 124,435 - - 203,710

Assets purchased under reverse
repurchase agreements and securities

borrowed 10,276,716 2,832,778 9,954,201 - - 23,063,695
Loans and advances 542,108 626,181 2,599,891 3,890,497 246,997 7,905,674
Derivative assets 419,644 - - 497,316 339,738 1,256,698
Post employment benefit asset - - - - 12,800 12,800
Other assets 7,453,983 - - - - 7,453,983

28,169,450 4,571,164 13,105,083 6,145,191 2,022,918 54,013,806

Liabilities

Depositsby banks 6,782,295 29,002 - - - 6,811,297
Depositsby customers 1,428,299 151,646 265,796 3,876,610 5,834,763 11,557,114
Obligations related to securities sold

short [1] 59,050 277,617 500,229 1,756,406 1,193,871 3,787,173

Obligations related to assets sold
under repurchase agreements and

securities loaned 10,323,117 289,157 10,654,835 - - 21,267,109
Derivative liabilities 334,287 - - 480,315 333,582 1,148,184
Other liabilities 7,481,422 77,468 14,810 14,810 8,470 7,596,980
Subordinated liabilities - - - - 82,447 82,447

26,408,470 824,890 11,435,670 6,128,141 7,453,133 52,250,304

[1] Trading securities and Obligations related to securities sold short have been classified in the table above by remaining contractual maturity but
management expects them to be traded within 12 months.
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Liquidity table as at 31 October 2022:

Assets

Cash and due from banks
Securities-trading

Securities- Investments, net of
applicable allowance

Assets purchased under reverse
repurchase agreements and securities
borrowed

Loansand advances
Derivative assets

Post employment benefit asset
Other assets

Liabilities

Deposits by banks

Deposits by customers
Obligations related to securities sold
short

Obligations related to assets sold
under repurchase agreements and
securities loaned

Derivative liabilities

Other liabilities

Subordinated liabilities

Credit risk

Less than 1 1to3 3to12 Greater than
month months months 1to S years S years Total
£°000 £°000 £°000 £000 £°000 £°000
10,543,236 50,994 - - - 10,594,230
87,623 1,347,794 227,220 1,037,828 1,229,360 3,929,825
89,791 81,200 226,736 227,675 - 625,402
8,322,377 4,380,427 9,822,492 652,117 - 23,177,413
925,023 751,785 1,025,796 4,916,578 403,196 8,022,378
1,263,859 - - 255,044 182,970 1,701,873
- - - - 18,492 18,492
5,243,854 - - - - 5,243,854
26,475,763 6,612,200 11,302,244 7,089,242 1,834,018 53,313,467
8,009,497 46,004 - - 484,661 8,540,162
1,367,242 39,097 357,070 3,738,805 5,558,001 11,060,215
44,424 7,724 199,652 1,131,800 1,012,094 2,395,694
7,359,649 445,962 14,225,177 604,026 - 22,634,814
1,169,827 - - 303,112 164,036 1,636,975
5,126,379 124,898 - - - 5,251,277
- - - 86,947 - 86,947
23,077,018 663,685 14,781,899 5,864,690 7,218,792 51,606,084

The Company defines credit risk as the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s potential inability or unwillingness
to fulfil its on- or off-balance sheetpayment obligations. Credit risk may arisedirectly fromthe risk of default ofa primary
obligor (e.g. issuer, debtor, borrower or policyholder), or indirectly froma secondary obligor (e.g. guarantor, reinsurance)
and through on or off-balance sheet exposures, contingentcredit risk and/or transactional risk. Credit risk arises fromboth
trading and banking activities. Exposure to credit risk occurs any time funds are extended, committed or invested through
actual or implied contractual agreement.

The Company’s aggregated credit risk profile across all lending and trading activities is reported to the Risk Committee

(RC) on a quarterly basis.

During the current year there have been no noteworthy changes in the credit risk management procedures.
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Credit Risk maximum exposure

In the table below, the amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any provisions for losses,
represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account any collateral or netting benefis

obtained:
2023 2022
£'000 £000
Cash and due from banks 9,347,772 10,594,230
Securities - trading 4,769,474 3,929,825
Securities - investments, net of applicable
allowance 203,710 625,402
Assets purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and securities borrowed 32,654,826 33,033,101
Loans and advances 7,905,674 8,022,378
Derivative assets 1,264,742 1,715,356
Other assets 7,453,983 5,243,854
63,600,181 63,164,146
OffBalancesheet:
Financial guarantees 92,191 78,341
Loan Commitments 2,987,910 3,063,272
66,680,282 66,305,759

Credit risk management in the banking book

Banking book credit risk arises from loan facilities to large corporate borrowers in the Capital Markets businesses and
loans to high networth individuals in the provision of Wealth Managementservices. Capital Markets loans are typically
to investment-grade borrowers, and Wealth Management loans are mostly secured against collateral consisting of real
estate and/or cash and securities.

The banking book credit risk profile is managed through monthly reviews of the UK Lending Risk Management
Committee (UKLRMC). The Company’s banking book credit risk profile is reported to the RC on a quarterly basis.

The monitoring of credit risk at the Company is a continual process. Allborrowers are subject to arisk assessment and
an exposure/limit review at least annually, with risk managed proactively on an ongoing basis. Borrowers that experience
amaterial deterioration in creditquality and/or thatmay breach their covenant are addedtoa watch list which is monitored
by the UKLRMC and senior management.

The Company’s risk appetite is managed and controlled through exposure limits across single names, country, industry
sectorand ratings setout in the Risk A ppetite Framework (RAF) and Credit Risk Limit Policy (CRLP). Loan transactions
are signed off by the Regulatory Reporting team for compliance with regulatory large exposure limits. Credit risk &
mitigated through guarantees, collateral and/or credit default insurance (credit default swaps) where considered
appropriate and commercially feasible. Furthermore, certain lending facilities are risk sub-participated to the London
Branch of the Royal Bank of Canada.
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As at 31 October 2023, based on drawn amounts, the Capital Markets loan portfolio and the Wealth Management loan
portfolio accounted for 88% and 12% of the total banking book loan portfolio respectively (2022: 85% and 15%). The
credit quality ofthe on-balance sheet loans and advances portfolio that were neither past due nor individually impaired
can be assessed by reference to the internal ratings adopted by the Company:

2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Investment Grade 2,979,530 2,363,846
Non Investment Grade 4,637,660 5,275,314
7,617,190 7,639,160
Less: allowance for credit losses (8,359) (4,097)
7,608,831 7,635,063

Investment Grade are loans with a Standard & Poorequivalent rating of BBB- inclusive and above and Non-Investment
Grade are loans with a Standard & Poor equivalent rating of BB+ inclusive and below.

2023 2022

£'000 £'000
Real estate and related 5,049,952 5,385,105
Financial services 1,003,639 549,534
Corporates 655,569 611,320
Wealth management 908,030 1,093,201
7,617,190 7,639,160

Less: allowance for credit losses (8,359) (4,097)

7,608,831 7,635,063

Credit risk management in the trading book
Counterparty credit risk arises from exposure to the following:

e Securities finance, as part of Capital Markets fixed income repo and discretionary lending activities;
¢ Issuerrisk, predominantly arising from Capital Markets and supporting businesses through thetrading of debtand
equity instruments; and
e Derivatives, primarily through Capital Markets OTC equity derivatives and inter-group interest rate and foreign
exchange derivatives.
Each counterparty credit risk type is managed both separately as part of the RBC Group framework, and as part of a
combined exposure metric specific to the Company, with exposure and limit usagereported daily to senior management
by GRM Counterparty Credit Risk. The Company’s Single Name Limit Framework is the primary constraint on
counterparty credit exposure. The limits defined as part of this framework are directly related to the Company’s RAF,
approved by the Board annually. ALl operational limit excesses are reported to the UK Counterparty Credit Risk
Management Committee. Monthly exposure data is also reviewed by the UK Counterparty Credit Risk Management
Committee.

The Company’s CRLPis the primary constraint ofthe Company’s trading credit exposure. The limits defined as part of
this policy are directly related to the Company’s RAF and approved annually by the Board of Directors.

Securities finance '
The Company’s counterparty credit risk profile is largely made up of equity securities finance / stock lending and fixed
income repurchase transactions (repos). Counterparty credit risk is managed through increasing over-collateralisation
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margins on riskier counterparties with margins being actively managed and exchanged daily.

The fair values ofthese collateralsecurities are indicated in the table below and margins are introduced once the market
value of collateralis insufficient to coverthe underlying amount of the repurchase agreement or securities borrowed or
loaned.

The table below displays the carrying value of assets purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and securities
borrowed and obligations related to assets sold under repurchase agreements and securities loaned:

As at31 October2023: Gross Net
Collateral Gross Collateral Net
Fair Carrying Gross Fair Carrying Net
Value Value Collateral Value Value Collateral
£'000 £'000 % £'000 £'000 Yo
Reverse repos(assets) 34,111,775 32,654,826 104.5% 24,519,908 23,063,695 106.3%
Re pos (liabilities) 31,493,313 30,858,240 102.1% 21,901,446 21,267,109 103.0%
As at 31 October 2022: Gross Net
Collateral Gross Collateral Net
Fair Carrying Gross Fair Carrying Net
Value Value Collateral Value Value Collateral
£000 £'000 % £'000 £'000 %
Reverse repos (assets) 34,762,249 33,033,101 105.2% 24,900,751 23,177,413 107.4%
Repos (liabilities) 32,935,185 32,490,502 101.4% 23,073,687 22,634,814 101.9%

In the ordinary course of business, the Company pledges assets and enters into collateral agreements with terms and
conditions thatare usual and customary to its regular lending, borrowing and trading activities recorded on the Company’s
balance sheet. The following are examples of the Company’s general terms and conditions on pledged assets and
collateral:

e The risks and rewards of the pledged assets reside with the pledger;

e The pledged asset is retumed to the pledger when the necessary conditions have been satisfied;

¢ Theright of the pledgee to sell or re-pledge the asset is dependent on the specific agreement under which the
collateral is pledged; and

e Ifthereis no default, the pledgee mustreturna comparable asset to the pledger uponsatisfaction ofthe obligation.

Collateralis an important mitigant of credit risk. The Company holds collateralmainly in the form of debt securities and
equities and has the ability to use credit default swaps in order to enhance credit protection.

The Company ensures that any collateral held is sufficiently liquid, legally effective, enforceable and regularly reassessed.
Any collateraltakenis generally subject to a valuation adjustment with a percentage applicable to eachtype ofcollateral
and will be largely based on liquidity and price volatility of the underlying security.

As at 31 October2023, the Company had pledged out £51.6 billion (2022: £58.3 billion) ofthe collateral it had received
against on and off-balance sheet securities financing transactions.

Credit risk on other loans in the trading book, initial margin on exchange traded futures/options and cashbalances such
as nostros are monitored by reference to the external rating of the counterparty.
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10.

Issuer risk

The table below presents an analysis of debt securities included within trading and investment portfolios by rating agency
designation as at 31 October 2023, and 31 October 2022 based on Standard & Poor’s ratings or their equivalent:

2023 2022
£'000 £'000
AAA to AA- 2,027,931 1,995,263
A+toA- : 627,427 625,622
BBB+ to BBB- 1,099,231 836,244
BB+ to BB- 69,273 64,235
B+ to B- 6,250 5,123
CCC+ and below . -
Not Rated 13,355 9,819
® 3,843,467 3,536,306
Derivatives

The majority of derivative transactions are subject to margining undera Credit Support Annex For furtheranalysis refer
to Note 34 Derivative financial instruments.

Regulatory Capital

The Company is regulated by the Prudential Regulatory Authority and by the Financial Conduct Authority. It is the
Company’s capitalmanagement policy to ensure that it remains adequately capitalised in accordance with its risk appetite.
The Company is committed tomaintaining sufficient capital to underpin allrisks as definedand measured by internal and
extenal regulatory capital requirements.

The table below details the capital resources as at 31 October 2023.

2023 2022

£'000 £000
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital 1,438,559 1,377,467
Tier 1 Capital 1,738,253 1,677,161
Tier 2 Capital 82,447 86,949
Total Own Funds 1,820,700 1,764,110

The Company publishes its Pillar 3 dis closure ona semi-annual basis, which contains detailed qualitative and quantitative
information on its regulatory capital management.
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11. Classification of financial instruments

The tables below show the carrying amount of the Company’s financial instruments classified in the categories as per the

requirements of IFRS 9.

Assets as at31 October2023: Fair Value Fairvalue Financial Non financial Total
through P&L through OCI instruments assets carrying
classified valued at amount
amortised
cost
£°000 £000 £°000 £000 £000
Cash and due from banks - - 9,347,772 - 9,347,772
Securities - trading 4,769,474 - - - 4,769,474
Securities - Investments, netof applicable
allowance . - 203,710 - - 203,710
Assets purchased under reverse repurchase
agreements and securities borrowed 23,063,695 - - - 23,063,695
Loans and advances 296,843 ) 7,608,831 - 7,905,674
Derivative assets 1,256,698 - - - 1,256,698
Post employment benefit asset - - - 12,800 12,800
Other assets - - 7,430,249 23,734 7,453,983
Total 29,386,710 203,710 24,386,852 36,534 54,013,806
Liabilitiesas at 31 O ctober 2023: FairValue  Fair Value Financial Non Financial Total
through P&L through P&L instruments Liabilities carrying
classified  designated valuedat amount
amortised
cost
£°000 £°000 £000 £000 £000
Deposits by banks - - 6,811,297 - 6,811,297
Deposits by customers - - 11,557,114 - 11,557,114
Obligations related to securities sold short 3,787,173 - - - 3,787,173
Obligations related to assets sold under repurchase
agreements and securities loaned - 21,267,109 - - 21,267,109
Derivative liabilities 1,148,184 - - - 1,148,184
Other liabilities - - 17,585,333 11,647 7,596,980
Subordinated liabilities - - 82,447 - 82,447
Total 4,935,357 21,267,109 26,036,191 11,647 52,250,304
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12.

Assets as at31 October2022:

Cash and due from banks

Securities - trading
Securities - Investments, net of applicable
allowance

Assets purchased under reverse repurchase
agreements and securities borrowed

Loans and advances

Derivative assets
Post employment benefit asset

Other assets
Total

Liabilitiesas at 31 O ctober2022:

Deposits by banks
Deposits by customers

Obligations related to securities sold short

Obligations related to assets sold under repurchase

agreements and securities loaned

Derivative liabilities
Other liabilities
Subordinated liabilities
Total

Fair Value

Fair value hierarchy

Fair Value Fair value Financial Non financial Total carrying
throughP&L  throughOCI  instruments assets amount
classified valued at
amortised cost
£°000 £°000 £7000 £°000 £°000
- - 10,594,230 - 10,594,230
3,929,825 - - - 3,929,825
- 625,402 - - 625,402
23,177,413 - - - 23,177,413
387,315 - 7,635,063 - 8,022,378
1,701,873 - - - 1,701,873
- - - 18,492 18,492
- - 5,210,139 33,715 5,243,854
29,196,426 625,402 23,439,432 52,207 53,313,467
Financial
Fair Value Fair Value  instruments
through P&L through P&L valued at NonFinancial Total carrying
classified designated amortised cost Liabilities amount
£°000 £7000 £°000 £°000 £°000
. - 8,540,162 - 8,540,162
- - 11,060,215 - 11,060,215
2,395,694 - - - 2,395,694
- 22,634,814 - - 22,634,814
1,636,975 - - - 1,636,975
- - 5,238,172 13,105 5,251,277
- - 86,947 - 86,947
4,032,669 22,634,814 24,925,496 13,105 51,606,084

A hierarchy of valuation techniques are presented based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable
or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect
the Company’s market assumptions. These two inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

o levell - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes Isted
equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges.
e Level2- Inputs otherthan quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable forthe asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
e Level 3 -Inputs for asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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Financial assetsand liabilities as at 31 October 2023:

Levell Level 2 Level 3 Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Financialassets measured at fair value ’
Securities - trading 707,101 4,062,373 - 4,769,474
Securities - investments, net of applicable allowance - 124,436 79,274 203,710
Assets purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and
securities borrowed - 23,063,695 - 23,063,695
Loans and advances - 296,843 - 296,843
Derivative assets - 1,256,698 - 1,256,698
707,101 28,804,045 79,274 29,590,420
Financialliabilities measured at fair value
Obligations related to securities sold short 2,452,965 1,334,208 - 3,787,173
Obligations related to assets sold under repurchase agreements
and securities loaned - 21,267,109 - 21,267,109
Derivative liabilities - 1,148,184 - 1,148,184
2,452,965 23,749,501 - 26,202,466
Financialassetsand liabilities as at 31 October 2022:
Level 1 Level 2 Level3 Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £000
Financial assets measured at fair value
Securities - trading 610,389 3,319,436 - 3,929,825
Securities - investments, net of applicable allowance - 559,417 65,985 625,402
Assets purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and
securities borrowed - 23,177,413 - 23,177,413
Loans and advances - 387,315 - 387,315
Derivative assets - 1,701,873 - 1,701,873
610,389 29,145,454 65,985 29,821,828
Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Obligations related to securities sold short 1,139,770 . 1,255,924 - 2,395,694
Obligations related to assets sold under repurchase agreements
and securities loaned - 22,634,814 - 22,634,814
‘Derivative liabilities - - 1,636,975 - 1,636,975
1,139,770 25,527,713 - 26,667,483

The following describes how fair values are determined, what inputs are used and where they are classified in the far
value hierarchy table above, forthe significant assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

Government bonds

The fair values of government bonds or guaranteed debt securities in active markets, which are included in Securities —
trading, are determined by reference to recent transaction prices, broker quotes, or third-party vendor prices and are
classified as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy. The fair values of securities thatare nottraded in active markets are based
on either security prices, or valuation techniques using implied yields and risk spreads derived from prices of actively
traded and similar government securities. Securities with observable prices or rate inputs as compared to transaction prices,
dealer quotes or vendor prices are classified as Level 2 in the hierarchy. Securities where inputs are unobservabk are
classified as Level 3 in the hierarchy.
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Corporate bonds

The fair values of corporate bonds, which are included in Securities — trading, and Obligations related to securities sold
short in the fair value hierarchy table, are determined using either recently executed transaction prices, broker quotes,
pricing services, orin certain instances discounted cash flow method using rate inputs such as benchmark yields (Canadian
Dealer Offered Rate, Risk Free Rates and other similar reference rates) and risk spreads of comparable securities.
Securities with observable prices or rate inputs are classified as Level 2 in the hierarchy. Securities where inputs are
unobservable are classified as Level 3 in the hierarchy.

Asset-backed securities and Mortgage-backed securities

Asset-backed securities (ABS) and Mortgage-backed securities (MBS) are included in Securities — trading, and
Obligations related to securities sold short in the fair value hierarchy table. Inputs for valuation of ABS and MBS are,
when available, traded prices, dealer or lead manager quotes, broker quotes and vendor prices ofthe identical securities.
When prices of the identical securities are not readily available, the Company use industry standard models with inputs
such as discount margins, yields, default, prepayment and loss severity rates that are implied from transaction prices,
dealer quotes or vendor prices of comparable instruments. Where security prices and inputs are observable, ABS and MBS
are classified as Level 2 in the hierarchy. Otherwise, they are classified as Level 3 in the hierarchy.

Equities

Equities consist of listed and unlisted common shares, private equities, mutual funds and hedge funds with certain
redemption restrictions and are included in equities and obligations for securities sold short. The fair values of common
shares are based on quoted prices in activemarkets, where available, and are classified as Level 1 in the hierarchy. Where
quoted prices in activemarkets are not readily available, fair value is determined based on quoted market prices for similar
securities or through valuation techniques, such as multiples of eamings and the discounted cash flow method with

forecasted cash tlows and discountrate as inpus. Private equilies are classified as Level 3 in the hicrarchy a3 their inputs
are not observable.

Derivatives

The fair values ofexchange-traded derivatives, suchas interest rate and equity options and futures, are based on quoted
market prices and are classified as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy. OTC derivatives primarily consist ofinterest rate
and cross currency swaps, interest rate options, foreign exchange forward contracts and options, and commodity options
and swaps. The exchange-traded or OTC interest rate, foreign exchange and equity derivatives are included in Interest
rate contracts, Foreign exchange contracts and Other contracts, respectively, in the fair value hierarchy table. The far
values of OTC derivatives are determined using valuation models when quoted market prices or third-party consensus
pricing information are notavailable. The valuationmodels, such as discounted cash flow method or Black-Scholes option
model, incorporate observable orunobservable inputs for interestand foreign exchange rates, equity and commodity prices
(including indices), credit spreads, corresponding market volatility levels, and other market-based pricing factors. As
previously discussed, other adjustments to fair value include bid-offer, CVA, FVA, OIS, parameter and model
uncertainties, and unrealised gain or loss at inceptionofa transaction. A derivative instrument is classified as Level2 in
the hierarchy if observable market inputs are available or the unobservable inputs are not significant to the fair vale.
Otherwise, it is classified as Level 3 in the hierarchy.

Securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements and securities loaned or sold under repurchase agreements

In the fair value hierarchy table, these instruments are included in Assets purchased under reverse repurchase agreements
and securities borrowed, and Obligations related to assets sold under repurchase agreements and securities loaned. Far
value forthese contracts is calculated using valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow methodusing interestrate
curves as inputs. They are classified as Level 2 instruments in the hierarchy as the inputs are observable.

Transfers between fair value hierarchy levels for instruments carried at fair value on a recurring basis

Transfers between Level 1 and Level2, and transfers in and out of Level 3 are assumed to occurat the end of the year.
Foran assetora liability that transfers into Level 3 during the year, theentire change in fair value fortheyear is excluded
from the above reconciliation, whereas for transfers out of Level 3 during the year, the entire change in fair value for the
period is included in the below reconciliations.
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Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 are dependent on whether fair value is obtained on the basis of quoted market
prices in active markets (Level 1) as opposed to fair value estimated using observable inputs in a discounted cash flow
model (Level 2). There were no significanttransfers between Level 1 and Level2 during the year (2022: No significant
transfers).

As at31 October2023, Level 3 financial instruments held by the Company were comprised ofunlisted private equities.
These assets are independently valued based on accounting policy stated in Note 3.

Reconciliation of Level 3 items from 1 November2022 to 31 October2023:

As at November1 Other Com prehensive

2022 ’ Income As at31 October 2023
£'000 £'000 £'000
Securities- Investment 65,985 13,289 79,274

Reconciliation of Level 3 items from 1 November2021 to 31 October2022

As at November1 Other Comprehensive

2021 Income As at31 October 2022
£'000 £'000 £'000
Securities- Investment . 63,562 2,423 65,985

Sensitivity of Level 3 measurements

A financialinstrument is classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy if one ormore of its unobservable inputs may
significantly affect the measurement ofthe fair value. In preparing the financial statements, appropriate levels for these
unobservable input parameters are chosen so that they are consistent with prevailing market evidence or management
judgement. Due tothe unobservable nature ofthe prices or rates, there may be uncertainty about valuation of these Le vel
3 financial instruments.

The following table summarises the impact to fair values of Level 3 financial instruments using reasonably possibke

alternative assumptions. This sensitivity disclosureis intended to illustrate the potential impact of therelative uncertainty
in the fair value of Level 3 financial instruments.

Favourable Unfavourable

Changes Changes
As at31 October2023 £'000 £'000
Securities - FVOCI 7,927 (7,927)
As at 31 October 2022
Securities - FVOCI 6,599 (6,599)

The following is a summary of material unobservable inputs of Level 3 instruments and the Company’s approach to
developing reasonable possible alternative assumptions used to determine sensitivity:

The fair value ofequities are obtained by reference to a hierarchy of valuation techniques, including company analysk,
peermultiple valuations, broker bids and independently verified third party transactions, this produces a range of altemate
valuations which are considered in the valuation of the position. Where a range of alternate valuations is availabl the

difference fromthe booked value to the value ofthe closestaltemate valuation techniqueis used to calculate the range of
reasonable alternate values.
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Quantitative information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs forLevel 3 financial
instruments

The following table presents fair values of the Company’s significant Level 3 financial instruments, valuation techniques
used to determine their fair values, ranges and weighted averages of unobservable inputs.

As at31 October2023

Fair value Range of input values
Weighted
Reportingline Significant average /
in the fair value Assets Liabilities Valuation  unobservable Inputs
Products hierarchy table (£'000) (£'000) techniques inputs Low High distribution
P/E multiple 9.15 9.15 9.15
" Liqudity 20%  20% 20%
Eauiti Securities- 79274 Pri dltiol discount
quities Investments A - Price multiples
EBITDA
multiple 7.39 7.39 7.39
As at31 October2022
Fair value Range of input values
Weighted
Reportingline . Significant average /
in the fair value Assets  Liabilities Valuation  unobservable Inputs
Products hierarchy table (£'000) (£'000) techniques inputs Low High distribution
P/E multiple 13.51 13.51 13.51
Liquidity o
Eaquitie Securities- 65.985 Pri dtip] discount 20% 20% 20%
quities Investments ’ - Frice muitiples
EBITDA 984  9.84 9.84
multiple

Sensitivity to P/E multiples and liquidity discounts

Private equity valuation inputs include Enterprise Value / Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation
(EV/EBITDA) mutltiples, Price / Earnings (P/E) multiples and Enterprise Value / Revenue (EV/Rev) multiples. These are
used tocalculateeither enterprise value or share value of a company based on a multiple of earnings or revenue estimates.
Highermultiples equate to higher fair values forall multiple types, and vice versa. A liquidity discount may be apphed
when few or no transactions exist to support the valuations.

Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at amortised cost

The following fair value hierarchy table presents fair values of financial assets and liabilities thatare carried at amortised
cost, and therefore excludes financial instruments that are measured and disclosed at fair value on a recurring basis.
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Fair value of financialinstruments thatare carried at amortised costas at 31 O ctober 2023

Fairvalue Fairvalue may

approximates notapproximate
carrying value carrying value  Total Fair value
£'000 £'000 £'000
Loans and advances 1,122,923 6,515,155 7,638,078
Other assets 7,430,249 - 7,430,249
Deposits by banks 6,724,493 86,691 6,811,184
Depositsby customers 1,815,917 9,739,831 " 11,555,748
Other liabilities 7,585,333 - 7,585,333
Subordinated liabilities - 81,292 81,292

Fair value of financialinstruments thatare carried at amortised costas at 31 O ctober 2022

Fairvalue Fair value may

approximates notapproximate
carrying value carrying value Total Fair value
£'000 £'000 £'000
Loans and advances 1,278,194 6,208,021 7,486,215
Other assets 5,210,139 - 5,210,139
Deposits by banks 7,897,562 642,169 8,539,731
Depositsby customers 1,396,605 9,658,971 11,055,576
Other liabilities 5,238,172 - 5,238,172
Subordinated liabilities - 84,585 84,585

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost and disclosed in the table above are determined
using the following valuation techniques and inputs, and are Level 2 in both the current and prior year.

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customer include Corporate Banking and Wealth Management client loans. Where market prices
are available, loans are valued based on market prices. Otherwise, fair value is determined by the discounted cash flow
method usingthe following inputs: market interest rates and market based spreads ofassets with similar credit ratings and
terms to maturity, expected default frequency implied from credit default swap prices, if available, and relevant pricing
information such as contractual rate, origination and maturity dates, redemption price, coupon payment frequency and
date convention.

Deposits

Deposits are comprised of demand, notice, and short-term deposits. The carrying values of short-termtermdeposis and
demand and notice deposits generally approximate their fair values.

Other assets and Other liabilities

Other assets and Other liabilities includereceivables and payables relating tothe Company’s trading activities. Fair valies
of these receivables and payables generally approximate their fair values.

Subordinated debentures

®

Fair values of Subordinated liabilities are based onrecent transaction prices for those marketable instruments with s imilar
credit and term features.
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13.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Offsetting within the Balance Sheet may be achieved where financial assets and liabilities are subject to master netting
arrangements that provide the currently enforceable right of offset and where there is an intention to settle on a net bass,
or realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. For derivative contracts and repurchase and reverse
repurchase arrangements, this is generally achieved when there is a market mechanism for settlement (e.g., central
counterparty exchange or clearing house) which provides daily netsettlement of cash flows arising fromthese contracts.
Margin receivables and margin payables are generally offset as they settle simultaneously through a market settlement
mechanism.

Amounts that do not qualify for offsetting include master netting arrangements that only permit outstanding transactions
with the same counterparty to be offset in an event ofdefault or occurrence of other predetermined events. Such master
netting arrangements include the ISDA Master Agreement or certain derivative exchange or clearing counterpatty
agreements for derivative contracts, global master repurchase agreements and global master securities lending agreements
for repurchase, reverse repurchase and other similar secured lending and borrowing arrangements.

The amount of financial collateralreceived or pledged subject to master netting arrangements or s imilar agreements but
do not qualify foroffsetting refers to the collateralreceived or pledgedto cover the net exposure between counterparties
by enabling the collateral to be realised in an event of default or the occurrence of other predetermined events. Certain
amounts of collateral are restricted frombeing sold orre-pledgedunless there is an event of default orthe occurrence of
other predetermined events.

The tables below provide the amount of financial instruments that have been offset onthe Balance Sheet and the amounts

that do not qualify for offsetting but are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements. The
amounts presented are not intended to represent our actual exposure to credit risk.

The amounts presented in the table below are not intended tv represent the Company’s actual exposure to credit risk.
Please refer to Note 9 for more information on Credit exposure and Credit risk mitigation.

Financial assetssubject to offsetting, e nforceable master nettingarrangements andsimilar agreements
As at31 October2023
Amounts subject to offsetting and enforceable netting arrangements
Amountsubject to master
netting arrangement or
similar agreements but do
not qualify for offsetting
on
the balance sheet

Gross
amountof Netamount
financial Amounts of offinancial Total
assetshefore financial assets Impact of amount
balance sheet liabilities presented on master Financial recognised
offsetting offseton the the balance netting collateral on the
£'000 balance sheet sheet agreement received Net amount balance sheet
£'000 . £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Assets purchased under
reverse repurchase
agreements and securities
borrowed 32,654,826 9,591,131 23,063,695 5 23,060,840 2,850 23,063,695
Derivative assets 1,264,742 8,044 1,256,698 852,212 404,486 - 1,256,698
Total 33,919,568 9,599,175 24,320,393 852,217 23,465,326 2,850 24,320,393
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As at31 October2022

Amounts subject to offsetting and enforceable netting arrangements

Amount subject to master
netting arrangement or
similar agreements but do
not qualify for offsetting on
the balance sheet

Net amount
Gross amount Amountsof  of financial
of financial  financial assets Impact of Total amount
assets before liabilities presentedon master Financial recognised on
balance sheet offset onthe thebalance netting collateral the balance
offsetting balance sheet sheet agreement  received Net amount sheet
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Assets purchased under
reverse repurchase
agreements and securities
borrowed 33,033,101 9,855,688 23,177,413 3,870 23,100,118 73,425 23,177,413
Derivative assets 1,715,356 13,483 1,701,873 1,474,219 100,121 127,533 1,701,873
Total 34,748,457 9,869,171 24,879,286 1,478,089 23,200,239 200,958 24,879,286

FinancialLiabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangementsand similar agreements
As at 31 October2023

Amounts subject to offsetting and enforceable netting arrangements

Amountsubject to master
netting arrangement or
similar agreements but do
not qualify for offsetting
on
the balance sheet

Gross .
amount of Netamount
financial Amounts of offinancial Total
liabilities financial liabilities Impact of amount
before assetsoffset presentedon master Financial recognised
balance sheet on the the balance netting collateral on the
offsetting balance sheet sheet agreement pledged Net amount balance sheet
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Obligations related to
assets sold under
repurchase agreements
and securities loaned 30,858,240 9,591,131 21,267,109 5 21,150,618 116,486 21,267,109
Derivative liabilities 1,156,228 8,044 1,148,184 852,212 643 295,329 1,148,184
Total 32,014,468 9,599,175 22,415,293 852,217 21,151,261 411,815 22,415,293
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14.

As at31 October2022

Amounts subject to offsetting and enforceable netting arrangements

Amount subject to master
netting arrangement or
similar agreements but do
not qualify on offsetting on
the balance sheet

Gross amount Net amount
of financial Amountsof of financial
liabilities financial liabilities Impact of Total amount
before assets offset presentedon master Financial recognized on
balance sheet on the thebalance  netting collateral the balance
offsetting balance sheet sheet agreement  pledged Net amount sheet
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Obligations related to
assets sold under
repurchase agreements
and securities loaned 32,490,502 9,855,688 22,634,814 3,870 22,621,526 9,418 22,634,814
Derivative liabilities 1,650,458 13,483 1,636,975 1,474,219 76,868 85,888 1,636,975
Total 34,140,960 9,869,171 24,271,789 1,478,089 22,698,394 95,306 24,271,789
Net interestincome
Interest income includes:
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Cash and due from banks 411,510 64,187
Loans and advances 453,397 248,830
Assets purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and securities borrowed 1,406,256 397,418
Securities - trading 163,419 70,603
Securities - investments 3,774 1,468
Total interestincome 2,438,356 782,506
Includinginterestincome received from related parties 2023 2022
£'000 £'000
-RBC London Branch 289,381 5,507
-RBC Capital Markets LLC 8,152 1,608
-RBC Capital Markets (Europe) GmbH 2,120 517
-RBC Holdings UK 1,517 22
-RBC Dominion Securities Inc 461 621
-RBC Ontario Branch 288 263
-RBC (Channel Islands) Ltd 224 256
-RBC Investor Services Bank SA - 865
-Other related parties 88 64
302,231 9,723
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Interest expense includes:

2023 2022

£'000 £000
Cash and due from banks - 11,021
Deposits 931,748 269,588
Obligations related to securities sold short 122,765 53,643
Obligations related to assets sold under repurchase agreements and securities loaned 1,327,702 353,451
Securities - trading 7,755 409 .
Total interest expenses 2,389,970 688,112
Includinginterestexpense paid to related parties
-RBC London Branch 530,974 65,342
-RBC Dominion Securities Inc 483,077 173,403
-RBC (Barbados) Funding Ltd 472,785 125,582
-RBC Holdings (Lux) Sarl. Barbados Branch 94,136 65,830
-RBC Ontario Branch 10,903 8,063
-RBC WM Holdings Jersey 10,059 1,327
-RBC Investor Services Trust UK 7,847 2,186
-RBC Holdings UK 7,374 1,509
-RBC Bluebay UK 4,713 609
-RBC (Channel Islands) Ltd 4,252 10,679
-RBC Brewin UK 3,431 -
-RBC Fin Corp (Caribbean) 3,389 766
-RBC Capital Markets (Europe) GmbH 2,448 8
-RBC Sydney Branch 1,237 -
-RBC Holdings (Channel Islands) Ltd 870 -
-RBC Investor Services Bank SA 26 2,351
-Other related parties 2,664 780

1,640,185 458,435

Interest income includes £864,906,904 (2022: £313,017,441) of interestrecognised on financial assets measured at
amortised cost and interest expense includes £931,748,000 (2022: £280,609,000) ofinterest recognised on financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost.
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15.

16.

Net fee and_commission income

Fee and commissionincome

Brokerage & commissions

Financial advisory fees

Underwriting, lending and credit facility fees
Other

Total fee and commissionincome
Includingfee and commissionincome received from related parties
-RBC London Branch

-RBC Capital MarketsLLC

-RBC Capital Markets (Europe) GmbH
-RBC Dominion Securities Inc

-RBC Ontario Branch

-RBC New York Branch

-RBC Sydney Branch

-RBC Bahamas Branch

-RBC WM Holdings Jersey

-Other Related Parties

Fee and commission expense

Funding facility fees
Brokerage & commissions
Total fee and commission e xpense

Includingfee and commission expe nse payable to related parties -
-RBC Capital Markets (Europe) GmbH

-RBC (Barbados) Funding Ltd

-RBC Ontario Branch

-RBC Dominion Securities Inc

-RBC Capital Markets LLC

-RBC London Branch

-RBC Sydney Branch

-RBC New York Branch

-Other Related Parties

Net trading income

Total trading income

Including related party trading income
-RBC London Branch
-RBC Ontario Branch
-Other related parties
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2023 2022
£'000 £000
92,627 81,441
116,549 139,565
63,263 53,798
3,002 4,011
275,441 278,815
40,541 21,926
29,907 24,983
10,950 10,762
10,734 9,431
4,895 5,020
3,657 3,857
878 1,010
748 1,211
. 7,875
383 1,182
102,693 87,257
2023 2022
£'000 £000
16,042 12,713
72,471 67,111
88,513 79,824
48,702 32,436
16,043 13,274
9,270 9,383
2,942 5,396
2,798 7,285
2,682 4,071
1,940 3,015
11 474
798 538
85,186 75,872
2023 2022
£'000 £000
263,103 172,722
93,156 106,676
(6,347) 16,209
(2,852) 3,043
83,957 125,928




RBC EUROPELIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2023

17.

18.

Human resources

2023 2022

£'000 £'000
Salaries and other staff expenses 157,036 148,899
Social security costs 21,851 22,564
Defined benefit pension costs ' (907) (501)
Defined contribution pension costs 4,991 4,542
Total human resources 182,971 175,504

Directors’ emoluments of the Company excluding pension contributions forthe year are £2,101,828 (2022: £1,998,113).

No Directors are members or deferred members ofthe defined benefit pension scheme following closure ofthe scheme
to new contributions (2022: no Directors). The Company made no contributions (2022: £nil) to defined contribution
pension schemes in respect of any Director (2022: no Directors).

The emoluments ofthe highest paid Director, excluding pension contributions, were £1,443,865 (2022: £1,379,009). The
accrued pension benefits and accrued lump sum for the highest paid director were £nil (2022: £nil).

All Directors are employed by other group companies and the associated costs are reported within related party charges
and recoveries.

Disclosed Directors’ emoluments represent those relating to their services as directors for the Company based on an
estimated time allocation basis.

The monthly average number of employees during the year was 643 (2022: 609).

Share Based Deferred bonus plan

The Company alsohas a deferred bonus plan for certain employees within the capital markets businesses. Under this pln,
a percentage of each employee’s annualincentive bonus is deferred and changes according to the market value of Royal
Bank of Canada’s common shares andaccumulates dividend equivalents at the same rate as dividends on Royal Bank of
Canada’s common shares. The employee will receive the deferred bonus amounts within 90 days ofthe three following
year end dates. The value of the deferred bonus paid will be equivalentto the original deferred bonus adjusted for
dividends and changes in the market value ofRoyal Bank of Canada’s common shares at the time the bonus is paid. The
Company’s liabilities forthe awards granted under the plan are measured at fair value, determined based on the quoted
market price of Royal Bank of Canada’s common shares.

The liability on this plan as at 31 October 2023 was £49.3 million (2022: £66 million) and the total number of share-
based awards outstanding at yearend was 776,242 (2022: 839,693). The total compensationexpense forthe current and
deferred bonus plans for the year ended 31 October2023 was £63 million (2022: £68 million) which is included in Hurman
resources in the StatementofIncome. The number of shares granted during the year was 258,256 (2022: 302,098) with a
weighted average share price of C$136.15 (2022: C$144.84).

Related party charges & recoveries

2023 2022

Related party charges & recoveries £'000 £'000
-RBC Ontario Branch 124,260 119,161
-RBC London Branch 10,365 5,951

-Other (5,314) (3,901)
‘ 129,311 121,211
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19.

20.

Other operating expenses

2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Auditors' remuneration
- Audit fees 645 599
- Non-audit assurance related services 261 252
Bank levy 1,684 3,079
Premises and equipment 33,590 33,712
Professional services 7,399 9,821
Trade execution costs and other 41,339 36,140
84,918 83,603

During 2023, the Company incurreda total audit fee 0f£645,460 payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the

Company’s annual financial statements (2022: £599,132), and audit related assurance service fees of £261,076 (2022:
£251,908).

Pension

The Company is a participating employer in the RBC (UK) Pension Plan (‘the Plan’), a defined benefit pension scheme
for which the Principal Employeris the Royal Bank of Canada. The pension scheme is administered by separate trustees
that are legally segregated fromthe Company andis in compliance withthe Pensions Act2004. The pension arrangements
including investment, plan benefits and funding decisions are governed by the Trustees. Significantplan changes require
the approval ofthe Board of Directors. The Plan provides pension benefits based on years of service and average eamings
overlast three years at leaving. The Plan has been closed to new members since 2001 and closed to future accrual from
2015. New employees are generally eligible to join the defined contribution pension plan.

The allocation, and reallocation, of the Plan’s assets, liabilities, costs and cash flows to the Company is based on the
results ofa valuation of the Plan, and the identification of each Plan member’s current, or last ‘employer’ at the point the
Plan was closed in 2015.

For the yearended 31 October 2023, total contributions to the Plan were £nil (2022: £nil). For 2024, total contributions
to the Plan are expected to remain at the same level.

By its design, thePlan exposes the Company to various risks such as investment performance, reductions in dis count rates
used to value the obligations, increased longevity of Plan members and future inflation levels impacting future pension
increases. By closing membership in the defined benefit pension scheme and migrating to defined contribution plans, the
volatility associated with the aforementioned risks have been ringfenced.

The fundedstatus at the end of the year, and the related amounts recognised on the Balance Sheet, are as follows:

Amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet 2023 2022

£'000 £'000
Fair value of plan assets 88,400 103,063
Present value of wholly or partly funded obligations (75,600) (84,571)
Netasset 12,800 18,492
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The components of remeasurements recognised in Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income are as

follows:

Amounts recognised in the Income Statement

Interest income on plan assets
Interest expense

Total pensionincome recognised

Amounts recognisedin the Income Statement

Remeasurements
Actuarial (losses)/gains from demographic assumptions
Actuarial gains/(losses) from financial assumptions
Actuarial (losses)/gains from experience adjustments
Return on plan assets greater than interest income

Total remeasurement includedin O CI
Change in be nefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year

Interest expense

Actuarial (losses)/gains from demographic assumptions
Actuarial (losses)/gains from experience adjustments
Actuarial gains/(losses) from financial assumptions
Benefit paid from plan/company

Benefitobligationatend of year

Changein plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year

Interest income
Return on plan assets greater than interest income
Benefits paid

Fairvalue of plan assets atend of year

Investment policy andstrategies

2023 2022
£'000 £000
4,964 3,265
(4,057) (2,764)
907 501
2023 2022
£'000 £000
. (33)
11,386 61,773
(2,858) 988
(15,127) (71,102)
(6,599) (8,374)
2023 2022
£'000 £000
(84,571) (147,536)
(4,057) (2,764)
- (33)
(2,858) 988
11,386 61,774
4,500 3,000
(75,600) (84,571)
2023 2022
£000 £000
103,063 173,900
4,964 3,265
(15,127) (71,102)
(4,500) (3,000)
88,400 103,063

The Plan’s investmentstrategy is toholda diversified mix of investments by assetclass and geographic location, in order
to reduce investment-specific risk to the funded status while seeking to achieve the expected returns required to meet
pension obligations. Investment of the Plan assets is conducted with careful consideration of the pension obligation’s
exposure to interest rates and inflation which are key risk factors impacting the obligation. The asset mix policy &
therefore consistent with an asset/liability framework. Factors taken into consideration in developing the asset mixinclude

but are not limited to the following:

» the nature of the underlying benefit obligations, including the duration and term proﬁle of the liabilities;

« the member demographics, including expectations for normal retirements, terminations, and deaths;

+ the financial position of the pension plan;

» the diversification benefits obtained by the inclusion of multiple asset classes; and
+ expected asset returns, including asset and liability volatility and correlations.
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To implement the asset mix policy, the Trustee ofthe Plan has appointed a Fiduciary Manager. The Fiduciary Manager
may, subject to written guidelines, invest in a range of nvestments including equity securities, debtsecurities, alternative
investments and derivative instruments. Holdings in each asset class cannot exceed a defined percentage ofthe market
value ofthe Plan assets. The Fiduciary Manager may use derivative instruments as eithera synthetic investmentto more
efficiently replicate the performance of an underlying security, or as a hedge against financial risks associated with the
underlying portfolio.

The Plan assets are primarily comprised of debt securities with a smaller proportionalsoheld in equity securities. Equity
securities generally have unadjusted quoted market prices in an active market (Level 1) and the debt securities generally
have quoted market prices for similar assets in an active market (Level 2). Pooled investment vehicles, through which the
Plan accesses equity markets, would often be categorized as Level 2. Alternative investments and other includes cash,
and secure income investments including infrastructure, real estate leases and renewable energy. In the case of secure
income investments, no quoted market prices are usually available (Level 2 or Level 3). These fund assets are either
valued by an independent valuer or priced using observable market inputs.

2023 2022
£°000 £°000
Cash and cash equivalent 10,342 14,429
Equities 8,044 8,451
Debt securities . 41,902 51,119
Real estate 6,542 6,596
Other 21,570 22,468
Total 88,400 103,063
The following table presents the maturity profile ofthe pension obligation.
Maturity profile 2023 2022
As at 31 October 2023 £'000 £000
Benefits expectedto be paid 2024 4,900 3,600
Benefits expectedto be paid 2025 5,000 3,700
Benefits expectedto be paid 2026 5,200 3,900
Benefits expectedto be paid 2027 5,400 4,100
Benefits expectedto be paid 2028 5,500 4,300
Benefits expectedto be paid 2029-2033 30,100 24,400
Weighted average duration of defined benefit obligation 14 years 16 years

Significant assumptions

Methodologies to determine significant assumptions used in calculating the defined benefit pension and other post-
employment benefit expense are as follows:

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine plan assets and benefit obligation 2023 2022
Discount rate 5.90% 4.90%
Rate of salary increase N/A N/A
Rate of price inflation 3.50% 3.40%
Rate of pension increases 3.25% 3.15%
Pension increases for deferred benefits 3.00% 2.90%
Plan participation census date 1-Apr-21 1-Apr-21
Post-retirement mortality table 96% S3PMA L 96% S3PMA_L

92%S3PFA_L 92% S3PFA_L
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Weighted-average assumptions used to determine defined benefit cost 2023

Discount rate

Rate of salary increase
Rate of price inflation
Rate of pension increases

Pension increases for deferred benefits
Plan participation census date

Post-retirement mortality table

4.90%

. NA

3.40%

3.15%

2.90%
1-Apr-21

96% S3PMA_L
92% S3PFA_L

2022

4.90%

N/A

3.40%

3.15%

2.90%
1-Apr-21

96% S3IPMA_L
92%S3PFA_L

S2PMA_L and S2PFA_L refer to two of the graduated base tables of mortality rates derived from Self Administrated Pension Schemes (SAPS) data
that relates to years 2004-11 (the S2 tables), split by male and female pensioners (excluding dependants), and by amounts.

Discount rate

All future expected benefit payments at each measurement date are discounted at spot rates froma A As corporate bond
yield curve. Spot rates beyond 30 years are setto equalthe 30-yearspot rate. The discount rate is the equivalent single
rate that produces the same discounted value as that determined using the entire discount curve. This valuation
methodology does not rely on assumptions regarding re-investment retumns.

Assumptions adopted can have a significant effect on the obligations for defined benefit pension and other post-
employment benefit plans. The increase/ (decrease) in obligation in the followingtable has been determined assuming all
otherassumptions are held constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, as changes in some ofthe assumptions may be

correlated.

The following table presents the sensitivity analysis of key assumptions:

Discount rate
Impact of 50bps increase in discount rate
Impact of 50bps decrease in discount rate

Inflation
Impact of 50bps increase in inflation
Impact of 50bps decrease in inflation

Rate of salary increase
Impact of 50bps increase in rate of salary increase

Impact of 50bps decrease in rate of salary increase

Mortality rate
Impact of an increase in life expectancy by one additional year

(Decrease)/

(Decrease) /

Increase in Increase in
obligation obligation
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
(5,200) (6,500)
6,100 6,900
3,000 4,400
(2,900) (4,000)
N/A N/A
N/A N/A
2,000 2,400
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21. Income tax

2023 2022
Current tax: £000 £°000
UK corporation taxat 22.52% (2022: 19%) 9,739 7,754
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 2,578 (2,583)
Overseas taxation 31 285
Adjustments for prior years overseas taxation 1 4
12,287 5,460
Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences ' ' 3,863 745
Effectsof changes in tax rates 296 1,809
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (5,453) 775
(1,294) 3,329
Tax charge for the year 10,993 8,789
Taxes in Comprehensive income and changesin equity
Deferred tax on net unrealised gains on FVOCI debt securities 97 (311)
Deferred tax on net unrealised gains on FVOCI equities 7,922 (1,714)
Deferred tax on changes in valuation of post employment benefit assets (1,237) (2,194)
Total tax charge ' 17,775 4,570
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit in the profit and loss account as follows:
Reconciliation to statutory tax rate 2023 2022
£°000 £°000
Profit before tax on continuing operations 96,856 89,667
Tax at the UK corporation taxrate 0£22.52% (2022: 19%) 21,237 17,037
Effectsof:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,185 835
Income exempt from taxation 2,771) (6,994)
Deductible financingcosts (6,784) (3,353)
Corporation tax surcharge on banking profits 735 975
Overseas taxation 31) 284
Effect of changes in tax rate 296 1,809
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (2,874) (1,804)
Income tax 10,993 8,789

The corporationtaxsurcharge of 8% came into effect from 1 January 2016 and applies to UK banking entities profits exceeding
£25 million. Effective from 1 April 2023 the surcharge is reduced to 3% and applies to UK banking entities profits exceeding
£100 million. The surcharge affects both current and deferred taxbalances, with deferred taxbalances predominately recognised
at a rate 0£26.4% (2022: 19.6%) to reflect the expected impact ofthe surcharge on future reversals of temporary differences.
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22. Cashand due from banks
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Due from central banks 9,288,977 10,542,044
Due from other banks and financial institutions 58,795 52,186
9,347,772 10,594,230
Included within Cash and due frombanks are £22.5million of mandatory cash ratio deposits placed at Bank of England
(2022: £51.0 million) which are not available for use in the Company’s day-to-day operations.
23. Loans and advances due from relatedparties (incl. reverse repurchase agreements and securities borrowed)
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Loansand advances 7,905,674 8,022,378
Assets purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and securities borrowed 23,063,695 23,177,413
30,969,369 31,199,791
Includingamountsdue from related parties 2023 2022
' £'000 £'000
-RBC London Branch 5,233,715 2,137,212
-RBC Capital Markets LLC 145,363 149,778
-RBC Capital Markets (Europe) GmbH 20,548 10,863
-RBC (Channel Islands) Ltd 4,243 2
-RBC Dominion Securities Inc. 548 35,188
-Other related parties 91 103
5,404,508 2,333,146
24, Allowance for creditlosses

Key inputs and assumptions

The measurement of expected credit losses is a complex calculation that involves a large number of interrelated nputs
and assumptions and the allowance is not sensitiveto any one single factor alone. The key drivers of changes in expected
credit losses include the following:

Changes in the credit quality of the borrower or instrument, primarily reflected in changes in internal risk ratings;
Changes in forward-looking macroeconomic conditions, s pecifically the macroeconomic variables to which the models
are calibrated, which are those most closely correlated with credit losses in the relevant portfolio;

Changes in scenario design and the weights assigned to each scenario; and

Transfers between stages, which can be triggered by changes to any of the above inputs.

To reflect relevant risk factors not captured in ourmodelled results, we applied expert credit judgment in determining the
measurement of our weighted allowance for credit losses.

The measurement of expected credit losses, including s cenario design and weightings, determining significant increases
in credit risk since originationandapplication of expert credit judgment, is overseen by a s enior management committee
that includes representation from Finance, Group Risk Management and Economics.

Internal risk ratings

Internal risk ratings are assigned according to the risk management framework outlined under the heading “Wholesale
creditrisk” below. Changes in internalriskratings are primarily reflected in the probability of default (PD) parameters,
which are estimated based on the Company’s historical loss experience at the relevant risk segment orrisk rating level
adjusted for forward-looking information. ‘
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Wholesale credit risks

The wholesale credit risk rating systemis designedtomeasure thecredit risk inherent in the Company’s wholesale credit
activities.

Each obligor is assigneda borrowerriskrating (BRR), reflecting an assessment of the credit quality ofthe obligor. Each
BRR has a PD calibrated against it. The BRR differentiates the riskiness of obligors and represents the Company’s
evaluation of the obligor’s ability and willingness to meet its contractual obligations on time over a three year time
horizon. The assignment of BRRs is based on the evaluation of the obligor’s business risk and financial risk through
fundamental credit analysis, as well as data-driven modelling. The determination of the PD associated with each BRR
relies primarily on internal default history since 2006. PD estimates are designed to be a long-run average of the
Company’s experience across the economic cycle in accordance with regulatory guidelines.

The Company’s rating system is designed to stratify obligors into 22 grades. The following table aligns the relative
rankings of the Company’s 22-grade internal risk ratings with the external ratings used by S&P and Moody’s.

Internal ratings map

PD Bands
Ratings | Business and Bank Sovereign BRR S&P Moody’s Description
1 0.0000% - 0.0500% {0.0000% - 0.0150%| 1+ AAA Aaa
2 0.0000% - 0.0500% [0.0151% - 0.0250%| 1H AA+ Aal
3 0.0000% - 0.0500% [0.0251% - 0.0350%| 1M AA Aa2
4 0.0000% - 0.0500% [0.0351% - 0.0450%| 1L AA- Aa3
5 0.0000% - 0.0550% [0.0451% - 0.0550%)| 2+H A+ A1l Investment Grade
6 0.0551% - 0.0650% 2+M A A2
7 0.0651% - 0.0750% 2+L A- A3
8 0.0751% - 0.0850% 2H BBB+ Baa1
9 0.0851% - 0.1030% 2M BBB Baa2
10 0.1031% - 0.1775% 2L BBB- Baa3
1" 0.1776% - 0.3470% 2-H BB+ Ba1
12 0.3471% - 0.6460% 2-M BB Ba2
13 0.6461% - 1.0620% 2-L BB- Ba3
14 1.0621% - 1.5520% 3+H B+ B1 )
15 1.5521% - 2.2165% 3+M B B2 .
16 2.2166% - 4.5070% 3+L B- g3 [\or-investment Grade
17 4.5071% - 7.1660% 3H CCC+ Caa1
18 7.1661% - 13.1760% 3M cccC Caa2
19 13.1761% - 24.9670% 3L CCC- Caa3
20 24.9671% - 99.9990% 4 CcC Ca
21 100% 5 D C Impaired
22 100% 6 D C

Scenario design and weightings

The Company’s estimation of allowance for credit losses in Stage 1 and Stage 2 considers five distinct future
macroeconomic scenarios. Scenarios are designed to capture a wide range of possible outcomes and are weighted
according to our expectation of the relative likelihood of the range of outcomes that each scenario represents at the
reporting date. The Company weights each scenario to take into account historical frequency, current trends, and forward-
looking conditions which will change over time. Scenario weightings takeinto consideration the extent to which the base
case scenario includes both favorable and unfavorable economic expectations, and upside and downside risks to the base
scenario materializing in the future. The base case scenario is based on forecasts ofthe expected rate, value oryield for
each of the macroeconomic variables identified. The upside and downside scenarios are set by adjusting our base
projections to construct reasonably possible scenarios and weightings that are more optimistic and pessimisti,
respectively, than thebase case. Two additional downside scenarios capture the non-linear nature of potential credit bosses
across our portfolios. :

The impact of each of our five scenarios varies across the Company’s portfolios given the portfolios have different
sensitivities to movements in each macroeconomic variable. The Company’s scenario weights are unchanged relative to
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October 31, 2022 to reflect continued uncertainty and downside risks that may drive recession outcomes that are more
severe than contemplated in our base scenario.

Forward looking macroeconomic variables

The PD, LGD and EAD inputs used to estimate Stage 1 and Stage 2 credit loss allowances are modelled based on the
macroeconomic variables (or changes in macroeconomic variables) that are most closely correlated with credit losses n
the relevantportfolio. Each macroeconomic scenario used in the Company’s allowance for credit loss calculation includes
a projection of allrelevant macroeconomic variables used in the Company’s models fora five yearhorizon, reverting to
long-run averages generally within the 2 to 5 year period. These include one or more of the variables described below,
which differ by portfolio and region.

The Company’s base scenario reflects an expectation that Furo area and U.K. economic growth has stalled as higher
‘interest rates continue to slow growth. Labour markets remain strong, but the unemploymentrate has begunto rise in the
UK. and is expected to begin to move higher in the Euro Area alongside slow GDP growth. Inflation has begunto sbw
and is expected to remain on a gradual downward trajectory as economic growth soﬁens Wedo not expect additional
interest rate from either the BOE or the ECB.

Downside scenarios, including two additional and more severe downside scenarios designed for the energy and real estate
sectors, reflect the possibility of a more severe macroeconomic shock beginning in calendar Q1 2024 relative our base
case. Conditions are expectedto deteriorate fromcalendar Q4 2023 levels for up to 18 months, followed by arecovery
for the remainder of the period. These scenarios assume monetary policy responses that return the economy to a long-
run, sustainable growth rate within the forecast period. The possibility of a stronger recession and a more prolonged
recovery as compared to our basescenario, including further monetary policy responses to elevated inflation rates which
may increase credit risk, is reflected in our general downside scenario. The upside scenario reflects slightly stronger
economic growth than the base scenario, without prompting a further offsetting monetary policy response as compared
to our base scenario, followed by a return to a long-run sustainable growth rate within the forecast period.

‘The primary variables driving credit losses include, but are not limited to, European and U.K. unemployment rates,
European housing price index, European and U.K. commercial real estate price indices, European and UK. 10Y
Government Bond Yield, European 10Y BBB corporate bond credit spread, and European Gross Domestic Product
(GDP), however, the specific variables differ by sector. Depending on their usage in themodels, macroeconomic variables
are projected at a region level. The following provides additional detail about our forecasts for key macroeconomic
variables used in the models to estimate ACL on performing loans, commitments and acceptances.

European Unemployment — In the Company’s base forecast, calendar Q4 2023 European unemploymentrate is expected
torise to 6.8%, peaking by Q42024 at 8.2% and reverting to the longrun equilibriumtowards the latter end of the forecast
horizon.

European Unemployment Rate (1)
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U.K. Unemployment — In the Company’s base forecast, calendar Q42023 U.K. unemployment rate is expectedto rise
to 4.6%, peaking by Q12024 at4.8% and reverting to the long run equilibriumtowards the latter end ofthe forecast
horizon.
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European (GDP)— In the Company’s base forecast, we expect European GDP to remain flat in the first halfofcalendar
2024 followed by continuous growth . European GDP in calendar Q42024 is expected to be 0.4% above Q42023

levels.

European Real GDP (1)
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Increases in the following macroeconomic variables will generally correlate with higher expected credit losses:
European and U.K. unemployment rates, European and U.K. 10Y Government Bond Yield, and European 10Y BBB

corporatebond credit spread.

Increases in the following macroeconomic variables will generally correlate with lower expected credit losses:

European housing price index, European and U.K. commercial real estate price indices, and European GDP.

Trans fers between Stage 1 and Stage 2 are based onthe assessmentofsignificant increases in credit risk relative to
initial recognition, as described in Note 3. The impact ofmoving from 12 months expected credit losses to lifetime
expected credit losses, or vice versa, varies by productand is dependenton theexpectedremaining life at the date ofthe
transfer. Stagetransfers may result in significant fluctuations in expected credit losses.

The following table shows reconciliations fromthe opening to the closing balances ofthe allowance for credit losses.

Balanceas Balanceas

atl Exchange at31

November  Provision for Net rate and October

£'000 2022 creditlosses write-offs other 2023
Securities - debt investments 9 (8) - - 1
Loans and advances to customers 4,097 4,415 - (153) 8,359
Other assets . 58 (48) - 1) 9
Loan commitments and financial guarantees issued 171 2 - 1 174
Total allowance for credit losses 4,335 4,361 - (153) 8,543
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Balanceas Balanceas

at1l Exchange at31

November Provision for Net rate and October

£'000 2021 creditlosses write-offs other 2022

Securities - debt investments 7 2 - - 9
Loansand advances to customers 8,150 (3,981) - (72) 4,097
Other assets 59 (6) - 5 58
Loan commitments and financial guarantees issued 62 107 - 2 171
Total allowance for credit losses 8,278 (3,878) - (65) 4,335

The following tables reconcile the opening and closing allowance for each major product ofloans and commitments as
determined by our modelled, scenario-weighted allowance and the application of expert credit judgment as applicable.
Reconciling items include the following:

Modelchanges, which generally comprise the impact of significant changes to the quantitative models used to estimate
expected credit losses and any staging impacts that may arise.

Trans fers between stages, which are presumed to occur before any corresponding remeasurements of the allowance.
Originations, which reflect the allowance related to assets newly recognised during the year, including those as sets that
were derecognised following a modification of terms.

Maturities, which reflectthe allowance related to assets derecognised during the year withouta credit loss being incurred,
including those assets that were derecognised following a modification of terms.

Changes in risk, parameters and exposures, which comprise the impact of changes in model inputs or assumptions,
including changes in forward-looking macroeconomic conditions; partial repayments and additional draws on existing
facilities ; changes in themeasurement following a transfer between stages; and unwinding ofthe time value discount due

to the passage of time in Stage 1 and Stage 2.

Allowance for credit losses

Performing Impaired
£'000 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Balance at-1 November 2022 3,410 686 1 4,097
Provision for credit losses -
Transfersin/ (out) to Stage 1 47 @7 - -
Transfersin/ (out) to Stage 2 (8) 8 - -
Transfers in / (out) to Stage 3 - - - -
Purchases and originations 2,901 28 - 2,929
Derecognitions and maturities (1,947) (773) - (2,720)
Remeasurements 188 552 3,466 4,206
Write-offs - - - -
Recoveries - - - -
Exchange rate and other (165) 12 - (153)
Balanceat31 October2023 4,426 466 - 3,467 8,359
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Performing Impaired
£'000 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Balance at 1 November 2021 3,959 1,520 2,671 8,150
Provision for credit losses -
Transfersin/ (out) to Stage 1 628 (628) - -
Transfersin / (out) to Stage 2 (244) 244 - -
Transfers in/ (out) to Stage 3 - - - -
Purchases and originations 2,576 135 - 2,711
Derecognitions and maturities (2,354) (773) (2,656) (5,783)
Remeasurements (1,092) 184 - (908)
Write-offs - - - -
Recoveries - - - -
Exchange rate and other (63) 4 (14) (73)
Balanceat31 October 2022 3,410 686 - 1 4,097

The following table further explains changes in the gross carrying amount of Loans and advances measured at amortised cost
subject to impairment requirements of IFRS 9.

Performing Impaired

£'000 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount as at 1 November 2022 7,623,302 15,858 - 7,639,160
Transfers

Transfersin/ (out) to Stage 1 . - - - -

Transfersin/ (out) to Stage 2 - - - -

Transfersin/ (out) to Stage 3 (41,650) (2,570) 44,220 -
New financial assets originated or purchased 2,973,613 768 - 2,974,381
Financial assets derecognised during the period other than
write-offs (3,018,239)  (12,263) - (3,030,502).
Write-offs - - - -
Exchange rate and other 34,100 9 42 34,151
Balanceat31 October2023 7,571,126 1,802 44,262 7,617,190
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Performing Impaired
£'000 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross carryingamount as at 1 November 2021 6,320,002 28,989 14,669 6,363,660
Transfers .
Transfersin/ (out) to Stage 1 21,695 (21,695) - -
Transfersin / (out) to Stage 2 (13,114) 13,114 - -
Transfersin/ (out) to Stage 3 - - - -
New financial assets originated or purchased 3,422,463 2,621 - 3,425,084
Financial assets derecognised during the periodother than
write-offs (2,252,175)  (7,275) (14,592)  (2,274,042)
Write-offs - - - -
Exchange rate and other 124,431 104 an 124,458
7,623,302 15,858 - 7,639,160

Balanceat31 October2022

The table below provides further analysis on credit quality of Loans and advances, Loan commitments and Financial guarantees
issued, subject to IFRS 9 impairment requirements. Risk ratings are based on internal ratings used in the measurement of
expected credit losses as at thereporting date, as outlined in the internalratings maps for Wholesale and Retail facilities above.

As at31 October2023 Performing Impaircd
£'000 Stage 1 Stage 2 . Stage 3 Total
Loans and advances to customers
Investment grade 2,979,530 - - 2,979,530
Non-investment grade 4,591,595 1,802 44,263 4,637,660
Total 7,571,125 1,802 44,263 7,617,190
Loan commitments and financial guarantees issued
Investment grade 2,340,159 - - 2,340,159
Non-investment grade 647,751 - - 647,751
Total 2,987,910 - - 2,987,910
As at31 October2022 Performing Impaired
£'000 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Loans and advances to customers
Investment grade 2,363,846 - - 2,363,846
Non-investment grade 5,259,457 15,857 5,275,314
Total 7,623,303 15,857 - 7,639,160
Loan commitments and financial guarantees issued .
Investment grade 2,057,782 - - 2,057,782
Non-investment grade 1,005,490 - - 1,005,490
Total 3,063,272 - - 3,063,272
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25. Securities

Trading securities - Debt:

Government securities and other public bodies

Bank and building society certificates and other securities
Other issues

Trading securities - Equity:
Equity shares
Total

Amounts above include:
Subordinated securities

Providedas security in respect of sale and repurchase agreements and other similar

agreements

Investments- Debt securitiesmeasured at FYO CI
Government securities and other public bodies
Bank and building society certificates and other securities

Investments - Equity securities measuredat FVYO CI
Equity shares

Total

88

2023 2022
£'000 £000
1,438,899 789,960
762,476 956,792
1,517,657 1,230,138
3,719,032 2,976,890
1,050,442 952,935
4,769,474 3,929,825
100,217 78,730
1,558,796 699,589
2023 2022
£'000 £000
124,435 542,077
- 17,340
124,435 559,417
79,275 65,985
203,710 625,402
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26. Otherassets

2023 2022

Notes £'000 £'000
Settlement accounts 26(a) 6,161,296 3,783,715
Prepayments, accrued income and other 1,292,687 1,460,139

7,453,983 5,243,854

2023 2022

Includingamountsdue from related parties £'000 £'000
-RBC London Branch 204,497 19,866
-RBC Dominion Securities Inc 202,075 358,673
-RBC Capital Markets (Europe) GmbH 7,108 20,239
-RBC Capital Markets LLC . 2,996 9,287
-RBC Ontario Branch (10,448) 513
-Other related parties 6,709 8,955

412,937 417,533

(a) Settlement accounts

Settlement accounts representamounts payable and receivable in respect of transactions not due until a future settlement
date, which arise because ofthe policy to report investments onatrade date basis. Alltransactions are accounted for on
a trade date basis.

27. Deposits due to related parties (incl. repurchase agreements andsecurities loaned)

2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Deposits by banks 6,811,297 8,540,162
Deposits by customers 11,557,114 11,060,215
Obligations related to assets sold under repurchase agreements and securities
loaned 21,267,109 22,634,814
39,635,520 42,235,191
Includingamountsdue to related parties 2023 2022
£'000 £'000
RBC London Branch 10,880,787 9,158,468
RBC Dominion Securities Inc 8,418,535 12,457,407
RBC (Barbados) Funding Ltd 8,409,597 8,434,049
Other related parties 2,100,953 1,149,420
RBC Holdings (Lux) Sarl. 1,185,176 1,145,553
RBC (Channel Islands) Ltd - ‘ 290,716 777,305
RBC Investor Services Bank SA - - 30,000
31,285,764 33,152,202
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28. Obligations relatedto securities soldshort

Debt securities
-Government and other public sector securities
-Other debt securities

Equity Shares

29, Other liabilities

Note
Settlement accounts 26(a)
Accruals and deferred income ’
Deferred tax 29 (a)
Provision 24

Other

Includingamountsdue to related parties
-RBC Capital Markets LLC

-RBC Dominion Securities Inc

-RBC London Branch

-RBC Ontario Branch

-RBC (Barbados) Funding Ltd

-RBC Capital Markets (Europe) GmbH
-Other related parties
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2023 2022
£'000 £'000
2,681,708 1,171,668
1,096,795 1,215,797
8,670 8,229
3,787,173 2,395,694
) 2023 2022
£'000 £'000
7,047,047 4,645,804
223,776 208,962
8,468 2,980
174 171
317,515 393,360
7,596,980 5,251,277
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
338,450 525,871
297,618 508,317
249,041 150,487
91,182 121,261
34,172 43,626
31,355 43,549
9,589 15,767
1,051,407 1,408,878
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(@ Deferred tax

Change
Asatl through Change
November  Profitor through Asat31 October

2022 Loss 0CI 2023
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Netdeferred tax asset/(liability)
Excess of depreciation over capital allowances 294 49 - 343
Deferred compensation 12,847 2,258 - 15,105
FVOCI securities (12,642) - (8,019) (20,661)
Pension (3,626) (991) 1,237 (3,380)
Allowance for credit losses 147 (22) - 125
(2,980) 1,294 (6,782) (8,468)
Change

Asat 1 through
November Profit or Change  Asat 31 October

2021 Loss through OCI 2022
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Net deferred tax asset/(liability)
Excess of depreciation over capital allowances 400 (106) - 294
Deferred compensation 16,313 (3,466) - 12,847
FVOCI securities (14,667) - 2,025 (12,642)
Pension (6,091) 271 2,194 (3,626)
Allowance for credit losses 175 (28) - 147
(3,870) (3,329) 4,219 (2,980)

As at31 October2023, the Company has £nil (2022: £0.5 million) of tax losses available for offset against future profis
of the Royal Bank of Canada InvestmentManagement (UK) Limited business. Deferred taxwas not recognised in
relation to these losses.

In the Finance Act in 2021 there was an increaseto the main rate of corporationtaxto 25% effective from 1 April2023.
In the Finance Act in 2022 there was a decreaseto the banking surcharge to 3% effective from 1 April2023. Deferred
tax is determined usingtaxrates and laws that havebeensubstantively enacted by thereporting dateand are expected to
apply when therelated deferredtaxassetis realised, orthe deferred tax liability is settled. Deferred taxis recognised in
the Statement of Profit and Loss exceptto the extentit relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is
recognisedin the Statement of Changes in Equity.
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30. Subordinated liabilities

2023 2022
£°000 £°000
US$100 million Eurobond repayable May 2031 (SOFR + 171 bps) 82,447 86,947
82,447 86,947
Includingamountsdue to related parties
RBC (Barbados) Funding Ltd 82,447 86,947
31.  Equity
Commonshares 2023 2022
£000 £7000
Allotted *
24,776,290 (2022:24,776,290) Ordinary shares of £1 each, 84p called and paid 20,812 20,812
477,184,294(2022:477,184,294) Ordinary sharesof £1 each, fully paid 477,184 477,184
Total Authorised 497,996 497,996
Other Equity 2023 2022
£000 £000
US$400 million Subordinated Perpetual Contingent Conversion Additional Tier 1 Capital 299,694 299,694
Securities (2020: US$400 million)
299,694 299,694

32. Contingentliabilities
(@) Guarantees

The Company utilises guarantees and other off-balance sheetcredit instruments to meet the financing needs of'its clients.

The table below summarises the maximum exposure to credit losses related to the guarantees and other commitments
providedto third parties. The maximum exposure to credit risk relating to a guarantee is the maximum risk ofloss ifthere
was a total default by the guaranteed parties, without consideration of possible recoveries under recourse proviions,
insurance policies or from collateral held or pledged.

2023 2022
£°000 £7000
- Oneto three months 17,179 19,737
- Three to twelve months 71,797 58,113
- Oneto five years 3,215 491
Total 92,191 78,341
Included above is a guarantee issued to a related party, RBC Verwaltungsgesellschaft AG for £1.4 million (2022: £1.4

million).
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33.

34.

Legal proceedings

The Company may be party to legal proceedings and regulatory matters and enquiries in a number of jurisdictions
(including the UK) arising out of its normal business operations. The recognition of provisions is determined mn
accordance with theaccounting policies setoutin Note 3. While the outcome of legal proceedings and regulatory matters
is inherently uncertain, the Company believes that, based on the information available to it, appropriate provisions have
been made in respectofthese matters as at 31 October 2023. The nature of legal proceedings or regulatory enquiries may
be such that a number of issues have to be resolved to conclude the facts from which the amount of any loss or an
appropriate range of loss can be reliably estimated. In many proceedings and investigations, however, it is inherently
difficult to determine whether any loss is probable or even possible to estimate the amount of any loss. The Company
may be unable to predict the outcome of such proceedings or investigations based on the information availabk,

particularly where the factualrecord is being developed or contested. Any provisions recognized does not constitute an
admission of wrongdoing or legal liability.

The following is a description of significant legal/ regulatory proceedings:

In November2018, the UK Competition and Markets A uthority (CMA) started an investigation ofthe Company relating
to alleged anti-competitive arrangements in the financial services sector between 2009 and 2013 involving UK
govemment bonds andrelated derivatives. In May 2023, the CMA issued a statement ofobjections to the Company and
certain other financial institutions. The Company is contesting the CMA’s case. The outcome and resulting financial
impact of this matter is unknown and not reliably estimable, but may be material to the Company.

In June 2023, the Company, among other financial institutions, was named as a defendant in a putative class action filkd

in the U.S. by plaintiffs alleging anti-competitive conduct in the U.K. government bonds market. In September2023, the
defendants filed a motion to dismiss the complaint.

Commitments

Formal standby facilities, credit lines and other commitments to lend 2023 2022
£°000 £000

- Less than one year ‘ 514,641 ' 388,454

- One to five years 2,214,215 2,567,463

- Greater than five years 259,054 107,355

2,987,910 3,063,272

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative instruments are categorised as either financial ornon-financial derivatives. Financial derivatives are financil
contracts whose value is derived froman underlying interestrate, foreign exchange rate, credit risk, and equity orequity
index Non-financialderivatives are contracts whose value is derived froma precious metal, commodity instrumentor

index Notional amount of derivatives represents the contract amount used as a reference point to calculate payments.
Notional amounts are generally not exchanged by counterparties, and do not reflect the exposure at default.

Financial derivatives

Forwards and futures

Forward contracts are effectively tailor-made agreements that are transacted between counterparties in the over-the-
counter (OTC) market, whereas futures are standardised contracts with respectto amounts and settlement dates, and are
traded on regulated futures exchanges. Examples of forwards and futures are described below:

Interest rate forwards (forward rate agreements) and futures are contractual obligations to buy or sell an interest-rate
sensitive financial instrument on a predetermined future date at a specified price.

Foreign exchange forwards and futures are contractual obligations to exchange one currency for another at a specified
price for settlement at a predetermined future date.
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Equity forwards and futures are contractual obligations to buy orsellata fixed value (the contracted price) ofan equity
index, a basket of stocks or a single stock at a predetermined future date. _

Swaps

Swaps are OTC contracts in which two counterparties exchange a series of cash flows based on agreed upon rates to a
notional amount. The various swap agreements that the Company enters into are as follows:

Interestrate swaps are agreements where two counterparties exchange a series of payments based on different interest
rates applied to anotionalamount in a single currency. Cross currency swaps involvethe exchange of fixed payments in

one currency for the receipt of fixed payments in another currency. Cross currency interest rate swaps involve the
exchange of both interest and principal amounts in two different currencies.

Equity swaps are contracts in which one counterparty agrees to pay orreceive fromthe other cash flows based on changes
in the value of an equity index, a basket of stocks or a single stock.

Commoditv swaps are contracts wherebv a floating (or market or spot) pricebased onanunderlying commodity is traded
for a fixed price over a specified period.

Options

Options are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser the right, but not the obligation,
either to buy (call option) or sell (put option), a security, exchange rate, interest rate, or other financial instrument or
commodity at a predetermined price, at orby a specified future date. The seller (writer) of an option can also settle the
contract by paying the cash settlement value of the purchaser’s right. The seller (writer) receives a premium from the

purchaser for this right. The various option agreements thatthe Company enters into include interestrate options, foreign
currency options, equity options and index options.

Credit derivatives

Credit derivatives are OTC contracts that transfer credit risk related to an underlying financial ins trument (reference asset)
from one counterparty to another. Examples of credit derivatives include credit default swaps, credit default baskets and

total return swaps.

Credit default swaps provide protection againstthe decline in value ofthe referenced asset as aresult of specified credit

events suchas default or bankruptcy. It is similar in structure to an option whereby the purchaser pays a premium to the
seller of the credit default swap in return for payment contingent on a credit event affecting the referenced asset.

Credit default baskets are similar to credit default swaps except that the underlying referenced financialinstrument s a
group of assets instead of a single asset.

Total return swaps are contracts where one counterparty agrees to pay or receive fromthe other cash flows based on
changes in the value of the referenced asset.

Non-financial derivatives

The Company also transacts in non-financial derivative products including precious metal and commodity derivative
contracts in both the OTC and exchange markets.

Derivatives issued for trading purposes

Most of the Company’s derivative transactions relate to sales and trading activities. Sales activities include the structuring
and marketing of derivative products to clients to enable themto transfer, modify or reduce current or expected risks.
Trading involves market-making, positioning and arbitrage activities. Market-making involves quoting bid and offer
prices to other market participants with the intention of generating revenue based on spread and volume. Positioning

involves managing market risk positions with the expectation of profiting from favourable movements in prices, rates or
indices. Arbitrage activities involve identifying and profiting from price differentials between markets and products.

Derivatives issued for other-than-trading purposes

The Company also uses derivatives for purposes other than trading, primarily for hedging, in conjunction with the
management of interestrate, credit, equity and foreign exchange risk related to funding, lending, investment activities and
asset/liability management.
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Interestrate swaps are used tomanagethe Company’s exposureto interestrate risk by modify ing the repricing or maturity
characteristics of existing and/ or anticipated assets and liabilities, including funding and investment activities. Interest
rate options are used to hedge redeemable deposits and other options embedded in consumer products. The Conpany
manages its exposure to foreign currency risk with cross currency swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts. The
Company predominantly uses credit derivatives to manage credit exposures. The Company mitigates industry sector
concentrations andsingle-name exposures related toits credit portfolio by purchasing credit derivatives to transfer credit
risk to third parties.

Certain derivatives and cash instruments are specifically designated and qualify for hedge accounting. The Conpany
applies hedge accounting to minimise volatility in earnings and capital caused by changes in interest rates or foreign
exchange rates. Interestrate and currency fluctuations will either causeassets and liabilities to appreciate or depreciate in
market value or cause variability in forecasted cash flows. When a hedgingrelationship is effective, gains, losses, revenue
and expenses of the hedging instrument will offset the gains, losses, revenue and expenses of the hedged item. The
Company assesses and measures the effectiveness ofa hedgingrelationshipbased on the change in the fair value or cash
flows of the derivative hedging instrument relative to the change in the fair value or cash flows ofthe hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk. When cash instruments are designated as hedges of foreign exchange risks, only changes
in theirvalue due to foreignexchange risk are included in the assessment and measurement of hedge effectiveness.

From time to time, the Company also enters into derivativetransactions to economically hedge certain exposures that do

not otherwise qualify for hedge accounting, or where hedge accounting is not considered economically feasiblk to
implement. In such circumstances, changes in fair value are reflected in Net trading income.

The following table presents the fair values ofthe derivative and non-derivative instruments categorised by their hedging
relationships, as well as derivatives that are not designated in hedging relationships. The Company has hedged certain
investment security portfolio with interest rate swaps to reduce profit and loss volatility.

As at 31 October 2023:
Designated as hedging instrumentsin hedging Not designatedin a hedging

relationships: Fair value hedge relationship
£'000 £'000
Liabilities
Derivative instruments .. (1,148,184)
Detailsof derivatives designated in a hedgingrelationship:
O utstanding receive fixed pay floating
Average interest Notional principal
: rate value Fair value
Maturity band £'000 £'000
Less that 1 year 0.00% - -
Greater than 5 years 0.00% - -
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As at 31 October 2022:

Designated as hedging instruments in hedging

relationships: Fair value hedge

Not designated in a hedging
relationship

£000 £'000
Liabilities
Derivative instruments 3,899 (1,640,874)
Details of derivatives designated in ahedging relationship:
PY outstanding receive fixed pay floating
Average interest Notional principal
rate value Fair value
Maturity band £'000 £000
Less that | year 0.21% 28,691 3,899
Between 1 and S years 0.00% - -
28,691 3,899

Results of hedge activities recorded in net income.

For the yearended 31 O ctober2023:

Fairvalue hedges
Gain on hedging instruments

Losses on hedged items attributable to the hedged
risk

Ineffective portion

For the yearended 31 O ctober 2022:
Fairvalue hedges
Losses on hedging instruments

Losses on hedged items attributable to the
hedged risk

Ineffective pbrtion
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Netgain/(losses)included

Netgain/(losses)

in Trading Income includedin O CI
£'000 £'000
(2,070) B
2,205 (482)
135 (482)

Net gain / (losses) included in

Net gain / (losses) included

TradingIncome in OCI
£'000 £000

10,092 -
(10,093) (562)
(1) (562)
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(a) Derivatives held for trading

The table below summarises the notional amount and the end of year fair value for each type of trading derivative.

As at 31 October2023: Notionalamount Year-end positive Year-end negative
fairvalue fairvalue
£000 £000 £000

Interest rate contracts:

- Interest rate swaps 24,177,779 272,209 267,535
- Cross currency swaps 4,083,507 143,213 193,304
28,261,286 415,422 460,839

Foreign exchange contracts 26,232,853 180,834 34,892
Credit derivative contracts 2,037,717 15,430 18,124
Commodity contracts 13,052,973 637,679 632,246
Equity contracts 1,024,206 15,377 10,127
Total derivatives before netting 70,609,035 1,264,742 1,156,228
Effect of netting (8,044) (8,044)
Total net fair value - 1,256,698 1,148,184
As at31 October2022: Notionalamount  Year-end positive Year-end negative
fair value fair value

£000 £°000 £°000

Interest rate contracts:

- Interest rate swaps 29,890,686 316,805 366,560
- Cross currency swaps 7,202,670 262,003 313,083

37,093,356 578,808 679,643
Foreign exchange contracts 35,211,825 387,937 258,295
Credit derivative contracts 721,363 2,789 2,136
Commodity contracts 19,166,700 745,815 694,928
Equity contracts 920,576 7 15,456
Total derivatives before netting 93,113,820 1,715,356 1,650,458
Effect of netting (13,483) (13,483)
Total net fair value 1,701,873 1,636,975

(b) Derivative held for trading with related parties

The Company has following derivative financial instruments with related parties prior to netting.

Related party derivative assets 2023 2022
£'000 £000

RBC London Branch 606,358 764,303
Other related parties : 42,314 113,059
Total 648,672 877,362
Related party derivative liabilities 2023 2022
£'000 £'000

RBC London Branch 420,758 573,193
Other related parties 89,672 22,121
510,430 595,314
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(¢) Maturity analysis of derivatives

The table below summarises the contractual maturity ofthe notionalamount ofboth trading and non-trading OTC

derivatives.
As at31 October2023: Lessthan oneyear Onetofiveyears Greaterthan five Total
years
£°000 £000 £°000 £000
Interest rate contracts 21,435,113 5,240,824 1,585,349 28,261,286
Foreign exchange contracts 26,232,819 34 - 26,232,853
Credit derivatives contracts 26,124 517,927 1,493,666 2,037,717
Commodity contracts 3,865,708 2,820,202 6,367,063 13,052,973
Equity contracts 1,024,206 - - 1,024,206
Total 52,583,970 8,578,987 9,446,078 70,609,035
As at 31 October 2022: Less than one year One to fiveyears  Greater than five Total
years
£°000 £°000 £°000 £000
Interest rate contracts 28,140,501 7,248,528 1,704,327 37,093,356
Foreign exchange contracts 33,389,525 1,822,300.00 - 35,211,825
Credit derivatives contracts - 525,571 195,792 721,363
. Commodity contracts 4,037,753 11,977,823 3,151,124 19,166,700
Equity contracts 920,576 - - 920,576
Total 66,488,355 21,574,222 5,051,243 93,113,820

The table below summarises thematurity ofboth tradingand non-trading OTC derivatives with positive fair value.

As at31 October2023: Less than oneyear One tofiveyears Greaterthan five Total
years

£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest rate contracts 94,139 191,330 129,953 415,422
Foreign exchange contracts 180,834 - - 180,834
Credit derivatives 101 9,740 5,589 15,430
Commodity contracts 129,193 304,290 204,196 637,679
Equity contracts 15,377 - - 15,377
419,644 505,360 339,738 1,264,742

Effect of netting (8,044)
Total 1,256,698
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As at 31 October 2022: ~ Less than one year One to five years Greater than five Total
years

£°000 £°000 £°000 £000

Interest rate contracts 196,066 233,725 149,017 578,808
Foreign exchange contracts 387,937 - - 387,937
Credit derivatives - 1,632 1,157 2,789
Commodity contracts 679,849 33,170 32,796 745,815
Equity contracts 7 - - 7
1,263,859 268,527 182,970 1,715,356

Effect of netting (13,483)
Total 1,701,873

The table below summaris es the maturity ofboth trading and non-trading OTC derivatives with a negative fair value.

As at31 October2023: Less than oneyear One tofiveyears Greaterthan five Total
years

£°000 £000 £°000 £000

Interest rate contracts 158,430 172,909 129,500 460,839

Foreign exchange contracts 34,892 . - - 34,892

Credit derivatives 67 11,335 6,722 18,124

Commodity contracts 130,771 304,115 197,360 632,246

Equity contracts 10,127 - - 10,127

Reserves - - - -

334,287 488,359 333,582 1,156,228

Effect of netting (8,044)

Total 1,148,184

As at 31 October 2022: Less than one year One to five years Greater than five Total
years

£000 £°000 £°000 £000

Interest rate contracts 266,312 272,910 140,421 679,643

Foreign exchange contracts 249,559 8,736 - 258,295

Credit derivatives - 2,081 55 2,136

Commodity contracts 638,500 32,868 23,560 694,928

Equity contracts 15,456 - - 15,456

Reserves - - - -

1,169,827 316,595 164,036 1,650,458

Effect of netting (13,483)

Total 1,636,975
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3s.

36.

37.

Parent company

RBC Europe Limited’s ultimate parent Company and controlling party is Royal Bank of Canada, incorporated in Canada,
which is also the parent undertaking ofthe largestand smallest group which includes the Company and for which group
accounts are prepared. The parent Company’s registered and domiciled address is Royal Bank Plaza, 200 Bay Street,
Toronto, Ontario, Canada. Copies of the group financial statements of Royal Bank of Canada are available at
https://www.rbc.com/investor-relations/_assets-custom/pdf/ar 2023 e.pdf.

Related parties

Related party balances have been disclosed in individual notes where applicable. Key management personnel
compensation is included within Note 17.

Financial instruments referencing benchmark interest rates subject to reform

The following tables show the Bank’s significantexposures to financial instruments referencing benchmark interest rates
subject to the Reform that have yet to transition to ABRs. These include financial instruments currently referencing
synthetic GBP LIBOR, USD LIBOR maturing after June 30,2023 and CDOR maturing after June28,2024. In the normal
course of business, derivative notional amounts may fluctuate with minimal impact to our IBOR conversion plans.

As at31 October2023
Non-Derivative Non-Derivative Derivative Notional
Financial Assets (1) FinancialLiabilities (3)

@)
£7000 £000 £000
CDOR (3) 1,850 - -
Total 1,850 - -

As at31 October2022
Non-Derivative Non-Derivative Derivative Notional
Financial Assets (1) FinancialLiabilities (3)

()
£000 £000 £000
CDOR (3) 1,828 5,710,755 -
Total 1,828 5,710,755 : -

(1) Non-derivative assets represent the drawn outstanding balance of Loans and Customers’ liability under acceptances
and the fair value of Securities.

(2) Non-derivative liabilities represent Subordinated debentures, Deposits and Acceptances.

(3) Includes our exposure to financial instruments referencing interest rates substantially similar to CDOR.
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The following table presents the undrawn balances ofloan commitments referencing benchmark interest rates subjectto
the Reform.

2023 2022

£'000 £000

Authorised and committed undrawn commitments
CDOR (1),(2)
Total

(1) Includes our exposure to financial instruments referencing interest rates substantially similar to CDOR.

(2) Undrawn commitments exclude amountsrelated to drawn outstanding balances, which in certain cases may exclude
extension options.

As part of the interest rate benchmark reform, the publication ofall remaining USD LIBOR settings ceased on June 30,
2023 and consistent with our transition plan, our exposure to non-derivative financial assets, non-derivative financal
liabilities, derivative notional and undrawn balances of loan commitments referencing USD LIBOR interest rates & no
longer material to our financial statements (October 31, 2022 - £0.1 billion, £8.7 billion and £0.5 billion, respectively).
We continue tomanage significant exposures to benchmarks that have no announced plans for cessation or further reform,

including the EURO Interbank Offered Rate (EURIBOR) and Australian Bank Bill Swap Rate (BBSW), which are
excluded from the tables above.
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The Company is required to comply with the provisions of Statutory Instrument 2013 No. 3118 Capital Requirements (Country-

by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. These regulations have been transposed into U.K. law to impose certain reporting
obligations on institutions within the U.K. within the scope of the E.U. Capital Requirements Directive (CRD).

The Company's country-by-country disclosures have been prepared on the basis ofthe geographical location ofthe business unit
booking the transaction. Income and expenses between business units in thesame jurisdiction have been eliminated; transactions
between business units in different geographical locations have not been eliminated. Dividend payments and other remittances
of profits between business units are excluded.

With effect from 1st January 2021, the Company is no longer operating its European Branches, and the Branches are unlicensed.
All activities carried out by the Company’s European Branches transferred to RBC Capital Markets (Europe) GmbH (‘RBC
EG’) effective 1st January 2021.

The table below illustrates the Company’s operating income, profit, taxpaid and the average number of employees by country:

As at31 October2023:

Country Description of activity Total operating  Profit/(loss) Tax Number of
income/(losses) before tax paid/(received) Employees
£000 £000 £°000 Average FIE
UnitedKingdom Financial services 498,417 96,856 3,829 643
498,417 96,856 3,829 643
As at31 October2022:
Country Description of activity Total operating  Profit/(loss) Tax Numberof -
income/(losses) before tax paid/(received) Employees
£000 £°000 £°000 Average FTE
UnitedKingdom Financial services 466,107 89,667 25,864 609
Germany Financial services - - (92) -
Switzerland Representative offices - - “4) -
466,107 89,667 25,768 609
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Report on the audit of the country-by-country information

Opinion

In ouropinion, RBC Europe Limited’s country-by-country information forthe yearended 31 October2023 has been propery
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country
Reporting) Regulations 2013.

We have audited the country-by-country information for the yearended 31 October 2023 in the Country-by-Country Report.

Basis for opinion

We conducted ouraudit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”), including ISA (UK) 800
and ISA (UK) 805, and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’
responsibilities forthe audit ofthe country-by-country informationsection of ourreport. We believethatthe audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
country-by-country information in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to public interest entities,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Emphasis of matter - Basis of preparation

In forming our opinion on the country-by-country information, which is not modified, we draw attention to the Country-by-
Country Report which describes the basis of preparation. The country-by-country information is prepared for the directors for
the purpose of complying with the requirements ofthe Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013.
The country-by-country information has thereforebeen prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework and, as a result,
the country-by-country information may not be suitable for another purpose.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Our evaluation ofthe directors’ assessment ofthe company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concemn basis of accounting
included:

e Assessingandchallengingkey assumptions used by directors in their determination of going concem ofthe Company;

e Assessing the liquidity and capital forecasts prepared by management. This included reviewing the results of stress
testing performed by management of both liquidity and regulatory capital, including considering the severity of the
stress scenarios that were used;

e Corroborated legal and regulatory correspondence with audit procedures performed to ensure there are no compliance
issues noted which may impact the going concem of the Company;

e Critically evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures made in the financial statements in relation to going concem.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually orcollectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern fora period of
at least twelve months from the date on which the country-by-country information is authorised for issue.

In auditing the country-by-country information, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concem basis of
accounting in the preparation of the country-by-country information is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities ofthe directors with respectto going concem are described in the relevant sections
of this report.
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Responsibilities for the country-by-country information and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the country-by-country information

The directors are responsible for the preparation ofthe country-by-country information in accordance with the requirements of
the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 as explained in the country-by-country
information, and for determining that the basis of preparation and accounting policies are acceptable in the circumstances. The

directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of country-by-
country information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to-fraud or error.

In preparing the country-by-country information, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidatethe company orto cease operations, orhave no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information

It is ourresponsibility to report on whether the country-by-country information has been properly prepared in accordance with
the relevant requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the country-by-country information as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonablke
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA s (UK) will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of this country-by-country information.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in res pectofirregularities, including fraud. The extent to which
our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company/industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and
regulations related to the rules of the Prudential Regulation Authority ("PRA") and the Financial Conduct A uthority ("FCA"),
and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the country-by-country information. We
also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the country-by- country information such as applicable
tax legislation and the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. We evaluated management’s
incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation ofthe country-by- country information (including the risk of override
ofcontrols) and determined thatthe principal risks were related to the mis-marking of financial instruments, unauthorised trading
activity, posting inappropriate joumal entries and management bias in accounting estimates, including the valuation of the
expected credit loss provision on loans and advances to customers. Audit procedures performed included:

e Enquiries of management, internal audit and those charged with governance, including consideration of known or
suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulation and fraud;

e Reviewing key correspondence with regulatory authorities (such as the PRA andthe FCA), and meeting annually with
the regulators;

e Testingandevaluating management’s entity level controls including board oversight and underlying committee meeting
minutes review, fraud identification, as sessing matters reported onthe Company's whistleblowing helpline and testing
a sample of management's investigations into matters raised, including the results of management’s investigation of
such matters;

e Testing design and operating effectiveness of controls over journal entries including system controls over joumal
creation and approval and Information Technology General Controls testing for the general ledger system.

e Testing key controls over areas susceptible to management bias including valuation controls and those surrounding
impairment of loans and advances;

e Testingofcontrols including cash reconciliations, trade confirmations, cancel and amends, those over collateral breaks
and intersystem reconciliations, model reviews, price validation, independent price verification and approval of
valuation adjustments;

e Identifying and testing journal entries that we assessed as having a higher risk of being fraudulent;
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e Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their accounting estimates, in particular in relation
to the valuation of defined pensions assets and obligations, fair value of financial instruments and expected credit loss
on loans to customers;

e Challenging assumptions and judgements in relation to contingent liabilities for legal proceedings, including making
direct enquiries with external counsel; and

e Incorporating unpredictability into the nature, timing and/or extent of our testing.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances ofnon-
compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the country-by-country
information. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one -
resulting fromerror, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery orintentional misrepresentations, or
through collusion.

A furtherdescription of ourresbonsﬂ)ilities forthe audit ofthe country-by-country information is located on the FRC’s website
at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the company’s directors in accordance with the Capital
Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 and for no other purpose. We donot, in giving this opinion,
accept orassume responsibility for any other purpose orto any other person to whomthis report is shown or into whose hands
it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

The engagement partner responsible for this audit is Lawrence Wilkinson.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

18 December2023
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